#### Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

# Western University Scholarship@Western

**Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository** 

August 2012

# Telomere length dynamics in aging mice

Paul J. Comartin, Western University

Supervisor: Dr. Geoffrey Pickering, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Biochemistry © Paul J. Comartin 2012

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Biochemistry Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Comartin, Paul J., "Telomere length dynamics in aging mice" (2012). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 658. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/658

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## TELOMERE LENGTH DYNAMICS IN AGING MICE

(Spine title: Telomere length dynamics in aging mice)

Thesis format: Integrated Article

by

Paul Comartin

Graduate Program in Biochemistry

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Paul Comartin 2012

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

## CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

<u>Supervisor</u>

**Examiners** 

Dr. J. Geoffrey Pickering

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Murray Huff

Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter

Dr. Dean Betts

Dr. Robert Hegele

Dr. Sean Cregan

Dr.

The thesis by

# Paul Joseph Comartin

entitled:

# Telomere length dynamics in aging mice

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Date

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

## Abstract

Leukocyte telomere length (TL) shortens with age and is associated with age-related pathologies. However, inherited and acquired variation in telomere length in individuals complicates clinical interpretations of TL as a biomarker of aging and age-related pathologies. Therefore, it is critical to identify a post-mitotic tissue as a surrogate marker of TL at birth. In my thesis project, I used quantitative PCR to trace TL dynamics of a variety of tissue types of inbred mice during 1<sup>st</sup> year of life. I found that TL of smooth muscle of aortic media did not shorten with age and represents birth TL. Notably, birth TL effectively offset genetic variation of TL in a genetically diverse mouse population. In addition, I further revealed that impaired collagen turnover in mice, which leads to premature aging symptoms, accelerates TL shortening. In summary, I identified that aortic media provides a powerful internal reference for birth TL with potentials to improve the accuracy of evaluating telomere shortening in individuals.

## Keywords

Telomere length dynamics, T/S ratio, birth telomere length, genetic variation, inbred mice, Diversity Outbred mice, aortic media.

# Acknowledgments

Completion of the work in this thesis would not have been possible without the collaborative efforts of everyone in the Pickering lab and my advisory committee.

First and foremost, a special thank you goes to my supervisor, Dr. Geoffrey Pickering, for his ongoing support and direction. His expertise as a cardiologist and a researcher has proved immensely beneficial in developing my ability to think critically as a researcher while understanding clinical relevance.

I would like to extend a thank you to my advisory committee, Dr. Robert Hegele and Dr. Dean Betts, for their endless support. Their wisdom in the area of vascular research and telomere biology, respectively, has been invaluable to gain in depth perspectives to advance my research.

Finally, I would like to thank all members of the Pickering lab for making the journey of my masters project a valuable experience. In particular, I would like to thank Oula Akawi for getting me on my feet when I first came into the lab. Also, a special thanks to Zengxuan Nong for helping me harvest tissue from all the mice used in this study. Lastly, I would also like to thank our lab technician Caroline O'Neil for her help making sure all reagents and mice are ordered on time and to our post-doctoral scholar Hao Yin for his insight and assistance to design several experiments.

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Table of Contents	V
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Appendices	xi
List of Abbreviations	xii
Chapter 1 - Introduction	1
1.1 General introduction	1
1.2 Telomere structure	1
1.2.1 T-Loop	3
1.2.2 Shelterin	3
1.3 Telomere function	5
1.3.1 Genomic stability	5
1.3.2 End-replication problem	7
1.4 Telomeres and cell senescence	7
1.5 Cellular senescence and aging	9
1.6 Telomere length (TL) regulation	11
1.6.1 Factors that cause telomere shortening	11
1.6.2 Factors involved in telomere length maintenance	15
1.7 Telomere length measurement	21
1.7.1 TRF analysis	21
1.7.2 qFISH	23

# Table of Contents

	1.7.3	Flow-FISH	23
	1.7.4	STELA	24
	1.7.5	qPCR	25
1.8	Telom	ere dynamics in the aging population	26
	1.8.1	Telomere length with age	26
	1.8.2	Telomere length and chronic illness	29
	1.8.3	Telomere length (TL) variation in the population	32
	1.8.4	Goals of this study	38
1.9	Refere	nces	39
Chapte	er 2 - Ao	ortic media defines telomere length dynamics in mice	63
2.1	Abstra	ct	63
2.2	Introdu	uction	64
2.3	Materi	als and methods	67
	2.3.1	Animals and tissue	67
	2.3.2	Tissue preparation	67
	2.3.3	DNA isolation and quantitation	68
	2.3.4	Telomere length measurement by qPCR	68
	2.3.5	Statistical analysis	70
2.4	Result	s	70
	2.4.1	Optimization of qPCR telomere length measurement for mice	70
	2.4.2	Telomere length changes with age are strain specific	72
	2.4.3	Age-related changes of telomere lengths in C57BL/6 mice differ among tissues.	74
	2.4.4	Aortic media telomeres are stable in early life development	74
	2.4.5	Telo-mapping identifies age-dependent, spatial telomere length gradients in the aortic wall	; 77

	2.4.6	Telomere length along the length of aortic media reveals shorter telomeres in the infra-renal aorta
	2.4.7	Aortic media referencing reveals age-dependent telomere attrition in spleen and aortic intima of Diversity Outbred mice
	2.4.8	Telomere length shortening is induced by impaired collagen turnover84
2.5	Discus	ssion
	2.5.1	Strain-specific differences in telomere length dynamics
	2.5.2	Tissue-specific differences in telomere length dynamics of C57BL/6 mice87
	2.5.3	Aortic media has stable telomeres during early life development91
	2.5.4	Telo-mapping reveals telomere length heterogeneity in the aorta92
	2.5.5	Diversity Outbred mice as a murine model for telomere biology93
	2.5.6	Correcting for telomere length heterogeneity in Diversity Outbred mice.94
	2.5.7	Impaired collagen turnover accelerates telomere attrition
2.6	Refere	ences
Chapte	er 3 - Go	eneral Discussion
3.1	Limita	tions and immediate next steps
3.2	Future	implications
	3.2.1	Model for estimating birth telomere length105
	3.2.2	Diversity Outbred mouse model to study genetic diversity and telomere length dynamics
3.3	Refere	ences
Appen	dices	

# List of Tables

Table 1.1 - Telomere length variation across vertebrate species	1
Table 1.2 - Differences between mouse and human telomere length dynamics	. 26
Table 1.3 - Short leukocyte telomere length and associated cardiovascular disorders	. 29
Table 4.1 – Sample calculation of T/S ratio 1	13

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 - Telomeres are located at the ends of linear DNA
Figure 1.2 - Secondary structure of telomeres
Figure 1.3 - Anaphase breakage fusion bridge cycles
Figure 1.4 - Antagonistic pleiotropy of senescent cells in young and old individuals 10
Figure 1.5 - Factors affecting telomere length dynamics in vertebrate cells 12
Figure 1.6 - Elongation of telomeres by telomerase 16
Figure 1.7 - Mechanisms of alternative lengthening of telomeres
Figure 1.8 - Detection of extra-telomeric DNA with different methods of telomere length measurement
Figure 2.1 - Reliability of T/S ratio measurements using different DNA quantities
Figure 2.2 - Inbred mouse strain differences in spleen telomere lengths
Figure 2.3 - Telomere length dynamics with age in different tissues of C57BL/6 mice 75
Figure 2.4 - Telomere length changes in early life of C57BL/6 aorta and heart
Figure 2.5 - Telomere lengths of different layers in the aorta of C57BL/6 mice
Figure 2.6 - Telomere length in different regions of the aortic media in C57BL/6 mice 79
Figure 2.7 - Spleen telomere length referenced to aortic media telomere length as a function of age in DO mice
Figure 2.8 - Intima telomere lengths normalized to aortic media telomere lengths with age. 83
Figure 2.9 - Telomere length in different tissues of aged collagenase-resistant mice
Figure 3.1 - Estimating birth telomere length107

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: Statement of permission for the use of animals for experimental research .....110 Appendix B: Sample calculation of qPCR telomere length measurement (T/S ratio).......111

# List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning	
53BP1	P53 binding protein 1	
ABP	ALT-associated PML body	
ALT	Alternative lengthening of telomeres	
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated	
ATR	Ataxia telangiectasia and rad3 related	
BIR	Break induced replication	
BMI	Body mass index	
CAD	Coronary artery disease	
C-FOS	FBJ murine osteosarcoma viral oncogene homolog	
CHK2	Checkpoint kinase 2	
CV	Coefficient of variation	
CVD	Cardiovascular disease	
DKC1	dyskerin gene	
DDR	DNA damage response	
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
E2F	Transcription factor family including E2F- and DP-	
	like subunits	
ECM	Extracellular matrix	
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization	
GWAS	Genome wide association studies	
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell	
Kb	kilobases	
LFS	Li-Fraumani syndrome	
LTL	Leukocyte telomere length	
MDC1	Mediator of DNA-damage checkpoint 1	
MOV10	Moloney leukemia virus 10	
NHEJ	Non-homologous end-joining	

OBCF1	oligonucleotide/oligosaccharide-binding fold	
	containing 1	
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline	
PCNA	Proliferation cell nuclear antigen	
PD	population doubling	
PML	Promyelocytic leukaemia body	
PNA	peptide nucleic acid	
POT1	Protection of telomeres 1	
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction	
Rap1	Repressor/activator protein 1	
RCR	Rolling circle replication	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
SD	Standard deviation	
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism	
STELA	Single Telomere Length Analysis	
TERC	Telomerase RNA component	
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase	
TIF	Telomere induced foci	
TIN2	TRF1-interacting protein 2	
TL	Telomere length	
TPP1	POT1-TIN2 organizing protein	
T-SCE	Telomere sister chromatid exchange	
TRF	Telomere restriction fragment	
TRF1	Telomeric repeat binding factor 1	
TRF2	Telomeric repeat binding factor 2	
WRN	Werner syndrome protein	

# Chapter 1 - Introduction

## 1.1 General introduction

The idea of modifying the course of aging and age-related diseases is a concept that humans naturally desire to explore with great potential for clinical application. Telomeres represent a potentially modifiable biomarker of aging that has been linked to age-related diseases (Oeseburg et al., 2010). Tremendous research efforts, with over 13000 hits on PubMed, growing continuously each day, are made to uncover the link between telomeres with aging and various age-related diseases. Telomeres protect chromosomes, but undergo attrition as DNA replicates or is insulted by environmental stresses (Oeseburg et al., 2010). In particular, shortening of telomere length (TL) in leukocytes is a well-established event in human aging (Aviv, 2012). However, an etiological link between telomeres and aging is yet to be fully elucidated. Understanding the dynamics of telomeres with normal aging in model organisms (e.g. mice) can help to uncover the role telomeres play at the organismal level with age.

## 1.2 Telomere structure

Telomeres are DNA-protein complexes containing repetitive units of DNA that reside at the end of each chromosome arm in eukaryotes (Figure 1.1) (Oeseburg et al., 2010). The DNA sequence of telomeres is highly conserved among vertebrates and consists of several kilobases of TTAGGG repeats (Meyne et al., 1989), ending in a 100-200 bp 3' overhang (Makarov et al., 1997). However, TL is highly variable across different species (Table 1.1).

Vertebrate species	<b>Telomere length</b>	Reference
Human	5-15kb	(Moyzis et al., 1988)
Dogs	12-23kb	(Nasir et al., 2001)
Birds	5-20kb	(Haussmann et al., 2003)
Rats	20-100kb	(Cherif et al., 2003)
Mice	Up to 150kb	(Hemann and Greider, 2000)

Table 1.1 - Telomere length variation across vertebrate species



Figure 1.1 - Telomeres are located at the ends of linear DNA

Telomeres are located at the ends of linear chromosomal DNA consisting of repetitive units of TTAGGG in vertebrates.

#### 1.2.1 T-Loop

The 3' overhang of telomere forms the secondary structure, which varies between taxa. In vertebrates it forms a T-loop structure and internal D-loop (Figure 1.2) by looping around to invade upstream telomeric DNA (de Lange, 2005). The 3'overhang is maintained during each round of DNA replication by a nuclease called Apollo (Wu et al., 2010). T-loop size is proportional to TL (Rahman et al., 2008). In fact, mice T-loop size is 18 kb long, whereas in humans it is only 3 kb (Griffith et al., 1999), reflective of their differing TLs (20-80 kb versus 10-15 kb, respectively) (Kipling and Cooke, 1990; Zijlmans et al., 1997).

#### 1.2.2 Shelterin

Telomeres are further stabilized by a protein complex called shelterin (de Lange, 2005). Shelterin is composed of six proteins (Figure 1.2) – telomeric repeat binding factor 1 and 2 (TRF1 and TRF2), protection of telomeres 1 (POT1), repressor/activator protein 1 (Rap1), POT1-TIN2 organizing protein (TPP1, also referred to as TINT1, PIP1, and PTOP), and TRF1-interacting protein 2 (TIN2). Three of these proteins (TRF1, TRF2, and POT1) bind directly to telomeric repeats. TRF1 and TRF2 bind to double-stranded repeats via their SANT/Myb domains with high specificity and affinity and each have a flexible hinge that enables the formation of the T-loop (de Lange, 2005; Diotti and Loayza, 2011). POT1 binds directly to the single-stranded 3'overhang via its OB folds, which is important in the formation of the D-loop (Baumann and Cech, 2001; de Lange, 2005; Lei et al., 2004; Palm and de Lange, 2008). Unlike human cells that have only one POT1 gene, mice have two variants that are highly homologous (POT1a and POT1b) but have distinct roles at telomeres (He et al., 2006; Hockemeyer et al., 2006). The other three proteins (Rap1, TPP1, and TIN2) are recruited by TRF1 and TRF2 to assist in stabilizing telomeres (de Lange, 2005). TIN2 acts as the bridge between different shelterin components by binding TRF1 and TRF2 in separate domains and recruiting the TPP1-POT1 complex (Chen et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2004; Ye et al., 2004). Furthermore, a novel isoform of TIN2 (TIN2L) tethers telomeres to the nuclear matrix (Kaminker et al., 2009), which may play a role in chromosome stability.



Figure 1.2 - Secondary structure of telomeres.

Protein components of shelterin complex are involved in the formation and stability of Tloop and internal D-loop secondary structures of telomeres. Image modified from (Oeseburg et al., 2010). TPP1 binds TIN2 and POT1 in separate domains and is thought to be central in recruiting POT1 to telomeres (Chen et al., 2007; Kibe et al., 2010). Lastly, Rap1 is recruited by TRF2 and forms a tightly associated complex that is essential for Rap1's binding to telomeres (Celli and de Lange, 2005; Li and de Lange, 2003; Li et al., 2000). Overall the shelterin complex is involved in telomere stability and telomere length regulation (de Lange, 2005).

### 1.3 Telomere function

Telomeres are considered as a telomeric cap because of the important functions it serves for linear DNA. Over the years scientists have uncovered that telomeres play a fundamental role in the stability and mobility of the genome and prevent erosion of coding DNA.

#### 1.3.1 Genomic stability

The chromosome ends were first proposed to be important for chromosome stability by the combined work of Barbara MClintock and Hermann Muller on their work with maize and fruit flies, respectively (McClintock, 1939; Muller, 1938). Muller coined the term telomere from the greek words *telos* (end) and *meros* (part). Both scientists observed that without telomeres, chromosomes would fuse together and break off during mitosis (Figure 1.3), which was catastrophic to cellular physiology.

Telomere dysfunction either by critically shortened telomeres or missing shelterin components can activate the DNA damage response (DDR) and signal up-regulation of cell cycle checkpoints such as p53 (Bodnar et al., 1998; Karlseder et al., 1999; Lee et al., 1998). In some cells, cell cycle checkpoints can be by passed, propagating breakage fusion bridge cycles and genomic rearrangements with risk of neoplastic transformation (Figure 1.3). Thus cells require telomeres as a way to protect natural ends from being recognized as double strand breaks, in order to suppress the DNA repair machinery and maintain genomic stability (Chan and Blackburn, 2004).



Figure 1.3 - Anaphase breakage fusion bridge cycles

Without telomeres (yellow circles) at the ends of chromosomes, a fusion event can take place between bare ends. During anaphase when chromosomes are pulled to opposite poles of the cell, DNA will break between bridged chromosomes. Anaphase breakage-fusion-bridge cycles cause genomic shuffling (amplifications and deletion events) and instability that can lead to further complications of cancer. Image modified from (Else, 2009).

Furthermore, during meiosis telomeres form bouquet structures that are integral to the coordination of the spindle apparatus to ensure proper alignment and segregation of genetic material (Maddar et al., 2001; Tomita and Cooper, 2007).

#### 1.3.2 End-replication problem

One of the most important functions of telomeres was discovered by Olovnikov and Watson who noticed that linear chromosomes cannot replicate their very ends, termed the "end-replication problem" (Olovnikov, 1973; Watson, 1972). The end-replication problem leads to inevitable loss of telomeres at every cell division. DNA polymerase can only replicate in the 5' to 3' direction and requires a short RNA primer for initiation (Shore and Bianchi, 2009). Because DNA is double stranded, one strand will be synthesized in short "okazaki" fragments. However, at the 5' end of the lagging strand, there will be a gap due to removal of the last RNA primer (Shore and Bianchi, 2009). Currently, it is not known whether or not the last RNA primer is placed at the very end of telomeres or is variable (Sfeir et al., 2005b). Telomere ends undergo further processing following DNA replication to ensure there is a 3' overhang with a precise end sequence (Sfeir et al., 2005a). Interestingly, the length of this overhang is highly variable between different cell types and is closely associated with telomere length (Lee et al., 2008).

Initially, cells were thought to lose telomeres at a constant rate, keeping track of the number of cell divisions like a "mitotic clock" (Von Zglinicki, 2003). However, there is considerable heterogeneity in the rate of telomere shortening (Martin-Ruiz et al., 2004) and in the number of divisions a cell can undergo (Hayflick, 2003; Smith and Hayflick, 1974). Notably, the end-replication problem directly limits the number of possible cell divisions (Olovnikov, 1973), later known as replicative senescence.

### 1.4 Telomeres and cell senescence

There are several ways in which cells senesce but one of the main mechanisms is telomere shortening and dysfunction, specifically referred to as replicative senescence or mortality 1 (M1) senescence (Harley et al., 1990). During each round of cell division, telomeres shorten by ~50-200 bp due to oxidative stress and the end replication problem – where DNA polymerase cannot replicate the very ends of the lagging strand

(Blackburn, 2005; Vaziri et al., 1994). In cells, this shortening eventually causes telomeres to reach a critical length ("Hayflick limit") that signals a DNA-damage response (DDR), which involves protein kinases (ATM and CHK2), adaptor proteins (53BP1 and MDC1) and chromatin modifiers ( $\gamma$ -H2AX) (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007). Telomere dysfunction induced foci (TIF), defined as cells with more than 50% of 53BP1 foci colocalised with telomere repeats, are often used to identify telomere-dependent senescent cells (Jeyapalan et al., 2007). Telomere-dependent activation of DDR further leads to the activation of p53 via its phosphorylation and upregulation of its downstream target p21 (Blackburn, 2005; Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007; Hornsby, 2002). Expression of p21 maintains pRB in a hypophosphorylated active state, which inactivates the transcriptional factor E2F. E2F is responsible for inducing the expression of genes that encode proteins responsible for cellcycle progression (i.e. replication-dependent histones, c-FOS, cyclin A and B, and proliferation cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)). Therefore, repressing E2F activity causes cells to enter a state of permanent cell cycle arrest (senescence) (Blackburn, 2005; Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007; Hornsby, 2002). If any of these cell cycle checkpoints are by-passed (most commonly p53), perhaps due to mutations, the cell will continue to divide and telomeres will continue to shorten until a crisis phase (M2 phase) is reached. In M2 phase, telomeres are virtually non-existent and chromosome fusion events occur due to activation of the non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) pathway, which can result in genomic shuffling as shown in Figure 1.3 (Shay and Wright, 2005).

One of the key factors in triggering senescence or apoptosis in aging cells is shortened telomeres that can no longer form a closed t-loop. In fact, inhibition of TRF2 from shelterin *in vitro* causes the activation of DDR and senescence (Celli and de Lange, 2005; Takai et al., 2003). In a similar way, human cells transfected with short telomere oligonucleotides that mimic the effect of an open t-loop also trigger a p53 dependent cell cycle arrest (Saretzki et al., 1999).

It is noteworthy that cellular senescence can also be induced by telomere-independent mechanisms such as damage induced by reactive oxygen species (ROS), which follows an alternate senescence pathway through the upregulation of p16 and pRB (Finkel and

Holbrook, 2000). Murine fibroblasts in culture will senesce after 15-20 population doublings despite having exceptionally long telomeres (>20 kb) when exposed to atmospheric oxygen concentrations of 20%, which is above biological levels of 3% (Hornsby, 2003; Parrinello et al., 2003). In contrast, human fibroblasts with shorter telomeres (10-15 kb) senesce between 50-60 population doublings, suggesting better protective mechanisms against ROS compared to mouse cells (Hornsby, 2003; Parrinello et al., 2003). To some degree this argues against the relationship between telomere shortening and aging, particularly in mice, however, *in vitro* studies do not fully translate *in vivo* (Varela et al., 2011). Furthermore, the shortest mice telomere is sufficient to set off the cascade of events leading to senescence (Abdallah et al., 2009; Bendix et al., 2010). Finally, it is not known whether the threshold telomere length that induces senescence in humans and in mice is different. Perhaps in mice that have an average T-loop size 6-7 times greater than in humans (Rahman et al., 2008), require longer telomeres to maintain a closed T-loop structure.

## 1.5 Cellular senescence and aging

Cellular senescence describes a cell that has undergone permanent cell cycle arrest and ceased to divide. This phenomenon was first observed in 1961 by Leonard Hayflick, who observed that primary human fibroblasts in culture can only divide a limited number of times (40-60 population doublings (PD)), later referred to as the "Hayflick limit" (Hayflick, 1965; Hayflick and Moorhead, 1961). The exact number of divisions a cell can undergo is dependent on cell type and organism (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007). For instance, stem cells and cancer cells can divide indefinitely in culture, whereas human somatic cells cannot (Itahana et al., 2004). However, murine somatic cells senesce between 15 and 20 PDs and can immortalize spontaneously in culture (Itahana et al., 2004). A senescent cell is characterized by a flattened morphology in 2D culture, altered gene expression, and secretion of various matrix-degrading enzymes (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007).

Cellular senescence is considered both beneficial to young organisms and harmful to old ones, a term referred to as antagonistic pleiotropy (Figure 1.4) (Jeyapalan et al., 2007).



#### Figure 1.4 - Antagonistic pleiotropy of senescent cells in young and old individuals

Young tissue is predominantly composed of normal, healthy, fully-functional cells. Whenever stress on a cell is too great or telomeres are too short, the cell undergoes apoptosis or senescence to avoid tumorigenesis. However, as we age, old tissue is burdened by an accumulation of senescent cells, compromising tissue function. What was protective at a young age against tumors is destructive to old organisms leading to age-related pathologies. Image modified from (Chuaire-Noack et al., 2010). In young organisms cellular senescence is said to have evolved as a tumor suppressor by giving highly proliferative cells a limited capacity to divide. In older organisms, senescent cells tend to accumulate in organs, leading to age-related phenotypes (Jeyapalan et al., 2007).

Evidence begins to accumulate that supports the link between cellular senescence and organismal aging. First, the number of senescent cells increases with age and appears to be rare in young individuals (Dimri et al., 1995; Jeyapalan et al., 2007). Furthermore, sites of age-related pathologies such as atherosclerosis and osteoporosis contain increased number of senescent cells (Chang and Harley, 1995; Price et al., 2002; Vasile et al., 2001). Moreover, the altered secretory profile (upregulation of matrix degrading enzymes, growth factors, and pro-inflammatory cytokines) of senescent cells has detrimental impacts on neighboring cells and structural components of tissue that lead to aged and diseased pathologies (Burton, 2009). Taken together, evidence suggests burden of senescent cells is connected to organismal senescence. Since telomere length is considered an endogenous marker of cellular senescence, its length is also a putative marker of biological aging.

# 1.6 Telomere length (TL) regulation

TL equilibrium is established by the net result of telomere shortening and lengthening events. The frequency of each of these events varies depending on the cell type and organism involved (Shay and Wright, 2007). Several of the key factors that influence telomere length dynamics in a cell are outlined in Figure 1.5.

#### 1.6.1 Factors that cause telomere shortening

There are several factors that cause telomere shortening in a cell as listed in Figure 1.5. The two most common causes are due to the end-replication problem, discussed in section 1.3.2, and oxidative damage to DNA.



#### Figure 1.5 - Factors affecting telomere length dynamics in vertebrate cells

During DNA replication telomeres are in an open structure to allow DNA polymerase to extend the entire length of the chromosome. However, various factors contribute to telomere shortening that are propagated during replication such as the end-replication problem, oxidative DNA damage, replication errors, and telomere trimming. As cells divide and telomeres reach a critical length, they can no longer form a closed t-loop structure which signals cell cycle checkpoints such as ATM, ATR and p53, causing cells to enter a state of senescence or apoptosis. Telomere lengthening mechanisms, such as telomerase and alternative lengthening of telomeres can extend the replicative capacity of cells by lengthening their telomeres. Image modified from (Aubert and Lansdorp, 2008).

#### 1.6.1.1 Oxidative DNA damage

While the end-replication problem sets the baseline of telomere shortening, oxidative stress is the best recognized modifier. The minimal rate of telomere shortening observed in culture is 10-20 bp per cell division in fibroblasts with high antioxidant capacity (Serra et al., 2003; von Zglinicki, 2002) or those treated with an agent that reduces oxidative stress in cells (Passos et al., 2007). This lower rate of attrition is likely that set by the end-replication problem, which differs significantly from the average rate of telomere attrition in human cells (50-200 bp). This difference is primarily due to oxidative stress (von Zglinicki et al., 2000).

The major source of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in cells comes from mitochondria, as a metabolic by-product. Burden of ROS in a cell induces various types of DNA damage (oxidized bases, single and double strand breaks), which accumulates over time (Fraga et al., 1990; Packer and Fuehr, 1977). Telomere shortening is largely accelerated by accumulation of oxidative DNA damage; in particular, by single strand breaks (von Zglinicki et al., 2000; von Zglinicki and Schewe, 1995). Those damages that are not repaired or replaced before the next round of DNA replication will be lost due to stalling of the replication fork. Therefore, telomere loss due to oxidative damage is dependent on DNA replication (von Zglinicki, 2002).

Cells engage antioxidant defenses to protect against the harmful effects of oxidative stress by neutralizing free radicals (von Zglinicki, 2002). The strength of these defenses varies between cell types and species. Some strains of human fibroblasts have higher antioxidant levels than others, reflective in lower telomere attrition rates (von Zglinicki, 2002). As mentioned in section 1.4, mouse cells are more prone to oxidative damage than human cells (Hornsby, 2003). Replicative lifespan can be extended and telomere shortening reduced by increasing the expression of antioxidant enzymes (Furumoto et al., 1998; Serra et al., 2003). In contrast, cell lifespan can be decreased by increasing oxidative stress or inhibition of antioxidant defenses (Kurz et al., 2004; Passos et al., 2007). The degree of damage at a given level of oxidative stress is highly variable simply due to chance, which may explain differential rates of telomere shortening observed between populations of cell clones *in vitro* and between individuals *in vivo* (Von Zglinicki, 2003).

Telomeres are particularly sensitive to oxidative damage compared to other parts of the genome due to the presence of guanine triplet base pairs (GGG), which are major targets of ROS (Kruk et al., 1995; Oikawa et al., 2001; Petersen et al., 1998). In fact, human telomeres showed 7 times more DNA breaks than control sequences when inserted into a plasmid (Henle et al., 1999). Moreover, repair of damage at telomeres is significantly less efficient than the rest of the genome, even compared to guanine-rich interstitial sequences (Petersen et al., 1998). Therefore, telomeres contain a greater degree of oxidative damage upon initiation of DNA replication than the bulk of the genome, contributing significantly to their attrition (von Zglinicki et al., 1995). In fact, the frequency of single-stranded breaks is directly proportional to the amount of telomere loss at replication (Sitte et al., 1998). One theory for this increased damage at telomeres is an evolutionary role as sentinels to detect levels of DNA damage procured by the cell and shut it down before they become dangerously high (von Zglinicki et al., 2000).

#### 1.6.1.2 Other factors that contribute to telomere shortening

Telomere shortening can be caused by DNA replication errors caused by mutations or malfunction of various proteins such as RecQ protein-like helicases (WRN and BML) and RTEL (Crabbe et al., 2004; Machwe et al., 2011; Sidorova, 2008; Uringa et al., 2011). These helicases function in the resolution of higher order telomeric structures (G-quadruplexes and t-loop) to allow for efficient replication of telomeres and prevent stalling of the replication fork (Machwe et al., 2011; Postberg et al., 2012).

A recently discovered and less understood mechanism of telomere shortening is called telomere trimming, which involves resolution of t-loops from telomeres by recombination. This mechanism has been observed in human and mouse cells and is believed to set an upper limit on telomere length and contribute to a length equilibrium set-point (Pickett and Reddel, 2012).

#### 1.6.2 Factors involved in telomere length maintenance

The progressive attrition of telomeres caused by the end-replication problem and oxidative damage posed a problem for certain cell types, especially in the germ line. If telomeres continue to shorten across generations, species with linear chromosomes (eukaryotes) would soon become extinct. Cells had to develop ways to overcome this problem by mechanisms of telomere lengthening. The most common method, discovered by Nobel Prize laureates Dr. Elizabeth Blackburn and Dr. Carole Greider, is by the activity of a reverse transcriptase called telomerase (Greider and Blackburn, 1985, 1987). A second, less common method, alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT), was discovered in telomerase negative cancer cells (Bryan and Reddel, 1997; Reddel et al., 1997).

### 1.6.2.1 Telomerase

Telomerase exists to circumvent the end-replication problem by catalyzing the addition of telomeric repeats *de novo* to the ends of DNA (Blackburn, 2005). Telomerase is a ribonucleoprotein composed of a core reverse transcriptase (TERT) and an RNA component (TERC), which acts as a template for addition of telomeric repeats to the 3' end of telomeres (Figure 1.6) (Blackburn, 2005).

Proper folding and stability of TERC is orchestrated by the nucleolar enzyme dyskerin (DKC1 gene) (Gu et al., 2009). Both components of telomerase are expressed at low levels, giving rise to clinical problems by haploinsufficiency in either TERT or TERC (Du et al., 2007; Mason and Bessler, 2004), or mutations in DKC1 (Mason et al., 2005). Expression and activity of telomerase are highly regulated at various levels, which include transcription, splicing, post-translational modifications, assembly, and subcellular localization (Gladych et al., 2011; Wojtyla et al., 2011).



**Figure 1.6 - Elongation of telomeres by telomerase** 

Telomerase adds repeats six nucleotides at a time in three distinct steps that involve substrate recognition and binding, elongation, and translocation or dissociation from telomere ends. Image modified from (Nicholls et al., 2011)

Many proteins function in concert to orchestrate recruitment of telomerase, telomere length itself being a signal. In fact, telomerase preferentially elongates the shortest telomeres (Britt-Compton et al., 2009), which seems to be a function of shelterin proteins (Wojtyla et al., 2011). Longer telomeres contain more shelterin proteins, which represses access of telomerase to telomere ends. However, the rate of telomere elongation by telomerase can be increased by inhibition of various shelterin components, such as POT1 or TRF1 (Wojtyla et al., 2011). The dynamics of telomerase repression and recruitment are intricate and change in different conditions. In fact, the interplay between POT1 and TPP1 acts both as a repressor of telomerase in one condition and a processivity factor in another (Wang et al., 2007). Furthermore, a novel protein (MOV10 helicase) was discovered that binds to both TERT and telomeric DNA. MOV10 is expressed exclusively in human testis and ovaries, and is thought to maintain telomerase activity in those tissues (Nakano et al., 2009).

Telomerase expression is ubiquitous in the developing embryo (Wright et al., 1996). However, during somatic differentiation telomerase is down-regulated, which is considered to have evolved as an anti-tumorigenesis mechanism (Forsyth et al., 2002). In this way, somatic cells do not retain capacity to divide indefinitely. Conversely, stem cells and germ cells maintain a degree of telomerase activity, which is highest in testes (Blackburn, 2005). This is vital so that telomere loss is not passed on to offsprings (Schaetzlein et al., 2004). Nonetheless, even somatic stem cells show telomere shortening with age with increased demand to replenish aging cells in tissue (Allsopp et al., 2001; Vaziri et al., 1994).

Telomerase expression in somatic cells also varies between species. Mice continue to express telomerase to some degree in somatic tissues (Prowse and Greider, 1995), whereas humans do not (Kim et al., 1994). Furthermore, recent evidence suggests that decreased somatic telomerase expression correlates with increased body size of a species (Gomes et al., 2011), proposing an evolutionary mechanism to offset the increased risk of cancer due to increased body mass (Gorbunova and Seluanov, 2009; Seluanov et al., 2007).

Ultimately, telomerase expression is highly associated with risk of cancer as expressed in over 85% of human cancers (Kim et al., 1994). Therefore, there is a trade-off between replicative capacity and risk of cancer in the regulation of telomerase activity, which varies between species and cell types.

### 1.6.2.2 Alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT)

Alternative lengthening of telomeres involves a recombination based mechanism that is used in 15% of cancer cells lacking telomerase (Bryan and Reddel, 1997). However, anti-telomerase treatment of cancer can provoke the use of ALT (Hu et al., 2012). Two characteristic features used to detect ALT cells are the formation of ALT-associated promyelocytic leukaemia (PML) body (ABP) and long and heterogeneous telomeres (Nabetani and Ishikawa, 2011).

PML body is a nuclear aggregate of PML and other proteins, which is present in many cell types and functions in various cellular processes (stress response, tumour formation, DNA repair, etc.). However, APB's are special as they include telomere DNA and chromatin, which can be readily observed (Yeager et al., 1999). The molecular mechanism of PML and how APB's are related to the ALT pathway is currently unknown. However, many proteins involved in metabolism, cell growth regulation, and particularly homologous recombination localize at APB. RecQ-like DNA helicase BLM is an APB protein that is required for growth of ALT cells (Bhattacharyya et al., 2009), whereas WRN appears dispensable (Laud et al., 2005). The MRN complex and shelterin components are also important for the formation of APB and maintenance of telomeres by the ALT pathway (Nabetani and Ishikawa, 2011).

The long and heterogeneous nature of telomeres in ALT cells represents the critical difference between ALT- and telomerase-dependent telomere lengthening. First, mean telomere length of ALT cells is ~20 kb compared to <10 kb in telomerase-positive cells (Bryan et al., 1995). Second, analysis of metaphase spreads by qFISH (discussed in section 1.7.2) revealed large variations in telomere signal between chromosome arms in

ALT cells in comparison to telomerase-positive cells (Perrem et al., 2001). Studies using tagged telomeres support a recombination based mechanism based on observations of telomere duplication from one chromosome to the next, as well as drastic elongation and deletion events (Dunham et al., 2000; Murnane et al., 1994). Moreover, high levels of telomere-sister-chromatid exchange (T-SCE) was observed in ALT cells but not telomerase-positive cells (Bailey et al., 2004; Bechter et al., 2004; Londono-Vallejo et al., 2004).

ALT cells also contain extrachromosomal telomere repeat (ECTR) in the form of telomeric circles (t-circles), determined by 2D gel electrophoresis (Cesare and Griffith, 2004; Wang et al., 2004). However, t-circles can also be observed in cells with defects in TRF2 or cells containing extensively long telomeres, such as *Mus musculus* mice (Pickett et al., 2009). T-circles are formed by resolution of the t-loop structure by intra-chromosomal recombination events, termed telomere trimming (section 1.6.1.2). Several mechanisms of recombination are proposed to be used by the ALT pathway (Figure 1.7).

Unlike break induced replication (BIR) and rolling-circle replication (RCR), integration of t-circles into chromosome ends do not cause an increase in total cellular telomeric repeats (Nabetani and Ishikawa, 2011). RCR is probably the most efficient recombination method of lengthening telomeric ends and can cause drastic telomere lengthening. BIR and RCR are not exclusive of each other and are likely governed by the same molecular mechanisms (Nabetani and Ishikawa, 2011).

Currently, little evidence suggests that non-neoplastic cells use the ALT pathway to maintain their telomeres. However, one study provides evidence that ALT may occur in endothelial, stromal and some epithelial cells upon acquisition of sufficient DNA damage (Slatter et al., 2012). Nonetheless, telomerase is the dominant mechanism when it comes to maintenance of telomeres in all cell types.



Break-induced replication

#### Figure 1.7 - Mechanisms of alternative lengthening of telomeres

Recombination in ALT cells may occur by intra-chromosomal recombination causing drastic telomere shortening as seen by the formation of T-circles. Lengthening by recombination can occur by three possible mechanisms: (A) invasion of chromosome ends to induce break-induced replication, (B) integration of a T-circle into a chromosome end, and (C) rolling-circle replication initiated by the 3'overhang invading proximal T-circles. Image modified from (Nabetani and Ishikawa, 2011)

## 1.7 Telomere length measurement

Several methods of measuring telomere lengths have been developed over the years, each with their individual caveats (Aubert et al., 2012; Lin and Yan, 2005). The main two groups of measurements are those that measure average telomere length (TRF and qPCR) and those that measure telomere lengths of individual chromosomes (Q-FISH, Flow-FISH, and STELA). All methods use binding of nucleic acid probes or primers specific to telomeric repeats. Discrepancies between telomere length measurements of the various methods arise from variability in the amount of extra-telomeric region (Figure 1.8) included in some techniques and less in others (Aubert et al., 2012). The two most popular methods in the literature are telomere restriction fragment (TRF) analysis and quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR).

#### 1.7.1 TRF analysis

TRF analysis by southern blotting was the first method to be described (Harley et al., 1990) and represents the gold standard used to validate all other techniques to date (Aubert et al., 2012; Kimura et al., 2010b; Lin and Yan, 2005). This technique uses a pair of frequent cutting restriction enzymes (i.e. *Hinf1* and *Rsa1*) to cut DNA into small fragments, specifically excluding telomeric repeats as substrates. Frequent cutting restriction enzymes are used to minimize the size and variation of extra-telomeric region (Figure 1.8). The fragmented DNA is then separated by agarose gel electrophoresis, transferred to a nitrocellulose or nylon gel and hybridized with a radioactive (<sup>32</sup>P) or chemiluminescent (digoxienin) labeled probe complementary to telomere sequences. Average telomere length of the resulting smear is estimated based on a DNA ladder and normalization to a reference sample to correct for inter-experimental gel effect. The length and intensity of the smear needs to be accounted for in the calculation of average telomere length. Although this is a well established technique, variations between studies have procured over time because the technique was not standardized in terms of restriction enzymes used, DNA quantity and quality, and blot analysis. There are several main pitfalls to this method. First, a relatively large amount of pure and unfragmented DNA (0.5-10  $\mu$ g) is required and small differences in telomere lengths are difficult to detect, which limits its use to broad research questions.



Figure 1.8 - Detection of extra-telomeric DNA with different methods of telomere length measurement

In Figure 1.8 modified from (Aubert et al., 2012), extra-chromosomal region is described as the proportion of DNA that is not considered pure telomere repeats (blue bars). In gold is the subtelomere region that contains restriction enzyme sites (dashed lines) used to digest DNA in TRF analysis. In red are the variant repeats that contain telomere-like sequences. The green box for STELA is the primer used in the subtelomeric portion that is later subtracted from the calculation of telomere repeats. The light blue boxes are regions that have variable detection.
Furthermore, TRF analysis is time consuming (5-7 days), making it less ideal for large clinical studies, although skilled technicians can process up to 130 samples per week (Kimura et al., 2010b). Lastly, large variations in telomere length (up to 5%) can be seen depending on the choice of restriction enzymes used and because of subtelomeric polymorphisms. However, despite limitations of this technique, the errors of this method are relatively small (CV=1.74%) (Aviv et al., 2011).

### 1.7.2 qFISH

Telomere length can also be measured by quantitative fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (qFISH), which combines use of image cytometry and metaphase spreads through use of peptide nucleic acid (PNA) probes (Aubert et al., 2012; Martens et al., 1998; Poon and Lansdorp, 2001). These probes have a greater affinity than DNA oligonucleotides and bind specifically to denatured telomere repeats. The fluorescent signal is acquired using specific qFISH analysis software and telomere lengths are measured relative to standards of known length. Karyotyping of metaphase spreads allows telomere lengths to be matched with its corresponding chromosome arm. It's the method of choice to determine telomere length of specific chromosome ends. The analysis requires 15-20 metaphases per sample to obtain reliable results due to the high variation in the technique. Some advantages are that qFISH can detect chromosome fusion events and ends with virtually no repeats (<0.5 kb). This technique is a good choice to study telomere biology in rare cell types and can be used to ask more specific scientific questions because it requires so few cells. However, some disadvantages are that qFISH cannot be used to measure telomeres in cells that cannot divide such as senescent cells and highly aberrant cells. Furthermore, the technique is labor intensive and takes a long time, and requires specialized equipment.

#### 1.7.3 Flow-FISH

Similar to qFISH, flow-FISH also uses PNA probes, however hybridization is done with cells in suspension and median telomere length of individual cells is measured using flow cytometry (Aubert et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2000). This technique can be used to measure telomere lengths of specific cell populations (i.e. granulocytes and lymphocytes)

in a single sample by cell sorting prior to flow-fish or staining for antibodies (limited to a few cell surface markers that are retained after hybridization). A semi-automated adaptation of this technique uses a 96-well plate and robotic microdispenser to reduce tedious work and increase reproducibility. It is currently the method of choice for measuring telomere length in specific subsets of blood cells. Some drawbacks of this technique are that it requires a suspension of living cells, which is very fragile. This technique is generally limited to use of fresh blood. Like qFISH this method requires specialized equipment, is technically challenging and costly (Aubert et al., 2012; Martens et al., 2000).

#### 1.7.4 STELA

One of the newest techniques available is Single Telomere Length Analysis (STELA), which uses PCR to amplify a specific chromosome arm of telomere (Aubert et al., 2012; Baird et al., 2003). STELA takes advantage of the fact that all chromosome arms end in a 3' overhang, which is targeted as a template to anneal an oligonucleotide linker at the 5' end of the telomere. A linker-specific primer and subtelomere specific primer is then used to amplify a precise length of a single telomere tract. PCR amplicons are then separated by gel electrophoresis, southern blotting and probed with specific subtelomere sequences. Resulting banding patterns are intricate sets of discrete bands of individual telomeres, which can be measured individually or pooled based on size according to a DNA ladder of known lengths. One drawback of STELA is its limitation to well characterized chromosome arms (XpYp, 2p, 11q, 12q and 17p) (Britt-Compton et al., 2006) because not all chromosomes have adequate sequences for the design of unique chromosome primers. Therefore, caution must be taken when analyzing results because a subset of telomere measurements may not be reflective of the overall telomere status of cells (Bendix et al., 2010). Although no specialized equipment is required, STELA is technically challenging and requires intensive initial preparation and optimization (Baird et al., 2003). Furthermore, STELA has an upper detection limit of 20kb, which limits its use mostly to human samples, and it cannot be used on model organisms with long telomeres such as *Mus musculus* strains of mice (Kipling and Cooke, 1990). Benefits of STELA are in its precision of telomere length measurement, its ability to detect subtle

changes in telomere length, and minimal starting material required (as few as 50 cells) to produce reliable results (Aubert et al., 2012). Like qFISH, STELA is well fit to study telomere lengths in rare cell populations, and it can also detect short telomere outliers, those responsible for chromosome fusion and senescence.

#### 1.7.5 qPCR

QPCR based telomere length measurement (Cawthon, 2002) has become widely used in large clinical and epidemiological studies because of its rapid design, ease of use, and low cost. This technique relies on specific amplification of telomeric repeats (T) normalized to a single-copy gene (S) to produce an average telomere length (T/S ratio). A sample calculation can be viewed in appendix B. A special set of telomere specific primers were designed that contain mismatches every six base pairs, different in both the forward and reverse primer. These mismatches are important to minimize primer dimer formation and maximize primer-template hybridization. Telomere-specific primers bind along telomeric repeats at each chromosome arm and amplify in fragments of at least 76 bp and up to ~500 bp long. SYBR green, a dye that fluoresces upon binding to double stranded DNA, is used to monitor the amplification of DNA using Real-Time PCR. The longer the average telomeres are in a given sample, the greater the fluorescent signal.

A setback of qPCR is in the variability between experiments. Proper controls are required to minimize this variability. In every experiment, a set of inter-plate control samples and a standard curve must be produced to offset the variability (Aubert et al., 2012; Aviv et al., 2011). An important quality control of this technique is in the preparation of DNA samples. It is critical that all DNA samples are of equivalent quality so that there are no variations in amplification efficiencies. Another drawback of this technique is that it is not standardized across different laboratories, and therefore results between laboratories cannot be compared. A multiplex version of this technique has recently been developed (Cawthon, 2009) that further reduces variation, which amplifies telomere repeats and single-copy-gene in the same PCR reaction. Although qPCR technique is prone to variation, with proper controls it can produce quick and reliable results at a low cost, which is beneficial for most large-scale experimental designs.

qPCR analysis on the same set of DNA samples revealed a strong correlation between both techniques, although TRF had slightly better inter-assay variation (Aviv et al., 2011).

Choosing the proper technique depends solely on the experimental design and scientific question being asked, as each technique has its advantages and disadvantages.

# 1.8 Telomere dynamics in the aging population

There are key differences between human and mouse telomere biology (Table 1.2). How these differences relate *in vivo* to consequences in telomere length shortening with age and disease are currently not fully understood. However, genetically modified mice have been useful to elucidate the role telomeres play in aging and chronic illness. Key findings that link telomere biology to cardiovascular disease and cancer are further discussed below.

Phenotype	Mice	Humans	Reference
Inter-chromosomal variation in telomere length	<i>Mus musculus (</i> 20-150 kb); CAST/Ei (15-20 kb) <i>Mus spretus (15-</i> 20 kb)	5-15 kb	(Hemann and Greider, 2000; Zijlmans et al., 1997)
T-loop size	~18 kb	~3 kb	(Griffith et al., 1999)
Telomerase activity	Low levels in adult somatic cells	Absent in adult somatic cells	(Prowse and Greider, 1995)
T-circles	High frequency	Low frequency	(Pickett et al., 2011)
Immortalization in culture	Spontaneous	Rare, 1 in 10E <sup>-</sup> 7	(Wright and Shay, 2000)
Telomerase processivity	Non-processive (1-2 repeats)	Processive (long tracts)	(Prowse et al., 1993)

Table 1.2 - Differences between mouse and human telomere length dynamics

## 1.8.1 Telomere length with age

Several studies have documented telomere length shortening with age in various tissue or cell types both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The concept of telomeres as a mitotic clock came from in vitro studies, whereby fibroblasts, lymphocytes and hematopoietic stem cells

(HSCs) lose between 37 and 120 bp per population doubling (Harley et al., 1990; Vaziri et al., 1994; Vaziri et al., 1993). However, unlike human primary fibroblasts, mouse embryonic fibroblasts in culture do not show obvious telomere shortening with age, likely attributed to telomerase activity present in cultured mouse cells (Sachsinger et al., 2001). In telomerase knockout mice (TERT-/- or TERC-/-), telomeres do in fact shorten in culture. Furthermore, by inducing expression of the catalytic subunit of telomerase (TERT) in vitro to human differentiated cells, telomere length is maintained and replicative senescence postponed (Bodnar et al., 1998; Ramirez et al., 2001; Yang et al., 1999). One group studied telomere attrition in 14 different tissues of a large human population ranging from 0 to 104 years of age. They reveal a significant reduction in telomere length with age in all tissues studied except cerebral cortex and myocardium, thought to be due to the quiescent nature of cells in those tissues (Takubo et al., 2002). In mice, telomere length attrition has also been shown in several tissue types with age, including spleen, skin, small intestine and brain (Coviello-McLaughlin and Prowse, 1997; Flores et al., 2008). Telomere loss per year *in vivo* for most tissues appears to be within the range of telomere loss of one cell division in vitro. However, these results are likely skewed by telomere length maintenance and heterogeneity in cell or tissue types (Takubo et al., 2002). Several studies have calculated an average telomere shortening rate in lymphocytes (53 bp/year), granulocytes (39 bp/year) (Hoffmann et al., 2009), and pancreas (36 bp/year) (Ishii et al., 2006).

Telomere length attrition rates vary with age, showing a biphasic pattern in lymphocytes (Frenck et al., 1998; Rufer et al., 1999). Most telomere shortening tends to happen in the first few years of life, gradual shortening during adulthood, and accelerated shortening in old age. From birth to age 4, an average telomere loss of 1kb is seen and thereafter telomeres shorten by 100bp/year (Frenck et al., 1998). In specific subsets of blood cells, Rufer *et al.* determined that 1.08kb of telomere sequence was lost in lymphocytes within the first 1.5years, and 3.05kb loss in granulocytes in the first 0.5year of life (Rufer et al., 1999). There are no gender differences in telomere length at birth in both human leukocytes and mouse tissues (Coviello-McLaughlin and Prowse, 1997; Okuda et al., 2002). However, male telomeres tend to shorten more rapidly than female up until

menopause. A potential mechanism that has been proposed is related to the protective function of estrogen (Moller et al., 2009).

Telomere length dynamics with aging of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) is considered to be one of the most reflective cell models of biologic aging. In fact, the most prominent phenotypic consequence of defects in telomere length maintenance is bone marrow failure as is seen in dyskerotosis congenital, Werner syndrome, and aplastic anemia. Similarly in telomerase knockout mice, once telomeres are sufficiently short in late generation mice, function of the hematopoietic system is compromised (Blasco, 2005b; Herrera et al., 1999). Although telomerase is active in HSCs, telomeres shorten in culture on average 1-2 kb per month (Engelhardt et al., 1997) as well as *in vivo* (Lee et al., 2003; Vaziri et al., 1994). Seeing as telomere shortening outweighs telomerase activity, HSC resources become exhausted with aging.

On the other hand, telomere lengthening with age is also observed. Telomere length in spermatozoa is positively correlated with age such that offspring born with older fathers tend to have longer telomeres at birth. A suggested mechanism of telomere lengthening in germ cells is epigenetic modification and resistance to oxidative stress; however, it is not yet fully understood (Kimura et al., 2008).

Longitudinal studies were necessary in order to understand the true impact of telomere length with age. Using qPCR, two studies found a negative correlation of telomere length with age over a 5 and 10 year period in 500 and 959 individuals, respectively. However, in almost one third of individuals, no correlation with age has been found (Aviv et al., 2009; Nordfjall et al., 2009). Furthermore, significant decline of leukocyte telomeres seen early in life was confirmed in a study with baboons, whose telomeres were measured longitudinally over the first few years of life (Baerlocher et al., 2007). More recently, a study with birds demonstrated that telomere length at birth is correlated with life expectancy (Heidinger et al., 2012). Similarly, a genetic variant of the RNA component of telomerase (TERC) is also linked to leukocyte telomere length and longevity (Soerensen et al., 2012). Therefore, longitudinal studies are important to elucidate clear relationships with age and other confounding factors.

### 1.8.2 Telomere length and chronic illness

Age represents one of the greatest risk factors for chronic illness. Telomere length can be considered a function of replicative history (age) and environmental stress, two important parameters in the development of chronic illness (Oeseburg et al., 2010). A clear link between telomere length and mortality in humans has been established (Cawthon et al., 2003), but how telomere length correlates lifespan is still under debate. Nonetheless, many studies provide evidence that telomere length is associated with agerelated illnesses, especially cardiovascular disease and cancer (Oeseburg et al., 2010).

#### 1.8.2.1 Cardiovascular disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of the main contributors to morbidity and mortality in the aging population. Telomere length is a proposed biomarker of individuals at risk for developing CVD. Several studies over the past decade have demonstrated the relationship between short leukocyte telomere length and CVD (Table 1.3).

Cardiovascular disorder	Participants	Reference
Hypertension	96 cases; 98 controls	(Bhupatiraju et al., 2012)
	327 men from FHS	(Demissie et al., 2006)
Left ventricular dysfunction	89 subjects (85 years old)	(Collerton et al., 2007)
Atherosclerosis	10 cases; 20 controls	(Samani et al., 2001)
	164 hypertensive men	(Benetos et al., 2004)
	1062 individuals from FHS	(O'Donnell et al., 2008)
Myocardial infarction	203 cases; 180 controls	(Brouilette et al., 2003)
	484 cases; 1058 controls	(Brouilette et al., 2007)
	337 cases; 337 controls	(Zee et al., 2009)
Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms	190 cases; 183 controls	(Atturu et al., 2010)
Congestive heart failure	620 cases; 182 controls	(van der Harst et al., 2007)
Aortic dissection	72 cases; 72 controls	(Yan et al., 2011)
Cardiovascular mortality	143 subjects (>60 years old)	(Cawthon et al., 2003)
	780 CAD subjects	(Farzaneh-Far et al., 2008)

Table 1.3 - Short leukocyte telomere length and associated cardiovascular disorders

#### FHS – Framingham Heart Study; CAD – coronary artery disease

Two major risk factors to CVD, diabetes and hypertension, have both been linked to short telomeres. One of the key studies linking short telomeres to insulin resistance and hypertension was the Framingham Heart Study (Demissie et al., 2006), later confirmed in a Chinese (Yang et al., 2009) and Indian population (Bhupatiraju et al., 2012).

Hypertensive individuals with short telomeres are more susceptible to develop atherosclerosis (Yang et al., 2009), and display increased risk of cardiovascular mortality, stroke or angina pectoris (Fyhrquist et al., 2011). Even mild activation of the renninangiotensin system has been linked to shorter leukocyte telomeres (Demissie et al., 2006; Vasan et al., 2008). Endothelial dysfunction, marked by cholesterol burden, inflammatory markers, and increased oxidative stress, is considered an early marker of atherogenesis (Asselbergs et al., 2005; van der Harst et al., 2006). Consistent with this, senescent endothelial cells and short telomeres have been seen in atherosclerotic plaques (Minamino et al., 2002; Ogami et al., 2004). The West of Scotland Primary Prevention Study (WOSCOPS) determined that patients were more susceptible to develop coronary heart disease if they were in the middle or lower tertile for telomere length. Patients with shorter telomeres also benefited more from treatment with statins (Brouilette et al., 2007). Furthermore, offspring of patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) have shorter telomeres than those with healthy parents (Brouilette et al., 2008), and may explain part of CAD heritability (Samani et al., 2007).

Several studies have linked short telomere length to glucose intolerance, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2005; Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2007; Sampson et al., 2006). Even subclinical levels of insulin resistance were linked to shortened telomeres in participants of the Framingham Heart Study (Demissie et al., 2006). Patients with type 2 diabetes show signs of accelerated aging (accelerated telomere attrition, increased oxidative damage, and decreased mitochondrial DNA) compared to control subjects (Monickaraj et al., 2012).

Other cardiovascular risk factors are also associated with short telomeres. Arterial calcification is also associated with short telomeres (Mainous et al., 2010). A study with

Chinese stroke patients revealed that short telomere length is associated with ischemic stroke and post-stroke death (Ding et al., 2012). Telomere length was determined in a large prospective study of 19838 Danish participants followed for up to 19 years for incident myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, and death. Short telomere length was modestly correlated with increased risk of each outcome in the population (Weischer et al., 2012).

Although an etiologic role for telomere length in CVD has yet to be established, a recent study of 3271 Caucasians in the Cardiovascular Health Study aged  $\geq$ 65 years old revealed SNPs in OBFC1 (a gene linked to leukocyte telomere length) were associated with CVD mortality in women (Burnett-Hartman et al., 2012a).

#### 1.8.2.2 Cancer

A major factor influencing life expectancy is cancer, especially in long-lived species. Short leukocyte telomere length is a risk for the development of many types of cancer, including head and neck, breast, bladder, prostate, lung, kidney, ovarian (Blackburn, 2011; Martinez-Delgado et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2003).

As stated in section 1.4, dysfunction of the p53 pathway causes cells to continue to divide until a state of crisis is reached. A series of breakage fusion bridge cycles between chromosomes with dysfunctional telomeres causes genomic rearrangements that can induce upregulation of oncogenes and promote tumorigenesis (Deng et al., 2008; Hackett and Greider, 2002; Rudolph et al., 2001). Mice with enhanced p53 responses show increased resistance to cancer, however, have shorter lifespan and display age-related phenotypes sooner (Donehower, 2002; Matheu et al., 2007). In contrast, Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS) is characterized by a germline mutation in TP53, predisposing LFS patients to cancer. With each consecutive generation there is earlier onset of cancer caused by progressive telomere shortening in the germ cells. Therefore, telomere length has been used as a biological marker to monitor LFS patients (Tabori et al., 2007).

Tumor cells also utilize one of two mechanisms to maintain their telomeres, providing them with a means to overcome the end-replication problem. As stated earlier, 80-90% of

all cancer cells express telomerase, and the remaining use the ALT pathway (Shay and Bacchetti, 1997) or a combination of both (Venturini et al., 2012). Similar to enhancing p53, suppression of telomerase can reduce risk of cancer, but it also induces age-related phenotypes. However, reactivation of telomerase after 4 weeks reverses the degenerative phenotypes seen in telomerase-deficient mice (Bernardes de Jesus and Blasco, 2011; Jaskelioff et al., 2011). Proliferative capacity of post-senescent cells can also be extended by ectopic expression of human TERT (Counter et al., 1998). However, continued expression of hTERT in culture promotes genomic instability, perhaps due to accumulation of replication errors from an extended lifespan in culture (Roth et al., 2005; Schreurs et al., 2005).

The link between cancer and lifespan is a fine balance between protection against tumorigenesis and degeneration due to age. By combining the protective effects of enhancing p53 activity and increasing telomerase expression, the lifespan of mice can be extended and risk of tumorigenesis reduced (Donate and Blasco, 2011; Tomas-Loba et al., 2008).

#### 1.8.3 Telomere length (TL) variation in the population

Telomere lengths are highly variable between and within individuals. Within an individual, telomeres vary in length between tissues, cells, and chromosomes (Lansdorp et al., 1996; Oeseburg et al., 2010; Zijlmans et al., 1997). However, variability between individuals is greater than that within each individual, which makes cross-sectional studies noisy, requiring large cohorts (Aviv and Levy, 2011; Kimura et al., 2010a; Takubo et al., 2002). At birth, telomeres vary in the population by 4-6 kb in blood leukocytes (Akkad et al., 2006; Frenck et al., 1998; Okuda et al., 2002), which is maintained throughout the human lifespan (Alter et al., 2007; Rufer et al., 1999). Telomere length variation in the population is a result of inherited differences, and differential rates of telomere shortening between individuals (Aviv, 2012; Chen et al., 2011). Both genetic and environmental or lifestyle factors contribute to differences in the rate of telomere shortening.

#### 1.8.3.1 Genetic factors that influence telomere length

Genetic factors include inherited differences in birth telomere length and differences (i.e. polymorphisms, mutations) in genes involved in telomere stability and maintenance, such as shelterin and telomerase.

#### 1.8.3.1.1 Inheritance of telomeres

Much of the variation in telomere lengths seen between individuals at birth could be the result of inherent heterogeneity between germ cells. A twin-based study revealed that telomere length is partly genetically determined. In this study, monozygotic twins had telomeres similar in length, in contrast to heterozygotic twins (Slagboom et al., 1994). Several studies have estimated that the contribution of heredity to telomere length in humans is between 36 and 80% (Andrew et al., 2006; Jeanclos et al., 2000; Njajou et al., 2007; Slagboom et al., 1994; Vasa-Nicotera et al., 2005). The precise mechanism of heritability is still unclear, with some studies suggesting maternal mode of inheritance (Nawrot et al., 2004) and others paternal (Njajou et al., 2007; Nordfjall et al., 2005; Nordfjall et al., 2010). One study suggests telomere length may be inherited as an Xlinked trait, based on the fact that telomere length was correlated between parents of both sexes and offspring except between father and sons (Nawrot et al., 2004). In line with this, telomere length from umbilical cord blood of newborn babies correlated with maternal blood telomere length (Akkad et al., 2006). However, a recent large-scale study confirms that paternal influence on offspring telomere length is significantly greater than maternal contribution (Nordfjall et al., 2010). In fact, several studies confirm that age of father is positively correlated with offspring telomere length at birth (De Meyer et al., 2007; Njajou et al., 2007; Unryn et al., 2005). In the human male germline, telomere lengths are highly heterogeneous (8.8 to 16 kb) between cells, even with telomerase expression (Baird et al., 2006). Similarly, offspring of inbred mice showed variable telomere lengths in the Y chromosome (Zijlmans et al., 1997).

Many studies are using genome-wide sequencing approaches to determine genetic loci that are associated with telomere length. These studies have revealed that genetic variants of telomerase RNA component (TERC) (Codd et al., 2010; Levy et al., 2010;

Njajou et al., 2010; Shen et al., 2011; Soerensen et al., 2012) and catalytic subunit (TERT) (Atzmon et al., 2010) are associated with leukocyte telomere length and longevity. One study in families with exceptional longevity of Ashkenazi centenarians revealed an association between telomere length, longevity and a genetic variant in hTERT (Atzmon et al., 2010). Heterozygous mutation in either hTERC or hTERT genes lead to rare disorders of aplastic anemia and dyskerotosis congenital, characterized by bone marrow failure (Garcia et al., 2007). Furthermore, a recently discovered genetic variant in OBCF1 is associated with inter-individual variation in leukocyte telomere length (Levy et al., 2010) and a potential link to cardiovascular disease (Burnett-Hartman et al., 2012b). OBCF1 plays a role in telomere length regulation and can interact with shelterin protein TPP1 (Wan et al., 2009).

Insights in inheritance patterns in telomere lengths also come from studies using inbred mice over several generations. One study revealed that heterozygous knockouts in the catalytic subunit of telomerase (TERT+/-) caused subsequent shortening of telomeres over generations (Chiang et al., 2010). However, when telomerase activity was restored, telomeres stabilize at a new set-point over subsequent generations. The authors proposed that telomere length set-points can be reset based on inherited telomere lengths. Mice with short telomeres were then backcrossed to the original mice with long telomeres and found that the offspring had an average length intermediate to the parental mice, suggesting telomere lengths do not represent a simple heritable trait. Genotype alone does not determine telomere set-point, but historic events (telomerase haploinsufficiency) can influence inherited lengths (Chiang et al., 2010). Between-species crosses of Mus *musculus* (long telomeres) and *Mus spretus* (short telomeres) showed a select lengthening of the short telomeres inherited from *Mus spretus* (Zhu et al., 1998). This lengthening was mapped to a specific gene encoding the Rec helicase (Rtel) (Ding et al., 2004). The mechanism of action is not fully understood, however, genetic differences of telomereassociated proteins may account for elongation of telomeres between species. In addition, telomere elongation may only occur when recognized as critically short, which may be different for each species of mice (Chiang et al., 2010).

#### 1.8.3.1.2 Progeroid syndromes

Much of what we know about telomeres with aging *in vivo* comes from the study of progeroid (premature aging) syndromes. These include Werner and Bloom syndrome (Rossi et al., 2010) and dyskeratosis congenita (Armanios, 2009; Walne and Dokal, 2009). These disorders are characterized by mutations in genes encoding proteins involved in telomere length stability and regulation. Accelerated telomere shortening in these disorders clinically manifests as aplastic anemia in bone marrow and fibrosis of the lung and liver, leading to premature mortality (Armanios, 2009). Mouse models have been used to study the effects of progeroid proteins on telomere length with aging by functional knockout of telomerase (TERT-/- or TERC-/-), Werner (WRN-/-), and dyskerin (DKC1) (Blasco, 2005a; Chang, 2005; Chang et al., 2004; Walne and Dokal, 2009). Mutations in shelterin components, such as TIN2, can also cause dyskeratosis congenita (Walne and Dokal, 2009).

One study generated wild-type mice with short telomeres and found that these mice displayed accelerated age-related pathologies similar to patients with dyskeratosis congenita (Armanios et al., 2009). These mice had defects in the hematopoietic and immune system, and persisted several generations of interbreeding. These findings suggest that inheritance of short telomeres even in the presence of wild-type telomerase is sufficient to cause degenerative defects with age (Armanios et al., 2009).

Accelerated aging has also been observed in mice with null mutations in the catalytic subunit of DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PKcs) (Espejel et al., 2004). In complex with the heterodimer Ku86/Ku70, DNA-PK plays a role in DNA repair by non-homologous end joining (Khanna and Jackson, 2001). However, these proteins also participate in telomere capping and are thought to assist in recruitment of telomerase (Espejel et al., 2002). Absence of DNA-PKcs accelerates telomere shortening and leads to earlier onset of age-related pathologies (Espejel et al., 2004).

Furthermore mice with knockouts of shelterin components, such as TRF1, TPP1 and Rap1, have helped establish *in vivo* roles in telomere maintenance and genomic stability (Donate and Blasco, 2011). For example, TRF1 knockouts lead to embryonic lethality at

the blastocyst stage, but Cre recombinase-mediated conditional knockout of epithelial cells revealed rapid induction of p53 mediated senescence, damaged foci at telomeres, chromosomal fusion events, and genomic instability. Knocking out p53 rescued some of the defects, but these mice still displayed abnormalities of human conditions linked to telomere maintenance deficiency such as nail atrophy and oral leukoplakia (Donate and Blasco, 2011).

#### 1.8.3.2 Lifestyle factors that influence telomere length

Telomere shortening rates can be modified by several lifestyle factors that include mental stress levels, cigarette smoking and dietary intake. Baseline telomere shortening due to the end-replication problem will always exist, but efforts to live a healthy and balanced lifestyle can reduce any additional loss of telomeres (Shammas, 2011). Even poor sleep quality has been associated with shorter telomere lengths in leukocytes among midlife women, independent of perceived psychological stress (Prather et al., 2011).

### 1.8.3.2.1 Mental stress

The amount of stress experienced is a key factor in variations in telomere shortening among the adult population. Female house mice (*Mus musculus*) that experienced reproductive stress displayed shorter telomeres compared to controls. In male mice, crowding stress also resulted in shorter telomeres (Kotrschal et al., 2007). In humans, psychological stress has been linked to short telomeres (Lin et al., 2012). Leukocyte telomere lengths were analyzed in mother's caring for their chronically sick child and revealed that duration of care was associated with higher levels of oxidative stress, lower levels of telomerase and shorter telomeres. In fact, the level of stress perceived by the caregiver was proportional to their telomere lengths (Epel et al., 2004). Caregivers experience exaggerated anticipatory stress appraisals, which may have a negative impact on telomere length and cellular age (O'Donovan et al., 2012). Another study confirmed that high levels of perceived stress and chronic pain among adults is associated with short telomeres (Sibille et al., 2012).

Telomere shortening due to stress does not occur only in adults but also in children. More recently, Blackburn's lab revealed that socioeconomic status of parents is positively correlated with child leukocyte telomere length. Children with parents that never attended college had telomeres 1178 bp (~6 years of additional aging) shorter than children with at least one college-educated parent (Needham et al., 2012). Moreover, exposure to violence between ages 5 and 10 resulted in significantly reduced leukocyte telomeres, providing evidence for early childhood stress and telomere maintenance (Shalev et al., 2012). However, activities that reduce stress levels, such as meditation (Epel et al., 2009; Jacobs et al., 2011) and exercise (Puterman et al., 2010), can improve telomere length and reduce rates of telomere shortening. In fact, a mindfulness intervention study revealed that metabolic and psychological stress in part may regulate telomerase activity (Daubenmier et al., 2011).

#### 1.8.3.2.2 Smoking, obesity and dietary intake

There are several studies that link cigarette smoking to short leukocyte telomeres (Babizhayev and Yegorov, 2011; McGrath et al., 2007; Mirabello et al., 2009; Morla et al., 2006; Nawrot et al., 2010; Valdes et al., 2005). In a study of women who smoke, a pack of cigarettes a day causes an additional telomere loss of 5 bp/year, equivalent to 7.4 years of aging after 40 years of smoking (Valdes et al., 2005). Studies have also shown a dose-effect relationship between tobacco exposure and telomere length (McGrath et al., 2007; Morla et al., 2006). Accelerated telomere shortening in smokers is linked to increased oxidative stress and DNA damage (Babizhayev and Yegorov, 2011). In fact, an *in vitro* model of early mice embryos revealed that exposure to cigarette smoke condensate or cadmium caused increased oxidative stress and telomere shortening and associated with chromosomal instability and apoptosis. However, treatment with the antioxidant N-acetyl-1-cysteine (NAC) was able to greatly reduce oxidative stress and toxic effects of cigarette smoke (Huang et al., 2010).

Similar to smoking, obesity also causes an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation (Codoner-Franch et al., 2011). Short leukocyte telomere length in type-2 diabetic men was shown to correlate with triglyceride and total cholesterol levels, suggesting a link between BMI and telomeres in aging (Harte et al., 2012). A diabetes intervention study on obese individuals with glucose intolerance revealed that by promoting a healthy lifestyle leukocyte telomere length can improve over time (Hovatta et al., 2012). Even a

moderate amount of physical activity is associated with longer leukocyte telomere lengths (Du et al., 2012).

Proper dietary intake can also improve telomere length. For instance, vitamin D intake was linked to increased telomerase activity in leukocytes of overweight individuals (Zhu et al., 2011) and improved telomere length in hemodialysis patients treated with vitamin D compared to those not treated (Borras et al., 2012). Since oxidative stress accelerates telomere shortening, intake of antioxidants, such as berries, could reduce rates of telomere attrition. A study with mice showed that treatment with the antioxidant NAC effectively postponed aging of oocytes and displayed longer telomeres and higher telomerase expression than controls (Liu et al., 2012). As with mental stress, exercise can also modify telomere length attrition by improving overall health and by reducing BMI and oxidative stress levels (Shammas, 2011). In fact, exercise altered telomere maintenance and slowed age-related decrease in telomere length of the lung and heart of mice. However, exercise caused telomere shortening in skeletal muscle of mice compared to sedentary mice, suggesting its protective effects are tissue dependent (Ludlow et al., 2012).

#### 1.8.4 Goals of this study

In humans, it is well established that telomeres shorten with age in blood leukocytes and that short leukocyte telomere lengths are associated with cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Oeseburg et al., 2010). In wild-derived *Mus spretus* mice, telomeres also shorten in spleen, a leukocyte-rich tissue (Coviello-McLaughlin and Prowse, 1997). *Mus spretus* mice have telomeres in range with that of humans, whereas commonly used inbred strains have telomeres significantly longer (Hemann and Greider, 2000). Therefore, few studies have used inbred mice to study telomere dynamics, leaving them poorly understood. It is important to understand telomere dynamics in strains that are commonly used for a wide-range of genetic studies (e.g. C57BL/6). No study to date has looked at telomere length dynamics with age in different strains of inbred mice. Furthermore, there is little information on tissue-specific differences in telomere length with age of inbred mice.

As mentioned in section 1.8.3, large inter-individual variations in leukocyte telomere length and its rate of change make use of cross-sectional studies difficult, which can only detect telomere length changes of an entire population. By knowing birth telomere length of an individual, telomere loss and rate of change could be determined. A previously defined quasi-longitudinal model in dogs uses a post-mitotic tissue (skeletal muscle) as an estimate of birth telomere length to reference against leukocyte telomere length in adults (Benetos et al., 2011). However, many cell types are considered postmitotic, but a tissue would need to be predominantly composed of these long-living cells in order to be a good estimate of birth telomere length. No study to date has defined a tissue to estimate birth telomere length on a genetically constant model. Moreover, no study has determined if genetic diversity is the cause of telomere length heterogeneity in the population.

#### Goals:

- To determine if there are strain-specific differences in telomere lengths of inbred mouse strains.
- 2) To determine if there is an adult tissue that can serve as a surrogate for ascertaining birth telomere length.
- To determine if genetic heterogeneity translates to telomere length heterogeneity in a mouse population.
- To determine if elucidating age-related associations of telomere length in a genetically heterogeneous mouse population can be optimized by referencing to a tissue with stable telomere length.
- 5) To determine if the extracellular matrix can influence telomere length.

# 1.9 References

Abdallah, P., Luciano, P., Runge, K.W., Lisby, M., Geli, V., Gilson, E., and Teixeira, M.T. (2009). A two-step model for senescence triggered by a single critically short telomere. Nat Cell Biol *11*, 988-993.

Adaikalakoteswari, A., Balasubramanyam, M., and Mohan, V. (2005). Telomere shortening occurs in Asian Indian Type 2 diabetic patients. Diabet Med 22, 1151-1156.

Adaikalakoteswari, A., Balasubramanyam, M., Ravikumar, R., Deepa, R., and Mohan, V. (2007). Association of telomere shortening with impaired glucose tolerance and diabetic macroangiopathy. Atherosclerosis *195*, 83-89.

Akkad, A., Hastings, R., Konje, J.C., Bell, S.C., Thurston, H., and Williams, B. (2006). Telomere length in small-for-gestational-age babies. BJOG *113*, 318-323.

Allsopp, R.C., Cheshier, S., and Weissman, I.L. (2001). Telomere shortening accompanies increased cell cycle activity during serial transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med *193*, 917-924.

Alter, B.P., Baerlocher, G.M., Savage, S.A., Chanock, S.J., Weksler, B.B., Willner, J.P., Peters, J.A., Giri, N., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2007). Very short telomere length by flow fluorescence in situ hybridization identifies patients with dyskeratosis congenita. Blood *110*, 1439-1447.

Andrew, T., Aviv, A., Falchi, M., Surdulescu, G.L., Gardner, J.P., Lu, X., Kimura, M., Kato, B.S., Valdes, A.M., and Spector, T.D. (2006). Mapping genetic loci that determine leukocyte telomere length in a large sample of unselected female sibling pairs. Am J Hum Genet 78, 480-486.

Armanios, M. (2009). Syndromes of telomere shortening. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 10, 45-61.

Armanios, M., Alder, J.K., Parry, E.M., Karim, B., Strong, M.A., and Greider, C.W. (2009). Short telomeres are sufficient to cause the degenerative defects associated with aging. Am J Hum Genet *85*, 823-832.

Asselbergs, F.W., van der Harst, P., Jessurun, G.A., Tio, R.A., and van Gilst, W.H. (2005). Clinical impact of vasomotor function assessment and the role of ACE-inhibitors and statins. Vascul Pharmacol *42*, 125-140.

Atturu, G., Brouilette, S., Samani, N.J., London, N.J., Sayers, R.D., and Bown, M.J. (2010). Short leukocyte telomere length is associated with abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg *39*, 559-564.

Atzmon, G., Cho, M., Cawthon, R.M., Budagov, T., Katz, M., Yang, X., Siegel, G., Bergman, A., Huffman, D.M., Schechter, C.B., *et al.* (2010). Evolution in health and medicine Sackler colloquium: Genetic variation in human telomerase is associated with telomere length in Ashkenazi centenarians. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107 Suppl 1*, 1710-1717.

Aubert, G., Hills, M., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2012). Telomere length measurement-Caveats and a critical assessment of the available technologies and tools. Mutat Res 730, 59-67.

Aubert, G., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2008). Telomeres and aging. Physiol Rev 88, 557-579.

Aviv, A. (2012). Genetics of leukocyte telomere length and its role in atherosclerosis. Mutat Res *730*, 68-74.

Aviv, A., Chen, W., Gardner, J.P., Kimura, M., Brimacombe, M., Cao, X., Srinivasan, S.R., and Berenson, G.S. (2009). Leukocyte telomere dynamics: longitudinal findings among young adults in the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Epidemiol *169*, 323-329.

Aviv, A., Hunt, S.C., Lin, J., Cao, X., Kimura, M., and Blackburn, E. (2011). Impartial comparative analysis of measurement of leukocyte telomere length/DNA content by Southern blots and qPCR. Nucleic Acids Res *39*, e134.

Aviv, A., and Levy, D. (2011). Telomeres, Atherosclerosis, and the Hemothelium: The Longer View. Annu Rev Med.

Babizhayev, M.A., and Yegorov, Y.E. (2011). Smoking and health: association between telomere length and factors impacting on human disease, quality of life and life span in a large population-based cohort under the effect of smoking duration. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 25, 425-442.

Baerlocher, G.M., Rice, K., Vulto, I., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2007). Longitudinal data on telomere length in leukocytes from newborn baboons support a marked drop in stem cell turnover around 1 year of age. Aging Cell *6*, 121-123.

Bailey, S.M., Brenneman, M.A., and Goodwin, E.H. (2004). Frequent recombination in telomeric DNA may extend the proliferative life of telomerase-negative cells. Nucleic Acids Res *32*, 3743-3751.

Baird, D.M., Britt-Compton, B., Rowson, J., Amso, N.N., Gregory, L., and Kipling, D. (2006). Telomere instability in the male germline. Hum Mol Genet *15*, 45-51.

Baird, D.M., Rowson, J., Wynford-Thomas, D., and Kipling, D. (2003). Extensive allelic variation and ultrashort telomeres in senescent human cells. Nat Genet *33*, 203-207.

Baumann, P., and Cech, T.R. (2001). Pot1, the putative telomere end-binding protein in fission yeast and humans. Science 292, 1171-1175.

Bechter, O.E., Shay, J.W., and Wright, W.E. (2004). The frequency of homologous recombination in human ALT cells. Cell Cycle *3*, 547-549.

Bendix, L., Horn, P.B., Jensen, U.B., Rubelj, I., and Kolvraa, S. (2010). The load of short telomeres, estimated by a new method, Universal STELA, correlates with number of senescent cells. Aging Cell *9*, 383-397.

Benetos, A., Gardner, J.P., Zureik, M., Labat, C., Xiaobin, L., Adamopoulos, C., Temmar, M., Bean, K.E., Thomas, F., and Aviv, A. (2004). Short telomeres are

associated with increased carotid atherosclerosis in hypertensive subjects. Hypertension 43, 182-185.

Benetos, A., Kimura, M., Labat, C., Buchoff, G.M., Huber, S., Labat, L., Lu, X., and Aviv, A. (2011). A model of canine leukocyte telomere dynamics. Aging Cell.

Bernardes de Jesus, B., and Blasco, M.A. (2011). Aging by telomere loss can be reversed. Cell Stem Cell 8, 3-4.

Bhattacharyya, S., Keirsey, J., Russell, B., Kavecansky, J., Lillard-Wetherell, K., Tahmaseb, K., Turchi, J.J., and Groden, J. (2009). Telomerase-associated protein 1, HSP90, and topoisomerase IIalpha associate directly with the BLM helicase in immortalized cells using ALT and modulate its helicase activity using telomeric DNA substrates. J Biol Chem 284, 14966-14977.

Bhupatiraju, C., Saini, D., Patkar, S., Deepak, P., Das, B., and Padma, T. (2012). Association of shorter telomere length with essential hypertension in Indian population. Am J Hum Biol.

Blackburn, E.H. (2005). Telomeres and telomerase: their mechanisms of action and the effects of altering their functions. FEBS Lett *579*, 859-862.

Blackburn, E.H. (2011). Walking the walk from genes through telomere maintenance to cancer risk. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) *4*, 473-475.

Blasco, M.A. (2005a). Mice with bad ends: mouse models for the study of telomeres and telomerase in cancer and aging. EMBO J 24, 1095-1103.

Blasco, M.A. (2005b). Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer and beyond. Nat Rev Genet 6, 611-622.

Bodnar, A.G., Ouellette, M., Frolkis, M., Holt, S.E., Chiu, C.P., Morin, G.B., Harley, C.B., Shay, J.W., Lichtsteiner, S., and Wright, W.E. (1998). Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science *279*, 349-352.

Borras, M., Panizo, S., Sarro, F., Valdivielso, J.M., and Fernandez, E. (2012). Assessment of the potential role of active vitamin d treatment in telomere length: a casecontrol study in hemodialysis patients. Clin Ther *34*, 849-856.

Britt-Compton, B., Capper, R., Rowson, J., and Baird, D.M. (2009). Short telomeres are preferentially elongated by telomerase in human cells. FEBS Lett *583*, 3076-3080.

Britt-Compton, B., Rowson, J., Locke, M., Mackenzie, I., Kipling, D., and Baird, D.M. (2006). Structural stability and chromosome-specific telomere length is governed by cisacting determinants in humans. Hum Mol Genet *15*, 725-733.

Brouilette, S., Singh, R.K., Thompson, J.R., Goodall, A.H., and Samani, N.J. (2003). White cell telomere length and risk of premature myocardial infarction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *23*, 842-846.

Brouilette, S.W., Moore, J.S., McMahon, A.D., Thompson, J.R., Ford, I., Shepherd, J., Packard, C.J., and Samani, N.J. (2007). Telomere length, risk of coronary heart disease, and statin treatment in the West of Scotland Primary Prevention Study: a nested case-control study. Lancet *369*, 107-114.

Brouilette, S.W., Whittaker, A., Stevens, S.E., van der Harst, P., Goodall, A.H., and Samani, N.J. (2008). Telomere length is shorter in healthy offspring of subjects with coronary artery disease: support for the telomere hypothesis. Heart *94*, 422-425.

Bryan, T.M., Englezou, A., Gupta, J., Bacchetti, S., and Reddel, R.R. (1995). Telomere elongation in immortal human cells without detectable telomerase activity. EMBO J *14*, 4240-4248.

Bryan, T.M., and Reddel, R.R. (1997). Telomere dynamics and telomerase activity in in vitro immortalised human cells. Eur J Cancer *33*, 767-773.

Burnett-Hartman, A.N., Fitzpatrick, A.L., Kronmal, R.A., Psaty, B.M., Jenny, N.S., Bis, J.C., Tracy, R.P., Kimura, M., and Abraham, A. (2012a). Telomere-associated polymorphisms correlate with cardiovascular disease mortality in Caucasian women: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Mech Ageing Dev.

Burnett-Hartman, A.N., Fitzpatrick, A.L., Kronmal, R.A., Psaty, B.M., Jenny, N.S., Bis, J.C., Tracy, R.P., Kimura, M., and Aviv, A. (2012b). Telomere-associated polymorphisms correlate with cardiovascular disease mortality in Caucasian women: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Mech Ageing Dev.

Burton, D.G. (2009). Cellular senescence, ageing and disease. Age (Dordr) 31, 1-9.

Campisi, J., and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2007). Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8, 729-740.

Cawthon, R.M. (2002). Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. Nucleic Acids Res *30*, e47.

Cawthon, R.M. (2009). Telomere length measurement by a novel monochrome multiplex quantitative PCR method. Nucleic Acids Res *37*, e21.

Cawthon, R.M., Smith, K.R., O'Brien, E., Sivatchenko, A., and Kerber, R.A. (2003). Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60 years or older. Lancet *361*, 393-395.

Celli, G.B., and de Lange, T. (2005). DNA processing is not required for ATM-mediated telomere damage response after TRF2 deletion. Nat Cell Biol 7, 712-718.

Cesare, A.J., and Griffith, J.D. (2004). Telomeric DNA in ALT cells is characterized by free telomeric circles and heterogeneous t-loops. Mol Cell Biol 24, 9948-9957.

Chan, S.R., and Blackburn, E.H. (2004). Telomeres and telomerase. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci *359*, 109-121.

Chang, E., and Harley, C.B. (1995). Telomere length and replicative aging in human vascular tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 11190-11194.

Chang, S. (2005). A mouse model of Werner Syndrome: what can it tell us about aging and cancer? Int J Biochem Cell Biol *37*, 991-999.

Chang, S., Multani, A.S., Cabrera, N.G., Naylor, M.L., Laud, P., Lombard, D., Pathak, S., Guarente, L., and DePinho, R.A. (2004). Essential role of limiting telomeres in the pathogenesis of Werner syndrome. Nat Genet *36*, 877-882.

Chen, L.Y., Liu, D., and Songyang, Z. (2007). Telomere maintenance through spatial control of telomeric proteins. Mol Cell Biol 27, 5898-5909.

Chen, W., Kimura, M., Kim, S., Cao, X., Srinivasan, S.R., Berenson, G.S., Kark, J.D., and Aviv, A. (2011). Longitudinal versus cross-sectional evaluations of leukocyte telomere length dynamics: age-dependent telomere shortening is the rule. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci *66*, 312-319.

Chen, Y., Yang, Y., van Overbeek, M., Donigian, J.R., Baciu, P., de Lange, T., and Lei, M. (2008). A shared docking motif in TRF1 and TRF2 used for differential recruitment of telomeric proteins. Science *319*, 1092-1096.

Cherif, H., Tarry, J.L., Ozanne, S.E., and Hales, C.N. (2003). Ageing and telomeres: a study into organ- and gender-specific telomere shortening. Nucleic Acids Res *31*, 1576-1583.

Chiang, Y.J., Calado, R.T., Hathcock, K.S., Lansdorp, P.M., Young, N.S., and Hodes, R.J. (2010). Telomere length is inherited with resetting of the telomere set-point. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 10148-10153.

Chuaire-Noack, L., Sanchez-Corredor, M.C., and Ramirez-Clavijo, S.R. (2010). The dual role of senescence in tumorigenesis. Int J Morphol 28, 37-50.

Codd, V., Mangino, M., van der Harst, P., Braund, P.S., Kaiser, M., Beveridge, A.J., Rafelt, S., Moore, J., Nelson, C., Soranzo, N., *et al.* (2010). Common variants near TERC are associated with mean telomere length. Nat Genet *42*, 197-199.

Codoner-Franch, P., Valls-Belles, V., Arilla-Codoner, A., and Alonso-Iglesias, E. (2011). Oxidant mechanisms in childhood obesity: the link between inflammation and oxidative stress. Transl Res *158*, 369-384.

Collerton, J., Martin-Ruiz, C., Kenny, A., Barrass, K., von Zglinicki, T., Kirkwood, T., and Keavney, B. (2007). Telomere length is associated with left ventricular function in the oldest old: the Newcastle 85+ study. Eur Heart J 28, 172-176.

Counter, C.M., Hahn, W.C., Wei, W., Caddle, S.D., Beijersbergen, R.L., Lansdorp, P.M., Sedivy, J.M., and Weinberg, R.A. (1998). Dissociation among in vitro telomerase activity, telomere maintenance, and cellular immortalization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 14723-14728.

Coviello-McLaughlin, G.M., and Prowse, K.R. (1997). Telomere length regulation during postnatal development and ageing in Mus spretus. Nucleic Acids Res 25, 3051-3058.

Crabbe, L., Verdun, R.E., Haggblom, C.I., and Karlseder, J. (2004). Defective telomere lagging strand synthesis in cells lacking WRN helicase activity. Science *306*, 1951-1953.

Daubenmier, J., Lin, J., Blackburn, E., Hecht, F.M., Kristeller, J., Maninger, N., Kuwata, M., Bacchetti, P., Havel, P.J., and Epel, E. (2011). Changes in stress, eating, and metabolic factors are related to changes in telomerase activity in a randomized mindfulness intervention pilot study. Psychoneuroendocrinology.

de Lange, T. (2005). Shelterin: the protein complex that shapes and safeguards human telomeres. Genes Dev 19, 2100-2110.

De Meyer, T., Rietzschel, E.R., De Buyzere, M.L., De Bacquer, D., Van Criekinge, W., De Backer, G.G., Gillebert, T.C., Van Oostveldt, P., and Bekaert, S. (2007). Paternal age at birth is an important determinant of offspring telomere length. Hum Mol Genet *16*, 3097-3102.

Demissie, S., Levy, D., Benjamin, E.J., Cupples, L.A., Gardner, J.P., Herbert, A., Kimura, M., Larson, M.G., Meigs, J.B., Keaney, J.F., *et al.* (2006). Insulin resistance, oxidative stress, hypertension, and leukocyte telomere length in men from the Framingham Heart Study. Aging Cell *5*, 325-330.

Deng, Y., Chan, S.S., and Chang, S. (2008). Telomere dysfunction and tumour suppression: the senescence connection. Nat Rev Cancer *8*, 450-458.

Dimri, G.P., Lee, X., Basile, G., Acosta, M., Scott, G., Roskelley, C., Medrano, E.E., Linskens, M., Rubelj, I., Pereira-Smith, O., *et al.* (1995). A biomarker that identifies senescent human cells in culture and in aging skin in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 9363-9367.

Ding, H., Chen, C., Shaffer, J.R., Liu, L., Xu, Y., Wang, X., Hui, R., and Wang, D.W. (2012). Telomere length and risk of stroke in Chinese. Stroke *43*, 658-663.

Ding, H., Schertzer, M., Wu, X., Gertsenstein, M., Selig, S., Kammori, M., Pourvali, R., Poon, S., Vulto, I., Chavez, E., *et al.* (2004). Regulation of murine telomere length by Rtel: an essential gene encoding a helicase-like protein. Cell *117*, 873-886.

Diotti, R., and Loayza, D. (2011). Shelterin complex and associated factors at human telomeres. Nucleus 2, 119-135.

Donate, L.E., and Blasco, M.A. (2011). Telomeres in cancer and ageing. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci *366*, 76-84.

Donehower, L.A. (2002). Does p53 affect organismal aging? J Cell Physiol 192, 23-33.

Du, H.Y., Idol, R., Robledo, S., Ivanovich, J., An, P., Londono-Vallejo, A., Wilson, D.B., Mason, P.J., and Bessler, M. (2007). Telomerase reverse transcriptase haploinsufficiency and telomere length in individuals with 5p- syndrome. Aging Cell *6*, 689-697.

Du, M., Prescott, J., Kraft, P., Han, J., Giovannucci, E., Hankinson, S.E., and De Vivo, I. (2012). Physical activity, sedentary behavior, and leukocyte telomere length in women. Am J Epidemiol *175*, 414-422.

Dunham, M.A., Neumann, A.A., Fasching, C.L., and Reddel, R.R. (2000). Telomere maintenance by recombination in human cells. Nat Genet *26*, 447-450.

Else, T. (2009). Telomeres and telomerase in adrenocortical tissue maintenance, carcinogenesis, and aging. J Mol Endocrinol *43*, 131-141.

Engelhardt, M., Kumar, R., Albanell, J., Pettengell, R., Han, W., and Moore, M.A. (1997). Telomerase regulation, cell cycle, and telomere stability in primitive hematopoietic cells. Blood *90*, 182-193.

Epel, E., Daubenmier, J., Moskowitz, J.T., Folkman, S., and Blackburn, E. (2009). Can meditation slow rate of cellular aging? Cognitive stress, mindfulness, and telomeres. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1172*, 34-53.

Epel, E.S., Blackburn, E.H., Lin, J., Dhabhar, F.S., Adler, N.E., Morrow, J.D., and Cawthon, R.M. (2004). Accelerated telomere shortening in response to life stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 17312-17315.

Espejel, S., Franco, S., Sgura, A., Gae, D., Bailey, S.M., Taccioli, G.E., and Blasco, M.A. (2002). Functional interaction between DNA-PKcs and telomerase in telomere length maintenance. EMBO J *21*, 6275-6287.

Espejel, S., Martin, M., Klatt, P., Martin-Caballero, J., Flores, J.M., and Blasco, M.A. (2004). Shorter telomeres, accelerated ageing and increased lymphoma in DNA-PKcs-deficient mice. EMBO Rep *5*, 503-509.

Farzaneh-Far, R., Cawthon, R.M., Na, B., Browner, W.S., Schiller, N.B., and Whooley, M.A. (2008). Prognostic value of leukocyte telomere length in patients with stable coronary artery disease: data from the Heart and Soul Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28, 1379-1384.

Finkel, T., and Holbrook, N.J. (2000). Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature 408, 239-247.

Flores, I., Canela, A., Vera, E., Tejera, A., Cotsarelis, G., and Blasco, M.A. (2008). The longest telomeres: a general signature of adult stem cell compartments. Genes Dev 22, 654-667.

Forsyth, N.R., Wright, W.E., and Shay, J.W. (2002). Telomerase and differentiation in multicellular organisms: turn it off, turn it on, and turn it off again. Differentiation *69*, 188-197.

Fraga, C.G., Shigenaga, M.K., Park, J.W., Degan, P., and Ames, B.N. (1990). Oxidative damage to DNA during aging: 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine in rat organ DNA and urine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 4533-4537.

Frenck, R.W., Jr., Blackburn, E.H., and Shannon, K.M. (1998). The rate of telomere sequence loss in human leukocytes varies with age. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 5607-5610.

Furumoto, K., Inoue, E., Nagao, N., Hiyama, E., and Miwa, N. (1998). Age-dependent telomere shortening is slowed down by enrichment of intracellular vitamin C via suppression of oxidative stress. Life Sci *63*, 935-948.

Fyhrquist, F., Silventoinen, K., Saijonmaa, O., Kontula, K., Devereux, R.B., de Faire, U., Os, I., and Dahlof, B. (2011). Telomere length and cardiovascular risk in hypertensive patients with left ventricular hypertrophy: the LIFE study. J Hum Hypertens *25*, 711-718.

Garcia, C.K., Wright, W.E., and Shay, J.W. (2007). Human diseases of telomerase dysfunction: insights into tissue aging. Nucleic Acids Res *35*, 7406-7416.

Gladych, M., Wojtyla, A., and Rubis, B. (2011). Human telomerase expression regulation. Biochem Cell Biol 89, 359-376.

Gomes, N.M., Ryder, O.A., Houck, M.L., Charter, S.J., Walker, W., Forsyth, N.R., Austad, S.N., Venditti, C., Pagel, M., Shay, J.W., *et al.* (2011). Comparative biology of mammalian telomeres: hypotheses on ancestral states and the roles of telomeres in longevity determination. Aging Cell *10*, 761-768.

Gorbunova, V., and Seluanov, A. (2009). Coevolution of telomerase activity and body mass in mammals: from mice to beavers. Mech Ageing Dev *130*, 3-9.

Greider, C.W., and Blackburn, E.H. (1985). Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts. Cell *43*, 405-413.

Greider, C.W., and Blackburn, E.H. (1987). The telomere terminal transferase of Tetrahymena is a ribonucleoprotein enzyme with two kinds of primer specificity. Cell *51*, 887-898.

Griffith, J.D., Comeau, L., Rosenfield, S., Stansel, R.M., Bianchi, A., Moss, H., and de Lange, T. (1999). Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop. Cell *97*, 503-514.

Gu, B., Bessler, M., and Mason, P.J. (2009). Dyskerin, telomerase and the DNA damage response. Cell Cycle *8*, 6-10.

Hackett, J.A., and Greider, C.W. (2002). Balancing instability: dual roles for telomerase and telomere dysfunction in tumorigenesis. Oncogene 21, 619-626.

Harley, C.B., Futcher, A.B., and Greider, C.W. (1990). Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. Nature *345*, 458-460.

Harte, A.L., da Silva, N.F., Miller, M.A., Cappuccio, F.P., Kelly, A., O'Hare, J.P., Barnett, A.H., Al-Daghri, N.M., Al-Attas, O., Alokail, M., *et al.* (2012). Telomere length attrition, a marker of biological senescence, is inversely correlated with triglycerides and cholesterol in South asian males with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Exp Diabetes Res *2012*, 895185.

Haussmann, M.F., Winkler, D.W., O'Reilly, K.M., Huntington, C.E., Nisbet, I.C., and Vleck, C.M. (2003). Telomeres shorten more slowly in long-lived birds and mammals than in short-lived ones. Proc Biol Sci 270, 1387-1392.

Hayflick, L. (1965). The Limited in Vitro Lifetime of Human Diploid Cell Strains. Exp Cell Res *37*, 614-636.

Hayflick, L. (2003). Living forever and dying in the attempt. Exp Gerontol 38, 1231-1241.

Hayflick, L., and Moorhead, P.S. (1961). The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Exp Cell Res 25, 585-621.

He, H., Multani, A.S., Cosme-Blanco, W., Tahara, H., Ma, J., Pathak, S., Deng, Y., and Chang, S. (2006). POT1b protects telomeres from end-to-end chromosomal fusions and aberrant homologous recombination. EMBO J *25*, 5180-5190.

Heidinger, B.J., Blount, J.D., Boner, W., Griffiths, K., Metcalfe, N.B., and Monaghan, P. (2012). Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *109*, 1743-1748.

Hemann, M.T., and Greider, C.W. (2000). Wild-derived inbred mouse strains have short telomeres. Nucleic Acids Res 28, 4474-4478.

Henle, E.S., Han, Z., Tang, N., Rai, P., Luo, Y., and Linn, S. (1999). Sequence-specific DNA cleavage by Fe2+-mediated fenton reactions has possible biological implications. J Biol Chem 274, 962-971.

Herrera, E., Samper, E., Martin-Caballero, J., Flores, J.M., Lee, H.W., and Blasco, M.A. (1999). Disease states associated with telomerase deficiency appear earlier in mice with short telomeres. EMBO J *18*, 2950-2960.

Hockemeyer, D., Daniels, J.P., Takai, H., and de Lange, T. (2006). Recent expansion of the telomeric complex in rodents: Two distinct POT1 proteins protect mouse telomeres. Cell *126*, 63-77.

Hoffmann, J., Erben, Y., Zeiher, A.M., Dimmeler, S., and Spyridopoulos, I. (2009). Telomere length-heterogeneity among myeloid cells is a predictor for chronological ageing. Exp Gerontol *44*, 363-366.

Hornsby, P.J. (2002). Cellular senescence and tissue aging in vivo. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 57, B251-256.

Hornsby, P.J. (2003). Mouse and human cells versus oxygen. Sci Aging Knowledge Environ 2003, PE21.

Hovatta, I., de Mello, V.D., Kananen, L., Lindstrom, J., Eriksson, J.G., Ilanne-Parikka, P., Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi, S., Peltonen, M., Tuomilehto, J., and Uusitupa, M. (2012). Leukocyte telomere length in the finnish diabetes prevention study. PLoS One *7*, e34948.

Hu, J., Hwang, S.S., Liesa, M., Gan, B., Sahin, E., Jaskelioff, M., Ding, Z., Ying, H., Boutin, A.T., Zhang, H., *et al.* (2012). Antitelomerase therapy provokes ALT and mitochondrial adaptive mechanisms in cancer. Cell *148*, 651-663.

Huang, J., Okuka, M., McLean, M., Keefe, D.L., and Liu, L. (2010). Telomere susceptibility to cigarette smoke-induced oxidative damage and chromosomal instability of mouse embryos in vitro. Free Radic Biol Med *48*, 1663-1676.

Ishii, A., Nakamura, K., Kishimoto, H., Honma, N., Aida, J., Sawabe, M., Arai, T., Fujiwara, M., Takeuchi, F., Kato, M., *et al.* (2006). Telomere shortening with aging in the human pancreas. Exp Gerontol *41*, 882-886.

Itahana, K., Campisi, J., and Dimri, G.P. (2004). Mechanisms of cellular senescence in human and mouse cells. Biogerontology *5*, 1-10.

Jacobs, T.L., Epel, E.S., Lin, J., Blackburn, E.H., Wolkowitz, O.M., Bridwell, D.A., Zanesco, A.P., Aichele, S.R., Sahdra, B.K., MacLean, K.A., *et al.* (2011). Intensive meditation training, immune cell telomerase activity, and psychological mediators. Psychoneuroendocrinology *36*, 664-681.

Jaskelioff, M., Muller, F.L., Paik, J.H., Thomas, E., Jiang, S., Adams, A.C., Sahin, E., Kost-Alimova, M., Protopopov, A., Cadinanos, J., *et al.* (2011). Telomerase reactivation reverses tissue degeneration in aged telomerase-deficient mice. Nature *469*, 102-106.

Jeanclos, E., Schork, N.J., Kyvik, K.O., Kimura, M., Skurnick, J.H., and Aviv, A. (2000). Telomere length inversely correlates with pulse pressure and is highly familial. Hypertension *36*, 195-200.

Jeyapalan, J.C., Ferreira, M., Sedivy, J.M., and Herbig, U. (2007). Accumulation of senescent cells in mitotic tissue of aging primates. Mech Ageing Dev *128*, 36-44.

Kaminker, P.G., Kim, S.H., Desprez, P.Y., and Campisi, J. (2009). A novel form of the telomere-associated protein TIN2 localizes to the nuclear matrix. Cell Cycle *8*, 931-939.

Karlseder, J., Broccoli, D., Dai, Y., Hardy, S., and de Lange, T. (1999). p53- and ATMdependent apoptosis induced by telomeres lacking TRF2. Science 283, 1321-1325.

Khanna, K.K., and Jackson, S.P. (2001). DNA double-strand breaks: signaling, repair and the cancer connection. Nat Genet 27, 247-254.

Kibe, T., Osawa, G.A., Keegan, C.E., and de Lange, T. (2010). Telomere protection by TPP1 is mediated by POT1a and POT1b. Mol Cell Biol *30*, 1059-1066.

Kim, N.W., Piatyszek, M.A., Prowse, K.R., Harley, C.B., West, M.D., Ho, P.L., Coviello, G.M., Wright, W.E., Weinrich, S.L., and Shay, J.W. (1994). Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. Science *266*, 2011-2015.

Kim, S.H., Beausejour, C., Davalos, A.R., Kaminker, P., Heo, S.J., and Campisi, J. (2004). TIN2 mediates functions of TRF2 at human telomeres. J Biol Chem 279, 43799-43804.

Kimura, M., Cherkas, L.F., Kato, B.S., Demissie, S., Hjelmborg, J.B., Brimacombe, M., Cupples, A., Hunkin, J.L., Gardner, J.P., Lu, X., *et al.* (2008). Offspring's leukocyte telomere length, paternal age, and telomere elongation in sperm. PLoS Genet *4*, e37.

Kimura, M., Gazitt, Y., Cao, X., Zhao, X., Lansdorp, P.M., and Aviv, A. (2010a). Synchrony of telomere length among hematopoietic cells. Exp Hematol *38*, 854-859.

Kimura, M., Stone, R.C., Hunt, S.C., Skurnick, J., Lu, X., Cao, X., Harley, C.B., and Aviv, A. (2010b). Measurement of telomere length by the Southern blot analysis of terminal restriction fragment lengths. Nat Protoc *5*, 1596-1607.

Kipling, D., and Cooke, H.J. (1990). Hypervariable ultra-long telomeres in mice. Nature *347*, 400-402.

Kotrschal, A., Ilmonen, P., and Penn, D.J. (2007). Stress impacts telomere dynamics. Biol Lett *3*, 128-130.

Kruk, P.A., Rampino, N.J., and Bohr, V.A. (1995). DNA damage and repair in telomeres: relation to aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 258-262.

Kurz, D.J., Decary, S., Hong, Y., Trivier, E., Akhmedov, A., and Erusalimsky, J.D. (2004). Chronic oxidative stress compromises telomere integrity and accelerates the onset of senescence in human endothelial cells. J Cell Sci *117*, 2417-2426.

Lansdorp, P.M., Verwoerd, N.P., van de Rijke, F.M., Dragowska, V., Little, M.T., Dirks, R.W., Raap, A.K., and Tanke, H.J. (1996). Heterogeneity in telomere length of human chromosomes. Hum Mol Genet *5*, 685-691.

Laud, P.R., Multani, A.S., Bailey, S.M., Wu, L., Ma, J., Kingsley, C., Lebel, M., Pathak, S., DePinho, R.A., and Chang, S. (2005). Elevated telomere-telomere recombination in WRN-deficient, telomere dysfunctional cells promotes escape from senescence and engagement of the ALT pathway. Genes Dev *19*, 2560-2570.

Lee, H.W., Blasco, M.A., Gottlieb, G.J., Horner, J.W., 2nd, Greider, C.W., and DePinho, R.A. (1998). Essential role of mouse telomerase in highly proliferative organs. Nature *392*, 569-574.

Lee, J.J., Nam, C.E., Kook, H., Maciejewski, J.P., Kim, Y.K., Chung, I.J., Park, K.S., Lee, I.K., Hwang, T.J., and Kim, H.J. (2003). Constitution and telomere dynamics of bone marrow stromal cells in patients undergoing allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant *32*, 947-952.

Lee, M.E., Rha, S.Y., Jeung, H.C., Kim, T.S., Chung, H.C., and Oh, B.K. (2008). Variation of the 3' telomeric overhang lengths in human cells. Cancer Lett 264, 107-118.

Lei, M., Podell, E.R., and Cech, T.R. (2004). Structure of human POT1 bound to telomeric single-stranded DNA provides a model for chromosome end-protection. Nat Struct Mol Biol *11*, 1223-1229.

Levy, D., Neuhausen, S.L., Hunt, S.C., Kimura, M., Hwang, S.J., Chen, W., Bis, J.C., Fitzpatrick, A.L., Smith, E., Johnson, A.D., *et al.* (2010). Genome-wide association identifies OBFC1 as a locus involved in human leukocyte telomere biology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 9293-9298.

Li, B., and de Lange, T. (2003). Rap1 affects the length and heterogeneity of human telomeres. Mol Biol Cell 14, 5060-5068.

Li, B., Oestreich, S., and de Lange, T. (2000). Identification of human Rap1: implications for telomere evolution. Cell *101*, 471-483.

Lin, J., Epel, E., and Blackburn, E. (2012). Telomeres and lifestyle factors: roles in cellular aging. Mutat Res *730*, 85-89.

Lin, K.W., and Yan, J. (2005). The telomere length dynamic and methods of its assessment. J Cell Mol Med *9*, 977-989.

Liu, D., Safari, A., O'Connor, M.S., Chan, D.W., Laegeler, A., Qin, J., and Songyang, Z. (2004). PTOP interacts with POT1 and regulates its localization to telomeres. Nat Cell Biol *6*, 673-680.

Liu, J., Liu, M., Ye, X., Liu, K., Huang, J., Wang, L., Ji, G., Liu, N., Tang, X., Baltz, J.M., *et al.* (2012). Delay in oocyte aging in mice by the antioxidant N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC). Hum Reprod *27*, 1411-1420.

Londono-Vallejo, J.A., Der-Sarkissian, H., Cazes, L., Bacchetti, S., and Reddel, R.R. (2004). Alternative lengthening of telomeres is characterized by high rates of telomeric exchange. Cancer Res *64*, 2324-2327.

Ludlow, A.T., Witkowski, S., Marshall, M.R., Wang, J., Lima, L.C., Guth, L.M., Spangenburg, E.E., and Roth, S.M. (2012). Chronic Exercise Modifies Age-Related Telomere Dynamics in a Tissue-Specific Fashion. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.

Machwe, A., Karale, R., Xu, X., Liu, Y., and Orren, D.K. (2011). The Werner and Bloom syndrome proteins help resolve replication blockage by converting (regressed) holliday junctions to functional replication forks. Biochemistry *50*, 6774-6788.

Maddar, H., Ratzkovsky, N., and Krauskopf, A. (2001). Role for telomere cap structure in meiosis. Mol Biol Cell *12*, 3191-3203.

Mainous, A.G., 3rd, Codd, V., Diaz, V.A., Schoepf, U.J., Everett, C.J., Player, M.S., and Samani, N.J. (2010). Leukocyte telomere length and coronary artery calcification. Atherosclerosis *210*, 262-267.

Makarov, V.L., Hirose, Y., and Langmore, J.P. (1997). Long G tails at both ends of human chromosomes suggest a C strand degradation mechanism for telomere shortening. Cell 88, 657-666.

Martens, U.M., Brass, V., Engelhardt, M., Glaser, S., Waller, C.F., Lange, W., Schmoor, C., Poon, S.S., and Landsdorp, P.M. (2000). Measurement of telomere length in haematopoietic cells using in situ hybridization techniques. Biochem Soc Trans 28, 245-250.

Martens, U.M., Zijlmans, J.M., Poon, S.S., Dragowska, W., Yui, J., Chavez, E.A., Ward, R.K., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1998). Short telomeres on human chromosome 17p. Nat Genet *18*, 76-80.

Martin-Ruiz, C., Saretzki, G., Petrie, J., Ladhoff, J., Jeyapalan, J., Wei, W., Sedivy, J., and von Zglinicki, T. (2004). Stochastic variation in telomere shortening rate causes heterogeneity of human fibroblast replicative life span. J Biol Chem 279, 17826-17833.

Martinez-Delgado, B., Yanowsky, K., Inglada-Perez, L., de la Hoya, M., Caldes, T., Vega, A., Blanco, A., Martin, T., Gonzalez-Sarmiento, R., Blasco, M., *et al.* (2012). Shorter telomere length is associated with increased ovarian cancer risk in both familial and sporadic cases. J Med Genet.

Mason, P.J., and Bessler, M. (2004). Heterozygous telomerase deficiency in mouse and man: when less is definitely not more. Cell Cycle *3*, 1127-1129.

Mason, P.J., Wilson, D.B., and Bessler, M. (2005). Dyskeratosis congenita -- a disease of dysfunctional telomere maintenance. Curr Mol Med *5*, 159-170.

Matheu, A., Maraver, A., Klatt, P., Flores, I., Garcia-Cao, I., Borras, C., Flores, J.M., Vina, J., Blasco, M.A., and Serrano, M. (2007). Delayed ageing through damage protection by the Arf/p53 pathway. Nature *448*, 375-379.

McClintock, B. (1939). The Behavior in Successive Nuclear Divisions of a Chromosome Broken at Meiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *25*, 405-416.

McGrath, M., Wong, J.Y., Michaud, D., Hunter, D.J., and De Vivo, I. (2007). Telomere length, cigarette smoking, and bladder cancer risk in men and women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev *16*, 815-819.

Meyne, J., Ratliff, R.L., and Moyzis, R.K. (1989). Conservation of the human telomere sequence (TTAGGG)n among vertebrates. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *86*, 7049-7053.

Minamino, T., Miyauchi, H., Yoshida, T., Ishida, Y., Yoshida, H., and Komuro, I. (2002). Endothelial cell senescence in human atherosclerosis: role of telomere in endothelial dysfunction. Circulation *105*, 1541-1544.

Mirabello, L., Huang, W.Y., Wong, J.Y., Chatterjee, N., Reding, D., Crawford, E.D., De Vivo, I., Hayes, R.B., and Savage, S.A. (2009). The association between leukocyte telomere length and cigarette smoking, dietary and physical variables, and risk of prostate cancer. Aging Cell *8*, 405-413.

Moller, P., Mayer, S., Mattfeldt, T., Muller, K., Wiegand, P., and Bruderlein, S. (2009). Sex-related differences in length and erosion dynamics of human telomeres favor females. Aging (Albany NY) *1*, 733-739.

Monickaraj, F., Aravind, S., Gokulakrishnan, K., Sathishkumar, C., Prabu, P., Prabu, D., Mohan, V., and Balasubramanyam, M. (2012). Accelerated aging as evidenced by increased telomere shortening and mitochondrial DNA depletion in patients with type 2 diabetes. Mol Cell Biochem.

Morla, M., Busquets, X., Pons, J., Sauleda, J., MacNee, W., and Agusti, A.G. (2006). Telomere shortening in smokers with and without COPD. Eur Respir J 27, 525-528.

Moyzis, R.K., Buckingham, J.M., Cram, L.S., Dani, M., Deaven, L.L., Jones, M.D., Meyne, J., Ratliff, R.L., and Wu, J.R. (1988). A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85, 6622-6626.

Muller, H. (1938). The re-making of chromosomes. Collecting Net, Woods hole 13, 181-198. Murnane, J.P., Sabatier, L., Marder, B.A., and Morgan, W.F. (1994). Telomere dynamics in an immortal human cell line. EMBO J *13*, 4953-4962.

Nabetani, A., and Ishikawa, F. (2011). Alternative lengthening of telomeres pathway: recombination-mediated telomere maintenance mechanism in human cells. J Biochem *149*, 5-14.

Nakano, M., Kakiuchi, Y., Shimada, Y., Ohyama, M., Ogiwara, Y., Sasaki-Higashiyama, N., Yano, N., Ikeda, F., Yamada, E., Iwamatsu, A., *et al.* (2009). MOV10 as a novel telomerase-associated protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *388*, 328-332.

Nasir, L., Devlin, P., McKevitt, T., Rutteman, G., and Argyle, D.J. (2001). Telomere lengths and telomerase activity in dog tissues: a potential model system to study human telomere and telomerase biology. Neoplasia *3*, 351-359.

Nawrot, T.S., Staessen, J.A., Gardner, J.P., and Aviv, A. (2004). Telomere length and possible link to X chromosome. Lancet *363*, 507-510.

Nawrot, T.S., Staessen, J.A., Holvoet, P., Struijker-Boudier, H.A., Schiffers, P., Van Bortel, L.M., Fagard, R.H., Gardner, J.P., Kimura, M., and Aviv, A. (2010). Telomere length and its associations with oxidized-LDL, carotid artery distensibility and smoking. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 2, 1164-1168.

Needham, B.L., Fernandez, J.R., Lin, J., Epel, E.S., and Blackburn, E.H. (2012). Socioeconomic status and cell aging in children. Soc Sci Med.

Nicholls, C., Li, H., Wang, J.Q., and Liu, J.P. (2011). Molecular regulation of telomerase activity in aging. Protein Cell 2, 726-738.

Njajou, O.T., Blackburn, E.H., Pawlikowska, L., Mangino, M., Damcott, C.M., Kwok, P.Y., Spector, T.D., Newman, A.B., Harris, T.B., Cummings, S.R., *et al.* (2010). A common variant in the telomerase RNA component is associated with short telomere length. PLoS One *5*, e13048.

Njajou, O.T., Cawthon, R.M., Damcott, C.M., Wu, S.H., Ott, S., Garant, M.J., Blackburn, E.H., Mitchell, B.D., Shuldiner, A.R., and Hsueh, W.C. (2007). Telomere length is paternally inherited and is associated with parental lifespan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 12135-12139.

Nordfjall, K., Larefalk, A., Lindgren, P., Holmberg, D., and Roos, G. (2005). Telomere length and heredity: Indications of paternal inheritance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 16374-16378.

Nordfjall, K., Svenson, U., Norrback, K.F., Adolfsson, R., Lenner, P., and Roos, G. (2009). The individual blood cell telomere attrition rate is telomere length dependent. PLoS Genet *5*, e1000375.

Nordfjall, K., Svenson, U., Norrback, K.F., Adolfsson, R., and Roos, G. (2010). Largescale parent-child comparison confirms a strong paternal influence on telomere length. Eur J Hum Genet *18*, 385-389.

O'Donnell, C.J., Demissie, S., Kimura, M., Levy, D., Gardner, J.P., White, C., D'Agostino, R.B., Wolf, P.A., Polak, J., Cupples, L.A., *et al.* (2008). Leukocyte telomere length and carotid artery intimal medial thickness: the Framingham Heart Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28, 1165-1171.

O'Donovan, A., Tomiyama, A.J., Lin, J., Puterman, E., Adler, N.E., Kemeny, M., Wolkowitz, O.M., Blackburn, E.H., and Epel, E.S. (2012). Stress appraisals and cellular aging: A key role for anticipatory threat in the relationship between psychological stress and telomere length. Brain Behav Immun *26*, 573-579.

Oeseburg, H., de Boer, R.A., van Gilst, W.H., and van der Harst, P. (2010). Telomere biology in healthy aging and disease. Pflugers Arch 459, 259-268.

Ogami, M., Ikura, Y., Ohsawa, M., Matsuo, T., Kayo, S., Yoshimi, N., Hai, E., Shirai, N., Ehara, S., Komatsu, R., *et al.* (2004). Telomere shortening in human coronary artery diseases. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *24*, 546-550.

Oikawa, S., Tada-Oikawa, S., and Kawanishi, S. (2001). Site-specific DNA damage at the GGG sequence by UVA involves acceleration of telomere shortening. Biochemistry *40*, 4763-4768.

Okuda, K., Bardeguez, A., Gardner, J.P., Rodriguez, P., Ganesh, V., Kimura, M., Skurnick, J., Awad, G., and Aviv, A. (2002). Telomere length in the newborn. Pediatr Res *52*, 377-381.

Olovnikov, A.M. (1973). A theory of marginotomy. The incomplete copying of template margin in enzymic synthesis of polynucleotides and biological significance of the phenomenon. J Theor Biol *41*, 181-190.

Packer, L., and Fuehr, K. (1977). Low oxygen concentration extends the lifespan of cultured human diploid cells. Nature 267, 423-425.

Palm, W., and de Lange, T. (2008). How shelterin protects mammalian telomeres. Annu Rev Genet 42, 301-334.

Parrinello, S., Samper, E., Krtolica, A., Goldstein, J., Melov, S., and Campisi, J. (2003). Oxygen sensitivity severely limits the replicative lifespan of murine fibroblasts. Nat Cell Biol *5*, 741-747.

Passos, J.F., Saretzki, G., Ahmed, S., Nelson, G., Richter, T., Peters, H., Wappler, I., Birket, M.J., Harold, G., Schaeuble, K., *et al.* (2007). Mitochondrial dysfunction accounts for the stochastic heterogeneity in telomere-dependent senescence. PLoS Biol *5*, e110.

Perrem, K., Colgin, L.M., Neumann, A.A., Yeager, T.R., and Reddel, R.R. (2001). Coexistence of alternative lengthening of telomeres and telomerase in hTERT-transfected GM847 cells. Mol Cell Biol *21*, 3862-3875.

Petersen, S., Saretzki, G., and von Zglinicki, T. (1998). Preferential accumulation of single-stranded regions in telomeres of human fibroblasts. Exp Cell Res 239, 152-160.

Pickett, H.A., Cesare, A.J., Johnston, R.L., Neumann, A.A., and Reddel, R.R. (2009). Control of telomere length by a trimming mechanism that involves generation of tcircles. EMBO J 28, 799-809.

Pickett, H.A., Henson, J.D., Au, A.Y., Neumann, A.A., and Reddel, R.R. (2011). Normal mammalian cells negatively regulate telomere length by telomere trimming. Hum Mol Genet *20*, 4684-4692.

Pickett, H.A., and Reddel, R.R. (2012). The role of telomere trimming in normal telomere length dynamics. Cell Cycle *11*.

Poon, S.S., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2001). Measurements of telomere length on individual chromosomes by image cytometry. Methods Cell Biol *64*, 69-96.

Postberg, J., Tsytlonok, M., Sparvoli, D., Rhodes, D., and Lipps, H.J. (2012). A telomerase-associated RecQ protein-like helicase resolves telomeric G-quadruplex structures during replication. Gene *497*, 147-154.

Prather, A.A., Puterman, E., Lin, J., O'Donovan, A., Krauss, J., Tomiyama, A.J., Epel, E.S., and Blackburn, E.H. (2011). Shorter leukocyte telomere length in midlife women with poor sleep quality. J Aging Res 2011, 721390.

Price, J.S., Waters, J.G., Darrah, C., Pennington, C., Edwards, D.R., Donell, S.T., and Clark, I.M. (2002). The role of chondrocyte senescence in osteoarthritis. Aging Cell 1, 57-65.

Prowse, K.R., Avilion, A.A., and Greider, C.W. (1993). Identification of a nonprocessive telomerase activity from mouse cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 1493-1497.

Prowse, K.R., and Greider, C.W. (1995). Developmental and tissue-specific regulation of mouse telomerase and telomere length. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 4818-4822.

Puterman, E., Lin, J., Blackburn, E., O'Donovan, A., Adler, N., and Epel, E. (2010). The power of exercise: buffering the effect of chronic stress on telomere length. PLoS One *5*, e10837.

Rahman, R., Forsyth, N.R., and Cui, W. (2008). Telomeric 3'-overhang length is associated with the size of telomeres. Exp Gerontol 43, 258-265.

Ramirez, R.D., Morales, C.P., Herbert, B.S., Rohde, J.M., Passons, C., Shay, J.W., and Wright, W.E. (2001). Putative telomere-independent mechanisms of replicative aging reflect inadequate growth conditions. Genes Dev *15*, 398-403.

Reddel, R.R., Bryan, T.M., and Murnane, J.P. (1997). Immortalized cells with no detectable telomerase activity. A review. Biochemistry (Mosc) *62*, 1254-1262.

Rossi, M.L., Ghosh, A.K., and Bohr, V.A. (2010). Roles of Werner syndrome protein in protection of genome integrity. DNA Repair (Amst) *9*, 331-344.

Roth, A., Baerlocher, G.M., Schertzer, M., Chavez, E., Duhrsen, U., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2005). Telomere loss, senescence, and genetic instability in CD4+ T lymphocytes overexpressing hTERT. Blood *106*, 43-50.

Rudolph, K.L., Millard, M., Bosenberg, M.W., and DePinho, R.A. (2001). Telomere dysfunction and evolution of intestinal carcinoma in mice and humans. Nat Genet 28, 155-159.

Rufer, N., Brummendorf, T.H., Kolvraa, S., Bischoff, C., Christensen, K., Wadsworth, L., Schulzer, M., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1999). Telomere fluorescence measurements in granulocytes and T lymphocyte subsets point to a high turnover of hematopoietic stem cells and memory T cells in early childhood. J Exp Med *190*, 157-167.

Sachsinger, J., Gonzalez-Suarez, E., Samper, E., Heicappell, R., Muller, M., and Blasco, M.A. (2001). Telomerase inhibition in RenCa, a murine tumor cell line with short telomeres, by overexpression of a dominant negative mTERT mutant, reveals fundamental differences in telomerase regulation between human and murine cells. Cancer Res *61*, 5580-5586.

Samani, N.J., Boultby, R., Butler, R., Thompson, J.R., and Goodall, A.H. (2001). Telomere shortening in atherosclerosis. Lancet *358*, 472-473.

Samani, N.J., Erdmann, J., Hall, A.S., Hengstenberg, C., Mangino, M., Mayer, B., Dixon, R.J., Meitinger, T., Braund, P., Wichmann, H.E., *et al.* (2007). Genomewide association analysis of coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med *357*, 443-453.

Sampson, M.J., Winterbone, M.S., Hughes, J.C., Dozio, N., and Hughes, D.A. (2006). Monocyte telomere shortening and oxidative DNA damage in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 29, 283-289.

Saretzki, G., Sitte, N., Merkel, U., Wurm, R.E., and von Zglinicki, T. (1999). Telomere shortening triggers a p53-dependent cell cycle arrest via accumulation of G-rich single stranded DNA fragments. Oncogene *18*, 5148-5158.

Schaetzlein, S., Lucas-Hahn, A., Lemme, E., Kues, W.A., Dorsch, M., Manns, M.P., Niemann, H., and Rudolph, K.L. (2004). Telomere length is reset during early mammalian embryogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 8034-8038.

Schreurs, M.W., Hermsen, M.A., Geltink, R.I., Scholten, K.B., Brink, A.A., Kueter, E.W., Tijssen, M., Meijer, C.J., Ylstra, B., Meijer, G.A., *et al.* (2005). Genomic stability and functional activity may be lost in telomerase-transduced human CD8+ T lymphocytes. Blood *106*, 2663-2670.

Seluanov, A., Chen, Z., Hine, C., Sasahara, T.H., Ribeiro, A.A., Catania, K.C., Presgraves, D.C., and Gorbunova, V. (2007). Telomerase activity coevolves with body mass not lifespan. Aging Cell *6*, 45-52.

Serra, V., von Zglinicki, T., Lorenz, M., and Saretzki, G. (2003). Extracellular superoxide dismutase is a major antioxidant in human fibroblasts and slows telomere shortening. J Biol Chem 278, 6824-6830.

Sfeir, A.J., Chai, W., Shay, J.W., and Wright, W.E. (2005a). Telomere-end processing the terminal nucleotides of human chromosomes. Mol Cell *18*, 131-138.

Sfeir, A.J., Shay, J.W., and Wright, W.E. (2005b). Fine-tuning the chromosome ends: the last base of human telomeres. Cell Cycle *4*, 1467-1470.

Shalev, I., Moffitt, T.E., Sugden, K., Williams, B., Houts, R.M., Danese, A., Mill, J., Arseneault, L., and Caspi, A. (2012). Exposure to violence during childhood is associated with telomere erosion from 5 to 10 years of age: a longitudinal study. Mol Psychiatry.

Shammas, M.A. (2011). Telomeres, lifestyle, cancer, and aging. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care *14*, 28-34.

Shay, J.W., and Bacchetti, S. (1997). A survey of telomerase activity in human cancer. Eur J Cancer *33*, 787-791.

Shay, J.W., and Wright, W.E. (2005). Senescence and immortalization: role of telomeres and telomerase. Carcinogenesis 26, 867-874.

Shay, J.W., and Wright, W.E. (2007). Hallmarks of telomeres in ageing research. J Pathol 211, 114-123.

Shen, Q., Zhang, Z., Yu, L., Cao, L., Zhou, D., Kan, M., Li, B., Zhang, D., He, L., and Liu, Y. (2011). Common variants near TERC are associated with leukocyte telomere length in the Chinese Han population. Eur J Hum Genet *19*, 721-723.

Shore, D., and Bianchi, A. (2009). Telomere length regulation: coupling DNA end processing to feedback regulation of telomerase. EMBO J *28*, 2309-2322.

Sibille, K.T., Langaee, T., Burkley, B., Gong, Y., Glover, T.L., King, C., Riley, J.L., 3rd, Leeuwenburgh, C., Staud, R., Bradley, L.A., *et al.* (2012). Chronic pain, perceived stress, and cellular aging: an exploratory study. Mol Pain *8*, 12.

Sidorova, J.M. (2008). Roles of the Werner syndrome RecQ helicase in DNA replication. DNA Repair (Amst) 7, 1776-1786.
Sitte, N., Saretzki, G., and von Zglinicki, T. (1998). Accelerated telomere shortening in fibroblasts after extended periods of confluency. Free Radic Biol Med 24, 885-893.

Slagboom, P.E., Droog, S., and Boomsma, D.I. (1994). Genetic determination of telomere size in humans: a twin study of three age groups. Am J Hum Genet *55*, 876-882.

Slatter, T.L., Tan, X., Yuen, Y.C., Gunningham, S., Ma, S.S., Daly, E., Packer, S., Devenish, C., Royds, J.A., and Hung, N.A. (2012). The alternative lengthening of telomeres pathway may operate in non-neoplastic human cells. J Pathol 226, 509-518.

Smith, J.R., and Hayflick, L. (1974). Variation in the life-span of clones derived from human diploid cell strains. J Cell Biol *62*, 48-53.

Soerensen, M., Thinggaard, M., Nygaard, M., Dato, S., Tan, Q., Hjelmborg, J., Andersen-Ranberg, K., Stevnsner, T., Bohr, V.A., Kimura, M., *et al.* (2012). Genetic variation in TERT and TERC and human leukocyte telomere length and longevity: a cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. Aging Cell *11*, 223-227.

Tabori, U., Nanda, S., Druker, H., Lees, J., and Malkin, D. (2007). Younger age of cancer initiation is associated with shorter telomere length in Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cancer Res *67*, 1415-1418.

Takai, H., Smogorzewska, A., and de Lange, T. (2003). DNA damage foci at dysfunctional telomeres. Curr Biol *13*, 1549-1556.

Takubo, K., Izumiyama-Shimomura, N., Honma, N., Sawabe, M., Arai, T., Kato, M., Oshimura, M., and Nakamura, K. (2002). Telomere lengths are characteristic in each human individual. Exp Gerontol *37*, 523-531.

Tomas-Loba, A., Flores, I., Fernandez-Marcos, P.J., Cayuela, M.L., Maraver, A., Tejera, A., Borras, C., Matheu, A., Klatt, P., Flores, J.M., *et al.* (2008). Telomerase reverse transcriptase delays aging in cancer-resistant mice. Cell *135*, 609-622.

Tomita, K., and Cooper, J.P. (2007). The telomere bouquet controls the meiotic spindle. Cell *130*, 113-126.

Unryn, B.M., Cook, L.S., and Riabowol, K.T. (2005). Paternal age is positively linked to telomere length of children. Aging Cell *4*, 97-101.

Uringa, E.J., Youds, J.L., Lisaingo, K., Lansdorp, P.M., and Boulton, S.J. (2011). RTEL1: an essential helicase for telomere maintenance and the regulation of homologous recombination. Nucleic Acids Res *39*, 1647-1655.

Valdes, A.M., Andrew, T., Gardner, J.P., Kimura, M., Oelsner, E., Cherkas, L.F., Aviv, A., and Spector, T.D. (2005). Obesity, cigarette smoking, and telomere length in women. Lancet *366*, 662-664.

van der Harst, P., Asselbergs, F.W., Buikema, H., Voors, A.A., van Veldhuisen, D.J., and van Gilst, W.H. (2006). Effects of C-reactive protein and cholesterol on responsiveness in vitro of the internal thoracic artery to angiotensin II in patients having coronary artery bypass grafting. Am J Cardiol *98*, 751-753.

van der Harst, P., van der Steege, G., de Boer, R.A., Voors, A.A., Hall, A.S., Mulder, M.J., van Gilst, W.H., and van Veldhuisen, D.J. (2007). Telomere length of circulating leukocytes is decreased in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol *49*, 1459-1464.

Varela, E., Schneider, R.P., Ortega, S., and Blasco, M.A. (2011). Different telomerelength dynamics at the inner cell mass versus established embryonic stem (ES) cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108*, 15207-15212.

Vasa-Nicotera, M., Brouilette, S., Mangino, M., Thompson, J.R., Braund, P., Clemitson, J.R., Mason, A., Bodycote, C.L., Raleigh, S.M., Louis, E., *et al.* (2005). Mapping of a major locus that determines telomere length in humans. Am J Hum Genet *76*, 147-151.

Vasan, R.S., Demissie, S., Kimura, M., Cupples, L.A., Rifai, N., White, C., Wang, T.J., Gardner, J.P., Cao, X., Benjamin, E.J., *et al.* (2008). Association of leukocyte telomere length with circulating biomarkers of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation *117*, 1138-1144.

Vasile, E., Tomita, Y., Brown, L.F., Kocher, O., and Dvorak, H.F. (2001). Differential expression of thymosin beta-10 by early passage and senescent vascular endothelium is modulated by VPF/VEGF: evidence for senescent endothelial cells in vivo at sites of atherosclerosis. FASEB J *15*, 458-466.

Vaziri, H., Dragowska, W., Allsopp, R.C., Thomas, T.E., Harley, C.B., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1994). Evidence for a mitotic clock in human hematopoietic stem cells: loss of telomeric DNA with age. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *91*, 9857-9860.

Vaziri, H., Schachter, F., Uchida, I., Wei, L., Zhu, X., Effros, R., Cohen, D., and Harley, C.B. (1993). Loss of telomeric DNA during aging of normal and trisomy 21 human lymphocytes. Am J Hum Genet *52*, 661-667.

Venturini, L., Daidone, M.G., Motta, R., Cimino-Reale, G., Hoare, S.F., Gronchi, A., Folini, M., Keith, W.N., and Zaffaroni, N. (2012). Telomere maintenance mechanisms in malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors: expression and prognostic relevance. Neuro Oncol.

von Zglinicki, T. (2002). Oxidative stress shortens telomeres. Trends Biochem Sci 27, 339-344.

Von Zglinicki, T. (2003). Replicative senescence and the art of counting. Exp Gerontol *38*, 1259-1264.

von Zglinicki, T., Pilger, R., and Sitte, N. (2000). Accumulation of single-strand breaks is the major cause of telomere shortening in human fibroblasts. Free Radic Biol Med 28, 64-74.

von Zglinicki, T., Saretzki, G., Docke, W., and Lotze, C. (1995). Mild hyperoxia shortens telomeres and inhibits proliferation of fibroblasts: a model for senescence? Exp Cell Res 220, 186-193.

von Zglinicki, T., and Schewe, C. (1995). Mitochondrial water loss and aging of cells. Cell Biochem Funct *13*, 181-187.

Walne, A.J., and Dokal, I. (2009). Advances in the understanding of dyskeratosis congenita. Br J Haematol *145*, 164-172.

Wan, M., Qin, J., Songyang, Z., and Liu, D. (2009). OB fold-containing protein 1 (OBFC1), a human homolog of yeast Stn1, associates with TPP1 and is implicated in telomere length regulation. J Biol Chem 284, 26725-26731.

Wang, F., Podell, E.R., Zaug, A.J., Yang, Y., Baciu, P., Cech, T.R., and Lei, M. (2007). The POT1-TPP1 telomere complex is a telomerase processivity factor. Nature *445*, 506-510.

Wang, R.C., Smogorzewska, A., and de Lange, T. (2004). Homologous recombination generates T-loop-sized deletions at human telomeres. Cell *119*, 355-368.

Watson, J.D. (1972). Origin of concatemeric T7 DNA. Nat New Biol 239, 197-201.

Weischer, M., Bojesen, S.E., Cawthon, R.M., Freiberg, J.J., Tybjaerg-Hansen, A., and Nordestgaard, B.G. (2012). Short telomere length, myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, and early death. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *32*, 822-829.

Wojtyla, A., Gladych, M., and Rubis, B. (2011). Human telomerase activity regulation. Mol Biol Rep *38*, 3339-3349.

Wright, W.E., Piatyszek, M.A., Rainey, W.E., Byrd, W., and Shay, J.W. (1996). Telomerase activity in human germline and embryonic tissues and cells. Dev Genet *18*, 173-179.

Wright, W.E., and Shay, J.W. (2000). Telomere dynamics in cancer progression and prevention: fundamental differences in human and mouse telomere biology. Nat Med *6*, 849-851.

Wu, P., van Overbeek, M., Rooney, S., and de Lange, T. (2010). Apollo contributes to G overhang maintenance and protects leading-end telomeres. Mol Cell *39*, 606-617.

Wu, X., Amos, C.I., Zhu, Y., Zhao, H., Grossman, B.H., Shay, J.W., Luo, S., Hong, W.K., and Spitz, M.R. (2003). Telomere dysfunction: a potential cancer predisposition factor. J Natl Cancer Inst *95*, 1211-1218.

Yan, J., Yang, Y., Chen, C., Peng, J., Ding, H., and Wen Wang, D. (2011). Short leukocyte telomere length is associated with aortic dissection. Intern Med *50*, 2871-2875.

Yang, J., Chang, E., Cherry, A.M., Bangs, C.D., Oei, Y., Bodnar, A., Bronstein, A., Chiu, C.P., and Herron, G.S. (1999). Human endothelial cell life extension by telomerase expression. J Biol Chem 274, 26141-26148.

Yang, Z., Huang, X., Jiang, H., Zhang, Y., Liu, H., Qin, C., Eisner, G.M., Jose, P.A., Rudolph, L., and Ju, Z. (2009). Short telomeres and prognosis of hypertension in a chinese population. Hypertension *53*, 639-645.

Ye, J.Z., Donigian, J.R., van Overbeek, M., Loayza, D., Luo, Y., Krutchinsky, A.N., Chait, B.T., and de Lange, T. (2004). TIN2 binds TRF1 and TRF2 simultaneously and stabilizes the TRF2 complex on telomeres. J Biol Chem 279, 47264-47271.

Yeager, T.R., Neumann, A.A., Englezou, A., Huschtscha, L.I., Noble, J.R., and Reddel, R.R. (1999). Telomerase-negative immortalized human cells contain a novel type of promyelocytic leukemia (PML) body. Cancer Res *59*, 4175-4179.

Zee, R.Y., Michaud, S.E., Germer, S., and Ridker, P.M. (2009). Association of shorter mean telomere length with risk of incident myocardial infarction: a prospective, nested case-control approach. Clin Chim Acta *403*, 139-141.

Zhu, H., Guo, D., Li, K., Pedersen-White, J., Stallmann-Jorgensen, I.S., Huang, Y., Parikh, S., Liu, K., and Dong, Y. (2011). Increased telomerase activity and vitamin D supplementation in overweight African Americans. Int J Obes (Lond).

Zhu, L., Hathcock, K.S., Hande, P., Lansdorp, P.M., Seldin, M.F., and Hodes, R.J. (1998). Telomere length regulation in mice is linked to a novel chromosome locus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 8648-8653.

Zijlmans, J.M., Martens, U.M., Poon, S.S., Raap, A.K., Tanke, H.J., Ward, R.K., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1997). Telomeres in the mouse have large inter-chromosomal variations in the number of T2AG3 repeats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 7423-7428.

# Chapter 2 - Aortic media defines telomere length dynamics in mice

### 2.1 Abstract

Leukocyte telomere length (TL) shortens with age and is associated with age-related pathologies. However, inherited and acquired variations in telomere length in individuals complicate the clinical interpretation of TL as a biomarker of aging and age-related pathologies. Therefore, it may be valuable to identify a post-mitotic adult tissue as a surrogate marker of TL at birth. Many tissues are considered post-mitotic however in order for an adult tissue to have telomeres of similar length to that at birth two criteria need to be met: 1) the tissue be composed of non-replicating cells and 2) the tissue be relatively homogeneous in cell type composition. The purpose of this study was 1) to establish an adult tissue that serves as a marker for birth TL; 2) determine if use of this tissue corrects for genetic diversity; 3) characterize a mouse system that displays human-like telomere dynamics; 4) determine if a pathological state of impaired turnover of collage type I is associated with telomere shortening.

I compared TL in the first year of life in common inbred strains (C57BL/6 (N=63), 129sv (N=19), and Balb/c (N=18) to Diversity Outbred (DO) mice (N=51), a strain bred to maintain allelic heterogeneity. Mean TL was determined using quantitative PCR by measuring telomere-to-single copy gene (T/S) ratio. I found that C57BL/6 telomeres are shortest among the inbred strains tested (P<0.0001), with age-related shortening of telomeres in spleen (P<0.0001), bone marrow (P=0.0015), skeletal muscle (P=0.025), and brain (p<0.0001). In contrast, aortic media and heart had stable TL with age. Furthermore, adult aortic media TL was not different from aortic TL at birth. I also identified spatial heterogeneity in telomere length across the aortic wall of C57BL/6 mice (TL of intima<adventitia<media, P<0.001), which increased with age. DO mice were found to have long telomeres characteristic of inbred strains but more variable in length. Intra-mouse TL synchrony between spleen and aortic media in DO mice (R<sup>2</sup>=0.51, P<0.0001) provided a means to correct for genetic diversity, revealing age-related telomere shortening of spleen referenced to aortic media in each individual mouse (P<0.005). The relationship with age of the intima also improved by referencing to

aortic media TL ( $R^2=0.52$ ; P=0.0003 to  $R^2=0.61$ ; P<0.0001). Lastly, I determined in a collagenase-resistant collagen mutant (Col1a1r/r) mouse that telomere length of heart and skeletal muscle is significantly lower than wild-type controls (P=0.006 and P=0.008, respectively).

In conclusion: 1) human-like telomere attrition with age can be detected in some inbred mouse strains; 2) TL in aortic media may serve as an internal reference for determining rate of leukocyte TL shortening; and 3) impaired collagen turnover accelerated telomere shortening in collagen-rich tissues.

### 2.2 Introduction

In humans, short leukocyte telomere length (LTL) has been shown to correlate with age and age-related illnesses, in particular cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Balasubramanyam et al., 2007; Farzaneh-Far et al., 2010; Fitzpatrick et al., 2007; Oeseburg et al., 2010). Insulin resistance and hypertension are also associated with short LTLs (Demissie et al., 2006), as well as homocysteine levels (Richards et al., 2008), all of which are risk factors for CVD. Furthermore, short LTL is associated with type-2 diabetes mellitus (Salpea et al., 2010; Sampson et al., 2006; Zee et al., 2010) and many forms of cancer (Hou et al., 2009; Jang et al., 2008; McGrath et al., 2007; Risques et al., 2007; Willeit et al., 2010). Several genetic variants in telomerase RNA (TERC) have been linked to increased risk of both cancer (Hills and Lansdorp, 2009; Jones et al., 2012; Sheng et al., 2012; Varadi et al., 2009) and CVD (Burnett-Hartman et al., 2012; Zee et al., 2011), suggesting a genetic link between LTL and chronic illness. Recently, a longitudinal study revealed early life LTL as a predictor of lifespan in birds (Heidinger et al., 2012), implicating birth telomere length as a determinant of biological fitness with potential for risk assessment of chronic illnesses.

LTL in the adult can be expected to be a product of both birth telomere length and rate of telomere shortening and there are large variations in LTL in the population (Aviv, 2011). In newborns, LTL varies 4-6 kb between individuals and this variability sustains throughout human lifespan (Frenck et al., 1998; Rufer et al., 1999). Furthermore, telomere length attrition is variable among individuals (Chen et al., 2011). Since most

human studies are cross-sectional, only a snapshot of LTL at a single time is known (Aviv, 2011). Therefore, it would be valuable to know birth telomere length of an individual, in order to determine the rate of telomere shortening for that individual. Recently, work has been done in canine and macaques to use certain tissues as an internal reference or marker of birth telomere length, such as skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, chosen because of their post-mitotic nature (Benetos et al., 2011; Gardner et al., 2007). However, to date no study has assessed in detail differences in telomere lengths in a variety of tissue types on a genetically constant model to determine which tissue, if any, best represents birth telomere length.

Although many cell types *in vivo* are considered post-mitotic, the ideal marker of birth telomere length would likely be tissues with cell types that are long-lived and seldom renewed. Myocytes of the cardiovascular system such as cardiomyocytes and smooth muscle cells (SMC) as well as the aforementioned skeletal muscle are candidates as a marker for birth telomere length. Smooth muscle and skeletal muscle of healthy adults show little cell turnover post-natally with an average age of 15.9 and 15.1 years, respectively (Spalding et al., 2005). Cardiomyocytes have an average age of 6 years younger than the individual (Bergmann et al., 2009), although only represent 20% of the human myocardium (Rubart and Field, 2006). Although neurons may be the longest living post-mitotic cells, particularly from the cerebellum with an average age of 2 years younger than the individual (Spalding et al., 2005), they are not practical as a tissue to biopsy for telomere measurements.

All tissues are composed of a variety of different cell types at different proportions. Unless cell sorting is used, which is time consuming and costly, for a tissue to be a surrogate for birth tissue with respect to telomere length, it would have to be almost entirely composed of post-mitotic cells. Therefore, two criteria need to be met for a tissue to serve as a surrogate for birth telomere length: 1) composed of a long-lived cell type and 2) homogeneous population of said cells. The aorta may be a good candidate since the media layer can be isolated mechanically and represents a relatively homogeneous population of vascular SMC.

65

In this study, I used inbred mice to assess telomere dynamics. Inbred mice provide a powerful tool to control genetics, isolate a trait of interest and selectively modify gene function. Moreover, understanding telomere dynamics of inbred mice may allow us to capitalize on the plethora of disease models readily available, short lifespan and short replication time. Finally, it's important to understand telomere dynamics of commonly used inbred strains in order to make inter-study comparisons regarding disease and genetics.

Inbred mice have been the most common animal models in lab for decades, but there is very limited knowledge on their telomere length dynamics with age. Murine telomere dynamics were originally characterized in wild-derived mice, *Mus spretus*, because their telomeres are closer in length to those of humans (10-15 kb) than established inbred strains (Prowse and Greider, 1995). *Mus musculus* strains, such as C57BL/6, Balb/c and 129, have telomeres on average between 30-80kb, producing large smears on agarose gels that are difficult to resolve and detect differences (Kipling and Cooke, 1990). Moreover, unlike primary human fibroblasts, primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts cells are not prone to telomere shortening as dividing in culture, partially attributed to the activation of telomerase and spontaneous immortalization (Sachsinger et al., 2001). Telomeres of inbred mice have thus been scrutinized as representing a poor model to study telomeres. However, since the development of quantitative PCR (qPCR)-based telomere length measurements, average telomere length can be easily and accurately determined with minimal starting material compared to the gold standard southern blotting technique (Aviv et al., 2011; Cawthon, 2002).

I used qPCR to evaluate the relationship of mouse strain and tissue on age-dependent telomere length dynamics in mice. Using C57BL/6 mice and a unique strain of Diversity Outbred mice that has human-like genetic diversity, I established telomere length in aortic media as a surrogate for birth telomere length, and internal reference for determining age-dependent attrition in spleen cells (leukocytes).

### 2.3 Materials and methods

### 2.3.1 Animals and tissue

All mice used in this study were male except for C57BL/6 neonates, which were a mix of male (N=9) and female (N=2). Inbred mice (C57BL/6 (N=60), 129sv (N=10), Balb/c (N=17), and Diversity Outbred (N=49)) were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). C57BL/6 mice at 15.3 months (N=3) of age were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Sherbrooke, ON). Collagenase-resistant collagen mutant (Colla1r/r) mice (N=5) and wild-type controls 129P1/re (N=8) were bred and maintained at Western University (London, ON). Wild-type 129 mice used throughout the study include both the 129sv and 129P1/re, so are referred to as simply 129 in some contexts. Note that N number may vary between groups in experiments because samples were extracted from banked tissues.

Mice were anaesthetized and blood was collected in 0.5M EDTA from the left ventricle. Mice were then perfused with 1xPBS, and tissue (heart, liver, spleen, skin, aorta, skeletal muscle, and brain) was collected and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until further use. DNA from blood and bone marrow was immediately isolated following tissue extraction.

### 2.3.2 Tissue preparation

Prior to DNA isolation, all tissues were first thawed in 1xPBS. For the heart, the left ventricle was sampled, and skeletal muscle was sampled from the adductor muscle. Whole blood was processed using a red blood cell lysis buffer (Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, ON) to ensure purity of its DNA. The aorta of a subset of C57BL/6 mice (N=23) was dissected into its three layers (intima, media, and adventitia) prior to DNA isolation. After the adventitia was peeled off with forceps, the aorta was cut in half longitudinally in a small pool of 1xPBS, and the intima was careful scraped off using L-shape forceps. For mice at 4 and 10 months, the endothelium was pooled from two or three mice, and for mice at 14 months the endothelium was from individual aortas. The medial layer of a subset of those aortas (N=12) was further segmented into four partitions: 1) lower abdominal located infra-renal; 2) upper abdominal located supra-renal and below

diaphragm; 3) lower thoracic, the lower half between the diaphragm and mid aortic arch; and 4) upper thoracic, the upper half of the former.

### 2.3.3 DNA isolation and quantitation

DNA from all tissue samples was isolated using the DNA mini or micro kit (Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, ON) depending on sample size/volume; for tissue less than 5 mg and blood less than 50  $\mu$ L, the micro kit was used. SPRET/Ei DNA was acquired from Jackson laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) from spleen of 1 month old male mice.

DNA quantification was done using the picogreen kit (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON). Briefly, lambda DNA provided with the kit was serially diluted by 2-fold in 1xTE from a concentration of 2000 ng/ $\mu$ L to yield an 8-point standard curve. Standards and samples were loaded onto black Nunc-Immuno 96-well plates (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) at a 100x dilution in working picogreen solution (200-fold dilution of stock). A non template control was included as a blank. The excitation and emission wavelengths were set to 485 nm and 530 nm, respectively, and fluorescence was measured using a SpectraMax M5 fluorescent plate reader (Molecular Devices Corp., Sunnyvale, CA). Data were exported to Microsoft excel to calculate the initial concentration of each sample based on the equation of the standard curve. Concentrations above 30 ng/ $\mu$ L were diluted in 1xTE buffer to an intermediate working concentration of 10 ng/ $\mu$ L and quantified a second time with picogreen. All samples were diluted to a final working concentration of 4ng/uL in 1xTE buffer and stored at -80°C until further use.

### 2.3.4 Telomere length measurement by qPCR

An average telomere length was determined using a qPCR approach as previously described by Cawthon (Cawthon, 2002) and optimized for mice by Callicott (Callicott and Womack, 2006). Average telomere length is calculated based on a standard curve of a reference sample by measuring the quantity of telomeric repeats to single-copy gene (T/S ratio) as shown in appendix B.

The sequence of the telomere-specific forward (tel1b) and reverse (tel2b) primers (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was 5' CGG TTT GTT TGG GTT TGG GTT TGG GTT

TGG GTT TGG GTT 3' and 5' GGC TTG CCT TAC CCT 3', respectively. The single-copy gene, acidic ribosomal phosphoprotein PO (36B4), was used to normalize for cell count. The sequence of the 36B4-specific forward (36B4u) and reverse (36B4d) primers (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was 5' ACT GGT CTA GGA CCC GAG AAG 3' and 5'TCA ATG GTG CCT CTG GAG ATT 3', respectively.

Each reaction sample contained 5  $\mu$ L of RT<sup>2</sup> SYBR green master mix with ROX (SAbiosciences, Mississauga, ON), 300 nM of both tel1b and tel2b primers or 300 nM of 36B4u and 500 nM of 36B4d primers, and topped off with nuclease-free water to yield a total volume of 10  $\mu$ L. To determine the optimal amount of DNA to use, an array of DNA quantities (10 ng, 5 ng, 1 ng, and 300 pg) was tested on 5 samples of DNA from the same spleen and the DNA quantity (5 ng) with consistent results and the lowest coefficient of variation (CV) was chosen (Figure 2.1). A non-template control was included on each plate as a negative control for non-specific amplification. Genomic DNA from spleen of an individual mouse was used as reference DNA by serially diluting 25 ng by 1.68 fold in 1xTE buffer to yield a 7-point standard curve. Six to eight samples acted as inter-plate controls and were included in each experiment to normalize for inter-experimental variability as previously described (Aviv et al., 2011). The T/S ratio of these inter-plate controls varied by 12.83±3.4% (CV±SD) based on the average of 7 qPCR experiments.

The assay was prepared in triplicate on two separate optically clear 384-well plates and samples were matched well-to-well. The plate designated to measure telomeres had the following thermal profile: 95°C hot start for 10 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15 sec, and anneal-extension at 56°C for 1 min. The thermal profile for 36B4 was: 95°C hot start for 10 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15 sec and anneal-extension at 60°C for 1 min. The experiment was carried out using a 7900HT Real-time PCR machine (Applied Biosystems, Burlington, ON).

Following the PCR reaction, the threshold and baseline were manually adjusted as necessary using SDS 2.4 software (Applied Biosystems, Burlington, ON) to optimize the

standard curve to yield a slope between -3.1 and -3.6 and an  $R^2$  greater than 0.98. The data were exported to Microsoft Excel and a T/S ratio and standard deviation was calculated for each sample.

### 2.3.5 Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using Graph Pad Prism version 5.0. Telomere lengths with age (Figure 2.2B,C,D,2.3,2.7C,D,E,F,2.8A,B,C) and correlation of telomere lengths (Figure 2.7B) were analyzed using linear regression, and the equation of the best fit line, R<sup>2</sup>, and P value were reported on each corresponding graph. Telomere lengths of different strains (Figure 2.2A) were compared using One-Way ANOVA and Tukey's post-test. Telomere lengths of neonatal and 1-6 month old C57BL/6 mice in both aorta and heart (Figure 2.4) and wild-type versus mutant Col1a1r/r mice (Figure 2.9) were compared using two-tailed student t-tests; aorta and heart at a given age were also compared with a paired student t-test. Aortic layers (Figure 2.5) at various time points were compared using Two-Way ANOVA and Bonferroni post-test. The variance in telomere lengths of each strain were compared using Bartlett's test of equal variance (Figure 2.7A). Reliability of T/S ratio measurements by qPCR using different DNA quantities (Figure 2.1) and telomere lengths of different aortic regions (Figure 2.6) were compared using repeated measures One-Way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test.

### 2.4 Results

## 2.4.1 Optimization of qPCR telomere length measurement for mice

To optimize the reliability of qPCR measurement of telomere length in mice, a concentration analysis of different DNA quantities was performed. My goal was to determine a range of DNA quantities that produce stable average telomere length measurements (T/S ratios). A single spleen from a 1-month-old C57BL/6 male mouse was divided into five pieces and DNA was isolated and quantified for all five samples separately. Reactions were set up with varying amounts of DNA (300 pg, 1 ng, 5 ng, and 10 ng) loaded in triplicate on each 384-well plate for each sample in a single experiment (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 - Reliability of T/S ratio measurements using different DNA quantities

T/S ratios were determined from a qPCR reaction using different quantities of DNA, harvested from five tissue samples of a spleen from a 1-month-old male C57BL/6 mouse. The data were plotted using whisker box plot to show the spread of data. Whisker box plots graphically display the spread of data by grouping in its five-number summaries: sample minimum, lower quartile, median, upper quartile and sample maximum. T/S ratio is stable when between 1-10 ng of DNA was loaded in each reaction well. Five ng of DNA was chosen to carry out all qPCR-based telomere measurements for this thesis. \*P<0.0001

This revealed that T/S ratios were consistent from 1 to 10 ng of DNA. However, 300 pg produced T/S ratios that were significantly higher than the other concentrations. These data suggest <1 ng of DNA for the qPCR reaction is too low for determining a reliable T/S ratio.

The coefficient of variation for telomere measurements of each 300 pg, 1 ng, 5 ng, and 10 ng of DNA loaded were 19.52%, 12.66%, 9.73%, and 11.78%, respectively. Therefore, 5 ng was chosen to carry out qPCR telomere length measurements, as this represented a balance between a small amount of DNA and reproducible T/S ratios.

### 2.4.2 Telomere length changes with age are strain specific

I next began to characterize telomere length dynamics with age in mice. First, I measured and compared telomere lengths of spleen DNA from inbred (C57BL/6 ( $5.1\pm1.84$  months), Balb/c ( $5.8\pm2.1$  months) and 129 ( $6.3\pm2.5$  months)) and wild-derived SPRET/Ei mice (1 month). SPRET/Ei mice are known to have telomeres similar in length to human telomeres, so were used as a reference for short telomeres. This assessment revealed that SPRET/Ei telomeres were significantly shorter than telomeres of the three inbred strains (P<0.0001) (Figure 2.2A). Furthermore, telomeres from the spleen of C57BL/6 mice were significantly shorter than those of 129 mice (P<0.0001), which were shorter than those of 129 mice (P<0.0001), which were shorter than those of 129 mice that inbred mice had long telomeres and displayed strain-dependent differences in telomere length.

I next determined if telomere shortening with age could be detected in inbred strains of mice and, if so, if genetic background influenced telomere length dynamics with age. Spleen is a leukocyte-rich tissue, is highly proliferative, and has previously shown telomere shortening with age in *Mus spretus* mice (Coviello-McLaughlin and Prowse, 1997). Therefore, I measured telomere lengths (1-16 months) in whole spleen of inbred mice (129, Balb/c, C57BL/6). C57BL/6 mice displayed significant telomere shortening with age (P<0.0001) (Figure 2.2B). In contrast, Balb/c displayed an increase in telomere length with age (P=0.001) (Figure 2.2C), and 129 mice showed no age-related changes in telomere lengths (Figure 2.2D). These findings indicate that murine telomere length



Figure 2.2 - Inbred mouse strain differences in spleen telomere lengths

A) T/S ratios (+SD) were measured in whole spleen DNA of adult inbred mice: C57BL/6 ( $5.1\pm1.84$  months; N=18), Balb/c ( $5.8\pm2.1$  months; N=9), 129 ( $6.3\pm2.5$  months; N=9), and wild-derived mice (SPRET/Ei) (N=3) (For different letters P<0.001, except for b and c P<0.05). Telomere length changes with age were also measured in the spleen of **B**) C57BL/6 (1-16 months; N=49), **C**) Balb/c (1-12 months; N=18), and **D**) 129 (1-16 months; N=19). These mice include the subset measured in panel A. The equation of the best fit line, R<sup>2</sup>, and P-value are reported on each graph.

dynamics with age are strain-specific. As well, they show that C57BL/6 mice can serve as an animal model that displays telomere shortening with age.

### 2.4.3 Age-related changes of telomere lengths in C57BL/6 mice differ among tissues

To approximate birth telomere length, a tissue must have a stable telomere length with age. However, little is known about the rate of telomere attrition in solid organs, particularly in mice. Therefore, having identified detectable age-related shortening of leukocytes in C57BL/6 mice, I used this strain to compare telomere dynamics among different tissues.

I selected tissues rich in muscle, as these are generally considered post-mitotic tissues, as well as brain and bone marrow. Telomeres in DNA harvested from bone marrow showed significant telomere shortening over 1 to 16 months of age (P=0.0001) (Figure 2.3). Interestingly, telomere attrition was also detectable over this time in skeletal muscle (P=0.023) and also in brain (P<0.0001). In contrast, age-related declines in telomere length were not detected in heart, aortic media and blood leukocytes.

### 2.4.4 Aortic media telomeres are stable in early life development

Telomeres in humans (Frenck et al., 1998), baboons (Baerlocher et al., 2007) and pigs (Jiang et al., 2004) are shown to shorten within the first few months of birth, in part because of rapid growth during that time. Given the relative stability of telomere length in the heart and aortic media, I assessed for this drop in these tissues. Respective tissue was harvested from neonates and compared with the average telomere length from 1-6 month-old C57BL/6 mice. In neonates and post-natally, the aortic media had telomeres that were significantly longer than that of heart (neonates:  $1.76\pm0.28$  vs.  $1.42\pm0.22$ , P<0.0013; postnatal:  $1.71\pm0.27$  vs.  $1.21\pm0.22$ , P=0.0002) (Figure 2.4). Interestingly, there was no difference in aortic telomere length at birth with that of aortic media of older mice (P=-0.63). However, heart telomeres at birth were significantly longer than that from heart harvested from older mice (P=0.019). Thus, aortic media displays remarkable length stability throughout neonatal growth and development and during adult aging.



Figure 2.3 - Telomere length dynamics with age in different tissues of C57BL/6 mice

T/S ratios were measured in different tissues (bone marrow (N=40), brain (N=38), aortic media (N=48), heart (N=63), skeletal muscle (N=62), and blood leukocytes (N=37)) harvested from C57BL/6 mice at different ages (1-16 months). The equation of the best fit line,  $R^2$ , and P-value are reported on each graph.



Figure 2.4 - Telomere length changes in early life of C57BL/6 aorta and heart

T/S ratios were measured in aortic media and heart in neonatal (1 day old) C57BL/6 mice (N=12) and compared to post-natal (1-6 months old) C57BL/6 mice (N=16). P-values are reported on each graph.

## 2.4.5 Telo-mapping identifies age-dependent, spatial telomere length gradients in the aortic wall

The aorta is derived of 3 distinct layers and each comprised of different cell types. To determine if variations in telomere length dynamics could be identified within these layers, I isolated each layer individually. The intima was scrapped off the vessel, the media and adventitia were dissected apart, and DNA was harvested from each layer separately. At 4 months, there was no difference in telomere length among the intima, media and adventitia (Figure 2.5). However, at 10 and 14 months, telomere length in the endothelial layer had declined and was now significantly less than that of the aortic media (P<0.001). Telomere length of the adventitial layer was also significantly less than the aortic media, but greater than the intimal layer, at 10 and 14 months (P<0.01). Thus, an age-dependent spatial gradient within the aortic wall evolved.

## 2.4.6 Telomere length along the length of aortic media reveals shorter telomeres in the infra-renal aorta

Different regions of the aortic media are composed of smooth muscle cells of different developmental origins (Majesky, 2007). Therefore, I assessed whether there were differences in telomere length in the aortic media along the length of the aorta. For this, the aorta of 4-14 month old mice was partitioned into four segments. Telomeres of the infrarenal abdominal aorta were significantly shorter (P=0.0014) than the other three levels of the aorta (Figure 2.6). However, no differences in telomere length between upper thoracic, lower thoracic, and supra-renal abdominal aorta were detected.



Figure 2.5 - Telomere lengths of different layers in the aorta of C57BL/6 mice

T/S ratios (+SD) were measured in different layers (intima, media, and adventitia) of the aorta at 4 (N=8), 10 (N=8) and 14 (N=7) months of age in C57BL/6 mice. The intima of thoracic aorta was pooled from 2 mice at 4 months (N=4) and 2-3 mice at 10 months (N=3) to yield enough DNA. At 14 months, the intima from the entire aorta was pooled from individual mice (\*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001).



Figure 2.6 - Telomere length in different regions of the aortic media in C57BL/6 mice

T/S ratios (+SD) were measured in different regions (lower and upper abdominal, and lower and upper thoracic) of the media layer from aortas in 4-14 month old C57BL/6 mice (N=11; \*\*P=0.0014).

### 2.4.7 Aortic media referencing reveals age-dependent telomere attrition in spleen and aortic intima of Diversity Outbred mice

Having identified the aortic media as a highly stable tissue with respect to telomere length, I next sought to determine if this stability, and similarity to birth telomere length, could be used to reference telomere length across a population of mice with genetic diversity, akin to the human population. To address this, I measured telomere lengths in Diversity Outbred (DO) mice, mice that are bred to maximize and maintain allelic heterogeneity in the population. Furthermore, the DO population has been proposed to have human-like genetic diversity and has been used for high resolution genetic mapping (Svenson et al., 2012).

I first determined whether this genetic diversity would translate into changes in telomere length, as well as length heterogeneity, compared to inbred mice. As shown in Figure 2.7A, mean telomere length of spleen DNA from DO mice (1-9 months old) was not demonstrably different from those of inbred strains (1-9 months old). DO mice had telomeres significantly longer than C57BL/6 (P<0.001) and shorter than Balb/c (P<0.05). These results indicate that outbreeding and genetic heterogeneity, in and of themselves, do not result in shortening of telomere lengths compared to inbred strains. However, the inter-mouse variability of telomere length within DO mice was significantly greater than that for each inbred strain evaluated and baseline variation. Thus, genetic diversity in mice translates to diversity in telomere length.

I next determined if there was synchrony between aorta and spleen telomere lengths in DO mice. Spleen and aortic media were harvested from 49 separate DO mice and revealed an intra-mouse telomere length synchrony between aorta and spleen ( $R^2$ =0.44, P<0.0001) (Figure 2.7B). This synchrony suggests that genetic variation is a major determinant of telomere length in individuals. I then determined the relationship of telomere length with age in spleen and aortic media in DO mice, between 1 and 12 months of age. There was no obvious significant change in telomere length with age for either spleen (Figure 2.7C) or aortic media (Figure 2.7D).

I then referenced spleen telomere length using two different approaches, one previously modeled on dogs (Benetos et al., 2011) using subtraction (Figure 2.7E) and the other using division (Figure 2.7F). Both methods revealed a significant age-dependent decrease in spleen telomere length relative to aortic media telomere length (P=0.0055 and P=0.0029, respectively).

Moreover, we also used aortic media telomere length as a reference to assess the relationship between intima telomere length and age. This was done using a mix of C57BL/6 and DO mice between 1 and 16 months of age. I found that the correlation coefficient for the relationship improved modestly from an  $R^2=0.52$  (P=0.0003) to  $R^2=0.58$  (P=0.0001) and 0.61 (P<0.0001), based on subtraction and division, respectively (Figure 2.8). Therefore, aortic media telomere length may provide a powerful tool to more powerfully identify age-related changes in telomere lengths in leukocytes and the vasculature, and DO mice are a good model to study the effects of genetic diversity on telomere length dynamics with age.



### Figure 2.7 - Spleen telomere length referenced to aortic media telomere length as a function of age in DO mice

A) Standard deviation of T/S ratios in spleen of 1-9 month old inbred mice (C57BL/6 N=25; Balb/c N=14; 129 N=14; SPRET/Ei N=3) and DO mice (N=34) with mean T/S indicated above each bar. Baseline is the variation in T/S ratio from 10 tissue samples of an individual spleen, representing the baseline variation derived from experimental processes (\*\*\*P<0.0001). Note that only T/S ratios of DO mice display a significant increase in standard deviation compared to baseline variability. **B**) Synchrony of spleen T/S ratio vs. aortic media T/S ratio in DO mice (N=49). **C**) Spleen T/S ratio with age in DO mice (N=49). **D**) Aortic media T/S ratio with age in DO mice (N=49). **R** efferencing of spleen to aortic media T/S ratios by **E**) subtraction and **F**) division plotted against age (1-12 months). The equation of the best fit line, R<sup>2</sup>, and P-value are reported on each graph.



### Figure 2.8 - Intima telomere lengths normalized to aortic media telomere lengths with age

A) T/S ratios of genomic DNA harvested from the intima of the aortic wall with age (0.7-15.3 months) in a mix of C57BL/6 (N=14) and DO (N=6) mice. Intima T/S ratio was referenced to aortic media by **B**) subtraction and **C**) division. The equation of the best fit line,  $R^2$ , and P-value are reported on each graph.

## 2.4.8 Telomere length shortening is induced by impaired collagen turnover

Finally, having developed techniques to establish telomere length in mouse tissues, I sought to determine if a pro-senescence stimulus would lead to telomere shortening in tissues. Cardiac and arterial aging is characterized in part by senescent cells. Another feature of cardiac disease and aging is abnormal remodeling of the extracellular matrix, predisposing individuals for cardiovascular disease. With age, type I collagen shows reduced turnover and increased cross-linking, leading to its accumulation in vascular tissue (Jacob, 2003). During remodeling of vascular tissue, collagen fibrils are cleaved between Gly<sup>775</sup>-Ile<sup>776</sup> (in the  $\alpha$ -1 chain) and Gly<sup>775</sup>-Leu<sup>776</sup> (in the  $\alpha$ -2 chain) by matrix metalloproteinases (Birkedal-Hansen et al., 1993). One model of abnormal collagen remodeling is the collagenase-resistant collagen mutant (Colla1r/r) mice used in our lab. These mice have a targeted base substitution of proline at residue 776, leading to defective type I collagen turnover (Liu et al., 1995). Furthermore, these mice display many premature aging phenotypes such as skin ulcerations, hair loss, high blood pressure and predisposition to vascular senescence, suggesting that impaired collagen turnover is causative to organismal aging (O'Neil C., Vafaie F., Pickering J.G., unpublished data). Therefore, I decided to use this mouse model in order to determine if telomere shortening in mice could be detected in a pathological state.

I examined telomere lengths in several tissues of old Col1a1r/r mutant and age-matched wild-type mice. I chose tissues both abundant in collagen type I (heart, skeletal muscle and aorta) as well as those lacking in this ECM protein (spleen and brain). Figure 2.9 shows that telomere lengths in heart and skeletal muscle of Col1a1r/r mice were significantly shorter than in age-matched wild-type mice (P=0.006 and P=0.008, respectively). A trend was observed in the aorta, but not statistically significant. In contrast, spleen and brain showed no difference between mutant and wild-type mice. My data suggested that defective collagen turnover in collagen-enriched tissues may accelerate telomere attrition rate.



Figure 2.9 - Telomere length in different tissues of aged collagenase-resistant mice

T/S ratios were determined in different tissues (heart, skeletal muscle, aorta, brain, and spleen) of old (12-14 months) Colla1r/r mutant (N=5) and wild-type (N=4) colla1 mice. P-value is reported above each graph.

### 2.5 Discussion

I have found that age-related changes in telomere length in mice are detectable but are strain-specific. I also determined that aortic media telomere lengths are highly stable with age and approximate telomere length at birth. Using aortic media, I showed that age-related changes in telomere length can be uncovered in a DO mouse model system that entails human-like genetic diversity. Finally, I showed that impaired collagen turnover can lead to significant telomere shortening *in vivo*.

### 2.5.1 Strain-specific differences in telomere length dynamics

Few studies have studied strain-specific differences in telomere length set-point in mice. In this study, I have shown that C57BL/6 mice have shorter telomeres than other inbred strains (129 and Balb/c) and, as previously reported (Callicott and Womack, 2006; Prowse and Greider, 1995), SPRET/Ei mice telomeres are significantly shorter than C57BL/6 (Figure 2.1A).

There are only a few previous reports on telomere length differences among inbred mouse strains. In line with our study, one report established that telomeres in tissues of Balb/c mice were longer than those in C57BL/6 mice (Kipling and Cooke, 1990). However, another study reported that in liver, telomeres of 129sv mice were shorter than those in C57BL/6 mice (Hemann and Greider, 2000). This contrasts with what I observed. Discrepancies between the studies could be explained by different telomere length detection methods. Whereas Hemann and Greider used TRF analysis, I used qPCR. TRF analysis detects subtelomeric regions, and the length detected is dependent on restriction enzyme cut sites, which may differ between strains. Furthermore, the 129 strain used in this study is a combination of two specific substrains (129sv and 129P1/re). However, as both substrains showed similar telomere lengths in my study (data not shown), this is unlikely to be the cause of the discrepancies.

Telomere length of mesenchymal embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) from pure C57BL/6 mice has been found to be shorter than that from 129sv:B6 (Canela et al., 2007), supporting my data that C57BL/6 telomeres may be shorter than 129sv mice. Furthermore, telomerase knockout mice on a pure C57BL/6 background have shorter telomeres than the equivalent

mutants with a mixed 129sv:B6 background and show pathologies sooner (Herrera et al., 1999). These results support our finding that 129 background may have longer telomeres than C57BL/6 background.

Currently, no study has looked at strain-specific changes in telomere length with age. I detected that spleen from different inbred strains exhibit differential telomere length dynamics with age. C57BL/6 mice showed age-related telomere shortening (Figure 2.2B), 129 mice showed no telomere length change with age (Figure 2.2C), and Balb/c telomeres lengthened with age (Figure 2.2D). Similar to C57BL/6 in our study, a previous study using wild-derived *Mus Spretus* mice showed significant telomere shortening at a rate of -0.046kb per month in spleen (Coviello-McLaughlin and Prowse, 1997). It would be expected that tissues with a high cellular turnover like spleen have shortening of telomere lengths with age. Balb/c and 129 mice may have a lengthening mechanism at play, such as telomerase activity, to elongate and maintain their telomere lengths. In fact, there is evidence that Balb/c mice may have active telomerase in spleen, whereas C57BL/6 mice do not (Prowse and Greider, 1995).

Taken together, my data indicate strain-specific differences in telomere length set-point and regulation over time. Of the strains studied, C57BL/6 displayed age-related shortening of telomeres in a leukocyte-rich tissue.

## 2.5.2 Tissue-specific differences in telomere length dynamics of C57BL/6 mice

After identifying a strain that shows age-related telomere shortening in a leukocyte-rich tissue, I evaluated telomere length dynamics in a variety of tissue types. I looked at tissues considered post-mitotic, such as muscle-rich tissues and brain, as well as those with a high cellular turnover (bone marrow and blood). I observed that age has differential impacts on different tissues in C57BL/6 mice (Figure 2.3).

### 2.5.2.1 Blood leukocytes

In somatic tissue with a rapid cell turnover like blood leukocytes, one would expect telomeres to shorten with age. Interestingly, I did not detect statistical age-related

shortening in blood leukocyte telomeres of C57BL/6 mice between the ages of 1 to 16 months (Figure 2.3). In contrast, a previous study with C57BL/6 mice showed significant shortening in blood lymphocytes between 6 and 18 months of age (Rota et al., 2007). In humans, telomeres of both blood lymphocytes and granulocytes are well established to shorten with age both cross-sectionally (Oeseburg et al., 2010) and longitudinally (Aviv et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2011). The fact I see no telomere shortening in blood leukocytes raises the question of the validity of using C57BL/6 as a model for human shortening with age. However, in the same human longitudinal studies, there is also evidence of no change or even telomere lengthening in blood leukocytes of specific individuals. Using TRF analysis, 68 out of 561 participants in the Bogalusa Heart Study showed a gain in telomere length over a five year follow-up period (Aviv et al., 2009). Notably, longitudinal evidence in wild-caught *Mus musculus* mice also showed telomere lengthening with age by qPCR in blood lymphocytes collected at 3 and 12 months of age (Ilmonen et al., 2008). Discrepancies between studies may be in part due to various sources of inbred mice (suggesting genetic drift) and different detection and analysis methods. Furthermore, blood cells come from various sources (thymus, bone marrow, lymph nodes, and spleen), which may confound the validity of comparing telomere lengths at different times.

It is also important to note that, in my study, telomere length of blood cells in young mice (1-4 months of age; N=15-20) was significantly lower than those of other organs, including spleen and bone marrow (T/S=1.13 $\pm$ 0.24 vs. 1.52 $\pm$ 0.17 and 1.57 $\pm$ 0.51, respectively, P<0.01). This suggests that murine blood cell telomeres may undergo shortening early in life. In fact, I have preliminary evidence in leukocytes of C57BL/6 neonates suggesting this is the case (data not shown). This speculation is interestingly consistent with well-established biphasic shortening of leukocyte telomeres with age in humans and large mammals (Baerlocher et al., 2007; Rufer et al., 1999), but warrants further experimental efforts. Telomere lengths of C57BL/6 leukocytes could be followed longitudinally to confirm C57BL/6 mice as a model for human telomere shortening with age. However, caution must be taken that extraction of blood does not contribute to increased telomere shortening due to increased cell turnover to replace blood cells.

### 2.5.2.2 Bone marrow

It is well known that stem cell compartments are responsible for replenishing aged somatic cells in tissue and that stem cells require telomerase activity to maintain their telomere lengths (Flores et al., 2006). In this study, bone marrow exhibited a steady decrease in telomere length from 1-16 months of age in wild-type C57BL/6 mice (Figure 2.3). This result suggests that telomerase activity in murine bone marrow is not high enough to completely prevent telomere erosion in such a highly proliferative tissue. This conclusion is supported by another study showing telomere shortening in stem cell compartments of C57BL/6 mice (Ferron et al., 2009; Flores et al., 2008). Furthermore, hematopoietic stem cells in humans had also been suggested to shorten with age (Aviv and Levy, 2011) as a result of high cellular turnover.

### 2.5.2.3 Brain

Neurons are considered truly post-mitotic, undergoing little cell turnover after birth if any (Bergmann et al., 2009; Spalding et al., 2005). Therefore, telomere lengths derived from brain are expected to be stable with age. Surprisingly, in my study, brain exhibited a steady decrease in telomere length with age (Figure 2.3). This is probably explained by the fact that I assessed whole brain. Thus, the age-related telomere shortening may be reflective of microglial cell turnover, as seen in rats (Flanary and Streit, 2004). Moreover, our finding on brain is also consistent with previous reports in wild-type *Mus spretus* and C57BL/6 mice (Coviello-McLaughlin and Prowse, 1997; Ferron et al., 2009; Flores et al., 2008).

### 2.5.2.4 Heart

Cardiomyocytes are reported to have little turnover throughout adult life (Bergmann et al., 2009) and may represent a good candidate surrogate for birth telomere length. Consistent with this, I found no change in telomere length with age between 1 and 16 months of C57BL/6 mice (Figure 2.3). In contrast, another study showed significant telomere shortening in cardiomyocytes between 6 and 18 months of age in wild-type C57BL/6 mice (Rota et al., 2007). In CAST/Ei mice, telomeres significantly shortened in the heart of sedentary mice in the first year, whereas exercise was protective against such shortening (Ludlow et al., 2012). Wistar rats showed extensive telomere shortening only in the heart among other tissues measured (Hastings et al., 2004). These studies suggest that telomeres in the heart may not be stable with age. Although I saw stable telomere lengths with age in the heart, it was nonetheless highly variable. Furthermore, it's possible that most telomere shortening events occur between 1 and 2 years of age in C57BL/6 mice, as suggested in another study (Flores et al., 2008). Notably, we also observed a significant shortening event of heart telomeres between 1 day and 1 month of age (Figure 2.4), suggesting it may not be an ideal choice for estimating birth telomere length.

#### 2.5.2.5 Skeletal muscle

Unlike cardiac muscle, skeletal muscle showed a significant decrease in telomere length with age (Figure 2.3). Another study using C57BL/6 mice showed telomere shortening in the diaphragm but not the tibialis anterior muscle of wild-type mice with age (Lund et al., 2007). In CAST/Ei mice, unlike cardiac tissue, exercise induced telomere shortening of the gastrocnemius, whereas sedentary mice showed no significant shortening in the first year (Ludlow et al., 2012). Furthermore, in humans, endurance runners have reduced telomere length in the vastus lateralis muscle, possibly because of increased load on the skeletal muscle (Rae et al., 2010), whereas power-lifters have been reported to have longer telomeres than non-athletes (Kadi et al., 2008). Therefore, telomere shortening may be dependent on muscle type and mechanical stress applied to induce regeneration during post-natal life. Nonetheless, two studies have used skeletal muscle as an indicator of telomere length at birth (Benetos et al., 2011; Gardner et al., 2007) while one review indicates to do so with caution (Kadi and Ponsot, 2010). At least in mice, certain muscle types may be more reflective of neonatal telomere length than others. In addition, the heterogeneous cell population in skeletal muscle tissues, including myocytes, fibroblasts, vascular cells and blood cells (Biressi and Rando, 2010), could contribute to the large telomere length variability observed in our study.

### 2.5.2.6 Aortic media

The aorta was of particular interest because of the relative ease with which a homogeneous population of smooth muscle cells (SMC) can be isolated, by harvesting only the medial layer. A homogeneous cell population could help reduce variations in telomere length through eliminating potential differences in telomere lengths between cell types. Since SMCs do not replicate very often, except during injury or vascular disease (McCarthy and Bennett, 2000), we were interested to see if the aortic media showed a stable telomere length with age in wild-type mice. In C57BL/6 mice, we saw a stable telomere length with time in the aortic media (Figure 2.3), and no significant change with age in DO mice (Figure 2.7D). There is one study with C57BL/6 mice showing telomere length in the aorta decreasing between 6 and 18 months of age (Werner et al., 2009), but they use whole aorta sections. I have shown that the adventitia and endothelium can differentially contribute to the results (Figure 2.5).

### 2.5.3 Aortic media has stable telomeres during early life development

In order for a tissue to be a good indicator of birth telomere length, it would have to maintain long and stable telomere lengths throughout the lifespan of an individual. Skeletal muscle has previously been proposed as a good indicator of birth telomere length (Benetos et al., 2011), however, here it showed signs of post-natal telomere shortening in our study (Figure 2.3). Therefore, I looked at telomere lengths in the two myocyte abundant tissue types showing no signs of post-natal shortening (cardiac and smooth muscle) at birth compared to early life. I found that aortic media maintained stable telomeres from birth to adulthood in these mice, whereas heart dropped significantly after birth (Figure 2.4). No other study has looked at telomere length changes in early life of mice. However, a study using Wistar rats demonstrated a 38% drop in telomere length between newborns and adults in cardiac tissue (Hastings et al., 2004). Moreover, in my study, aortic media had the longest telomeres at birth and post-natally compared to heart.

Thus, aortic media displays stable telomere lengths during early life development and adult aging. These results suggest that aortic media represents a surrogate for birth telomere length.

## 2.5.4 Telo-mapping reveals telomere length heterogeneity in the aorta

Different telomere length dynamics with age were observed in three circumferential layers of mouse aorta (Figure 2.5). I identified that aortic intima, media, and adventitia began with the same length of telomeres at early adulthood (4-months old). However, by 10 months the intimal layer had the shortest telomeres. This may be reflective of hemodynamic and oxidative stress endothelial cells endure (Davies, 2009; Forstermann, 2010), exacerbating cellular turnover and telomere shortening. Also, telomere length in the adventitia was shorter than that in the media, likely reflective of the heterogeneity in the fibroblast population embedded in it, which have variable proliferation rates compared to medial SMC cells (Stenmark et al., 2006). According to a previous study in human abdominal aortas, the medial and intimal layers show no significant difference in telomere length (Okuda et al., 2000). The difference between human and mice telomere lengths in aorta layers may be reflective of differences in their cardiovascular physiology. For example, murine hearts beat up to 10 times faster than human hearts, imposing a greater degree of hemodynamic shear stress on mouse vessel walls (Ceconi et al., 2011). Also, mouse aortic composition is different from humans - humans have a subendothelial layer of SMCs that is not present in mice (Schwartz and Benditt, 1972; Schwartz et al., 1995).

Of note, I observed that aortic medial telomere length was significantly less in the infrarenal abdominal aorta compared to other segments above this (Figure 2.6). Different regions of the aortic SMCs are of different developmental origins (Majesky, 2007), which may contribute to the segmental variation in telomere lengths observed here. This finding also raises the intriguing possibilities that shorter telomere length in the infrarenal abdominal aorta compared to other aortic regions contributes to its higher susceptibility to vascular diseases, such as atherosclerosis and aortic aneurysms (Guo et al., 2006). In fact, patients with abdominal aortic aneurysms have shorter telomeres in both aortic biopsies and blood leukocytes than age-matched controls (Atturu et al., 2010; Wilson et al., 2008). Furthermore, a recent study shows that endothelial and smooth muscle cells in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysm have shorter telomeres and increased oxidative stress than controls matched for age and clinical history (Cafueri et al., 2012). Therefore, it is possible that the vascular wall ages more readily in the abdominal portion of the aorta and telomere length may represent a valuable indicator of its diseased or aged state.

### 2.5.5 Diversity Outbred mice as a murine model for telomere biology

Diversity Outbred mice are bred specifically to maintain maximum genetic heterogeneity in its population. I determined that inter-mouse variability in telomere length is correspondingly heterogeneous in the DO population, significantly greater than inbred strains (Figure 2.7A). Evidently, genetic determinants play a fundamental role in telomere length set-points of individual mice. A helicase called Rtel has been shown to be critical in determining the set-point of telomeres in newborn mice (Ding et al., 2004). Therefore, mice with diverse genetic backgrounds, like DO mice, may have diverse telomere length set-points at birth. Another study showed that inbred lines also have an innate heterogeneity in telomere length established in the parental germ-line (Zijlmans et al., 1997). Nonetheless, my study showed that there was greater variability in telomere length set-point in mice with greater genetic diversity.

I further showed that DO mice maintain long telomeres characteristic of inbred strains from which they were derived (Chesler et al., 2008). This suggests that outbreeding does not induce significant telomere shortening. Hemann and Greider discuss that wildderived strains have short telomeres because they were recently inbred, whereas the appearance and maintenance of long telomeres in established strains is likely due to extensive breeding of a small isolated colony (Hemann and Greider, 2000). Another study argues that inbreeding may in fact induce telomere lengthening in mice (Manning et al., 2002). Here I showed that extensive outbreeding of a large population of genetically heterogeneous mice derived from established inbred strains does not restore telomere lengths to human-like lengths, as proposed in wild-derived mice (Hemann and Greider, 2000), but rather maintains long telomeres. Furthermore, Hathcock *et al.* reports that by crossing *Mus spretus* with Balb/c results in the lengthening of the short telomeres from *Mus spretus* (Hathcock et al., 2005), suggesting that long telomeres may be dominant to short ones. The inbred lines used to make the Collaborative Cross (CC) strains and DO mice contain both long and short telomere lengths. Evidently, the short telomeres from CAST/Ei mice (Hemann and Greider, 2000) were not selected for during the outbreeding of these mice, further suggesting that long telomeres may be dominant to short ones.

### 2.5.6 Correcting for telomere length heterogeneity in Diversity Outbred mice

With aortic media (specifically supra-renal) representing a potential candidate for birth telomere length, I wanted to dissect the contributions of age and genetic variation to telomere length dynamics using the DO mouse model. I showed that an intra-mouse telomere length synchrony exists between spleen and aorta in individual DO mice (Figure 2.7B), independent of inter-mouse variation in the DO population. Tissue telomere length synchrony has been previously shown in macaques (Gardner et al., 2007), humans (Gardner et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2010; Wilson et al., 2008), dogs (Benetos et al., 2011), and wild-derived mice (Prowse and Greider, 1995). Furthermore, such synchrony has allowed the genetic variation of telomere length in a population to be accounted for by subtracting telomere length of leukocyte from that of skeletal muscle, thereby strengthening the association of telomere length with age (Benetos et al., 2011; Gardner et al., 2007). My data indicate that aortic media may be a good choice, potentially better than skeletal muscle.

With uncorrected data, DO mice showed no detectable telomere shortening in either spleen (Figure 2.7C) or aorta (Figure 2.7D) with age. The DO spleen data is inconsistent with C57BL/6 spleen data, which shows statistical telomere shortening with age (Figure 2.2B). This inconsistency may be due to the genetic diversity and large inter-mouse variability in telomere lengths of DO mice. For instance, in one generation of DO mice telomeres could be long, whereas in the next they could be shorter. Therefore, it's difficult to make any conclusive interpretations of telomere lengths with age in cross-
sectional studies of a genetically diverse population. To offset genetic variability, I applied two methods of referencing: subtraction (Figure 2.7E) and division (Figure 2.7F) between spleen and aorta. I found improvements in the relationship of telomere length with age, both becoming statistically significant. Both referencing methods have different biological implications. Subtraction yields total spleen telomere length shortening since birth, with the assumption that aortic media estimates birth telomere length. Division normalizes telomere length to its presumed starting length, yielding relative telomere length shortening.

Furthermore, these two referencing methods of subtraction and division also showed an improvement in the age-related telomere shortening of the intima in a mixed population of C57BL/6 and DO mice (Figure 2.8). Therefore, aortic media may act as a powerful internal reference of birth telomere length to uncover age-related shortening of both leukocytes and the endothelium.

#### 2.5.7 Impaired collagen turnover accelerates telomere attrition

Finally, cardiovascular disease is an age-related phenotype that is in part characterized by reduced arterial compliance and cardiac function, as well as accumulation of cross-linked collagen fibrils (Jacob, 2003; Kovacic et al., 2011; Lakatta and Levy, 2003a, b). In this study I revealed in a mutant collagen mouse model that has the same build-up of extracellular matrix proteins, such as collagen type-I, in our heart and blood vessels that leads to cardiovascular disease also shows a telomere length reduction compared to healthy mice (Figure 2.9). Only those tissues that have an abundance of collagen (skeletal muscle and heart) showed a significant reduction in telomere length. Therefore, telomere length may be associated with age-related changes in extracellular matrix proteins, such as collagen type I, that lead to cardiovascular disease.

In summary, these studies indicate that considerable data on telomere length can be obtained from standard laboratory mice. Moreover, I propose that the aortic media has unique attributes as a surrogate for birth telomere length.

## 2.6 References

Atturu, G., Brouilette, S., Samani, N.J., London, N.J., Sayers, R.D., and Bown, M.J. (2010). Short leukocyte telomere length is associated with abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg *39*, 559-564.

Aviv, A. (2011). Genetics of leukocyte telomere length and its role in atherosclerosis. Mutat Res.

Aviv, A., Chen, W., Gardner, J.P., Kimura, M., Brimacombe, M., Cao, X., Srinivasan, S.R., and Berenson, G.S. (2009). Leukocyte telomere dynamics: longitudinal findings among young adults in the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Epidemiol *169*, 323-329.

Aviv, A., Hunt, S.C., Lin, J., Cao, X., Kimura, M., and Blackburn, E. (2011). Impartial comparative analysis of measurement of leukocyte telomere length/DNA content by Southern blots and qPCR. Nucleic Acids Res *39*, e134.

Aviv, A., and Levy, D. (2011). Telomeres, Atherosclerosis, and the Hemothelium: The Longer View. Annu Rev Med.

Baerlocher, G.M., Rice, K., Vulto, I., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2007). Longitudinal data on telomere length in leukocytes from newborn baboons support a marked drop in stem cell turnover around 1 year of age. Aging Cell *6*, 121-123.

Balasubramanyam, M., Adaikalakoteswari, A., Monickaraj, S.F., and Mohan, V. (2007). Telomere shortening & metabolic/vascular diseases. Indian J Med Res *125*, 441-450.

Benetos, A., Kimura, M., Labat, C., Buchoff, G.M., Huber, S., Labat, L., Lu, X., and Aviv, A. (2011). A model of canine leukocyte telomere dynamics. Aging Cell.

Bergmann, O., Bhardwaj, R.D., Bernard, S., Zdunek, S., Barnabe-Heider, F., Walsh, S., Zupicich, J., Alkass, K., Buchholz, B.A., Druid, H., *et al.* (2009). Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science *324*, 98-102.

Biressi, S., and Rando, T.A. (2010). Heterogeneity in the muscle satellite cell population. Semin Cell Dev Biol 21, 845-854.

Birkedal-Hansen, H., Moore, W.G., Bodden, M.K., Windsor, L.J., Birkedal-Hansen, B., DeCarlo, A., and Engler, J.A. (1993). Matrix metalloproteinases: a review. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med *4*, 197-250.

Burnett-Hartman, A.N., Fitzpatrick, A.L., Kronmal, R.A., Psaty, B.M., Jenny, N.S., Bis, J.C., Tracy, R.P., Kimura, M., and Abraham, A. (2012). Telomere-associated polymorphisms correlate with cardiovascular disease mortality in Caucasian women: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Mech Ageing Dev.

Cafueri, G., Parodi, F., Pistorio, A., Bertolotto, M., Ventura, F., Gambini, C., Bianco, P., Dallegri, F., Pistoia, V., Pezzolo, A., *et al.* (2012). Endothelial and smooth muscle cells

from abdominal aortic aneurysm have increased oxidative stress and telomere attrition. PLoS One 7, e35312.

Callicott, R.J., and Womack, J.E. (2006). Real-time PCR assay for measurement of mouse telomeres. Comparative Med *56*, 17-22.

Canela, A., Vera, E., Klatt, P., and Blasco, M.A. (2007). High-throughput telomere length quantification by FISH and its application to human population studies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 5300-5305.

Cawthon, R.M. (2002). Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. Nucleic Acids Res *30*, e47.

Ceconi, C., Guardigli, G., Rizzo, P., Francolini, G., and Ferrari, R. (2011). The heart rate story. Eur Heart J Suppl *13*, C4-C13.

Chen, W., Kimura, M., Kim, S., Cao, X., Srinivasan, S.R., Berenson, G.S., Kark, J.D., and Aviv, A. (2011). Longitudinal versus cross-sectional evaluations of leukocyte telomere length dynamics: age-dependent telomere shortening is the rule. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci *66*, 312-319.

Chesler, E.J., Miller, D.R., Branstetter, L.R., Galloway, L.D., Jackson, B.L., Philip, V.M., Voy, B.H., Culiat, C.T., Threadgill, D.W., Williams, R.W., *et al.* (2008). The Collaborative Cross at Oak Ridge National Laboratory: developing a powerful resource for systems genetics. Mamm Genome *19*, 382-389.

Coviello-McLaughlin, G.M., and Prowse, K.R. (1997). Telomere length regulation during postnatal development and ageing in Mus spretus. Nucleic Acids Res 25, 3051-3058.

Davies, P.F. (2009). Hemodynamic shear stress and the endothelium in cardiovascular pathophysiology. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med *6*, 16-26.

Demissie, S., Levy, D., Benjamin, E.J., Cupples, L.A., Gardner, J.P., Herbert, A., Kimura, M., Larson, M.G., Meigs, J.B., Keaney, J.F., *et al.* (2006). Insulin resistance, oxidative stress, hypertension, and leukocyte telomere length in men from the Framingham Heart Study. Aging Cell *5*, 325-330.

Ding, H., Schertzer, M., Wu, X., Gertsenstein, M., Selig, S., Kammori, M., Pourvali, R., Poon, S., Vulto, I., Chavez, E., *et al.* (2004). Regulation of murine telomere length by Rtel: an essential gene encoding a helicase-like protein. Cell *117*, 873-886.

Farzaneh-Far, R., Lin, J., Epel, E., Lapham, K., Blackburn, E., and Whooley, M.A. (2010). Telomere length trajectory and its determinants in persons with coronary artery disease: longitudinal findings from the heart and soul study. PLoS One *5*, e8612.

Ferron, S.R., Marques-Torrejon, M.A., Mira, H., Flores, I., Taylor, K., Blasco, M.A., and Farinas, I. (2009). Telomere shortening in neural stem cells disrupts neuronal differentiation and neuritogenesis. J Neurosci *29*, 14394-14407.

Fitzpatrick, A.L., Kronmal, R.A., Gardner, J.P., Psaty, B.M., Jenny, N.S., Tracy, R.P., Walston, J., Kimura, M., and Aviv, A. (2007). Leukocyte telomere length and cardiovascular disease in the cardiovascular health study. Am J Epidemiol *165*, 14-21.

Flanary, B.E., and Streit, W.J. (2004). Progressive telomere shortening occurs in cultured rat microglia, but not astrocytes. Glia 45, 75-88.

Flores, I., Benetti, R., and Blasco, M.A. (2006). Telomerase regulation and stem cell behaviour. Curr Opin Cell Biol *18*, 254-260.

Flores, I., Canela, A., Vera, E., Tejera, A., Cotsarelis, G., and Blasco, M.A. (2008). The longest telomeres: a general signature of adult stem cell compartments. Genes Dev 22, 654-667.

Forstermann, U. (2010). Nitric oxide and oxidative stress in vascular disease. Pflugers Arch 459, 923-939.

Frenck, R.W., Jr., Blackburn, E.H., and Shannon, K.M. (1998). The rate of telomere sequence loss in human leukocytes varies with age. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 5607-5610.

Gardner, J.P., Kimura, M., Chai, W., Durrani, J.F., Tchakmakjian, L., Cao, X., Lu, X., Li, G., Peppas, A.P., Skurnick, J., *et al.* (2007). Telomere dynamics in macaques and humans. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci *62*, 367-374.

Guo, D.C., Papke, C.L., He, R., and Milewicz, D.M. (2006). Pathogenesis of thoracic and abdominal aortic aneurysms. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1085*, 339-352.

Hastings, R., Li, N.C., Lacy, P.S., Patel, H., Herbert, K.E., Stanley, A.G., and Williams, B. (2004). Rapid telomere attrition in cardiac tissue of the ageing Wistar rat. Exp Gerontol *39*, 855-857.

Hathcock, K.S., Jeffrey Chiang, Y., and Hodes, R.J. (2005). In vivo regulation of telomerase activity and telomere length. Immunol Rev 205, 104-113.

Heidinger, B.J., Blount, J.D., Boner, W., Griffiths, K., Metcalfe, N.B., and Monaghan, P. (2012). Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *109*, 1743-1748.

Hemann, M.T., and Greider, C.W. (2000). Wild-derived inbred mouse strains have short telomeres. Nucleic Acids Res 28, 4474-4478.

Herrera, E., Samper, E., Martin-Caballero, J., Flores, J.M., Lee, H.W., and Blasco, M.A. (1999). Disease states associated with telomerase deficiency appear earlier in mice with short telomeres. EMBO J *18*, 2950-2960.

Hills, M., and Lansdorp, P.M. (2009). Short telomeres resulting from heritable mutations in the telomerase reverse transcriptase gene predispose for a variety of malignancies. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1176*, 178-190.

Hou, L., Savage, S.A., Blaser, M.J., Perez-Perez, G., Hoxha, M., Dioni, L., Pegoraro, V., Dong, L.M., Zatonski, W., Lissowska, J., *et al.* (2009). Telomere length in peripheral leukocyte DNA and gastric cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev *18*, 3103-3109.

Ilmonen, P., Kotrschal, A., and Penn, D.J. (2008). Telomere attrition due to infection. PLoS One *3*, e2143.

Jacob, M.P. (2003). Extracellular matrix remodeling and matrix metalloproteinases in the vascular wall during aging and in pathological conditions. Biomed Pharmacother *57*, 195-202.

Jang, J.S., Choi, Y.Y., Lee, W.K., Choi, J.E., Cha, S.I., Kim, Y.J., Kim, C.H., Kam, S., Jung, T.H., and Park, J.Y. (2008). Telomere length and the risk of lung cancer. Cancer Sci *99*, 1385-1389.

Jiang, L., Carter, D.B., Xu, J., Yang, X., Prather, R.S., and Tian, X.C. (2004). Telomere lengths in cloned transgenic pigs. Biol Reprod *70*, 1589-1593.

Jones, A.M., Beggs, A.D., Carvajal-Carmona, L., Farrington, S., Tenesa, A., Walker, M., Howarth, K., Ballereau, S., Hodgson, S.V., Zauber, A., *et al.* (2012). TERC polymorphisms are associated both with susceptibility to colorectal cancer and with longer telomeres. Gut *61*, 248-254.

Kadi, F., and Ponsot, E. (2010). The biology of satellite cells and telomeres in human skeletal muscle: effects of aging and physical activity. Scand J Med Sci Sports *20*, 39-48.

Kadi, F., Ponsot, E., Piehl-Aulin, K., Mackey, A., Kjaer, M., Oskarsson, E., and Holm, L. (2008). The effects of regular strength training on telomere length in human skeletal muscle. Med Sci Sports Exerc *40*, 82-87.

Kimura, M., Gazitt, Y., Cao, X., Zhao, X., Lansdorp, P.M., and Aviv, A. (2010). Synchrony of telomere length among hematopoietic cells. Exp Hematol *38*, 854-859.

Kipling, D., and Cooke, H.J. (1990). Hypervariable ultra-long telomeres in mice. Nature *347*, 400-402.

Kovacic, J.C., Moreno, P., Nabel, E.G., Hachinski, V., and Fuster, V. (2011). Cellular senescence, vascular disease, and aging: part 2 of a 2-part review: clinical vascular disease in the elderly. Circulation *123*, 1900-1910.

Lakatta, E.G., and Levy, D. (2003a). Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part I: aging arteries: a "set up" for vascular disease. Circulation *107*, 139-146.

Lakatta, E.G., and Levy, D. (2003b). Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part II: the aging heart in health: links to heart disease. Circulation *107*, 346-354.

Liu, X., Wu, H., Byrne, M., Jeffrey, J., Krane, S., and Jaenisch, R. (1995). A targeted mutation at the known collagenase cleavage site in mouse type I collagen impairs tissue remodeling. J Cell Biol *130*, 227-237.

Ludlow, A.T., Witkowski, S., Marshall, M.R., Wang, J., Lima, L.C., Guth, L.M., Spangenburg, E.E., and Roth, S.M. (2012). Chronic Exercise Modifies Age-Related Telomere Dynamics in a Tissue-Specific Fashion. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.

Lund, T.C., Grange, R.W., and Lowe, D.A. (2007). Telomere shortening in diaphragm and tibialis anterior muscles of aged mdx mice. Muscle Nerve *36*, 387-390.

Majesky, M.W. (2007). Developmental basis of vascular smooth muscle diversity. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27, 1248-1258.

Manning, E.L., Crossland, J., Dewey, M.J., and Van Zant, G. (2002). Influences of inbreeding and genetics on telomere length in mice. Mamm Genome 13, 234-238.

McCarthy, N.J., and Bennett, M.R. (2000). The regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis. Cardiovasc Res *45*, 747-755.

McGrath, M., Wong, J.Y., Michaud, D., Hunter, D.J., and De Vivo, I. (2007). Telomere length, cigarette smoking, and bladder cancer risk in men and women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev *16*, 815-819.

Oeseburg, H., de Boer, R.A., van Gilst, W.H., and van der Harst, P. (2010). Telomere biology in healthy aging and disease. Pflugers Arch 459, 259-268.

Okuda, K., Khan, M.Y., Skurnick, J., Kimura, M., Aviv, H., and Aviv, A. (2000). Telomere attrition of the human abdominal aorta: relationships with age and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis *152*, 391-398.

Prowse, K.R., and Greider, C.W. (1995). Developmental and tissue-specific regulation of mouse telomerase and telomere length. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 4818-4822.

Rae, D.E., Vignaud, A., Butler-Browne, G.S., Thornell, L.E., Sinclair-Smith, C., Derman, E.W., Lambert, M.I., and Collins, M. (2010). Skeletal muscle telomere length in healthy, experienced, endurance runners. Eur J Appl Physiol *109*, 323-330.

Richards, J.B., Valdes, A.M., Gardner, J.P., Kato, B.S., Siva, A., Kimura, M., Lu, X., Brown, M.J., Aviv, A., and Spector, T.D. (2008). Homocysteine levels and leukocyte telomere length. Atherosclerosis 200, 271-277.

Risques, R.A., Vaughan, T.L., Li, X., Odze, R.D., Blount, P.L., Ayub, K., Gallaher, J.L., Reid, B.J., and Rabinovitch, P.S. (2007). Leukocyte telomere length predicts cancer risk in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev *16*, 2649-2655.

Rota, M., Hosoda, T., De Angelis, A., Arcarese, M.L., Esposito, G., Rizzi, R., Tillmanns, J., Tugal, D., Musso, E., Rimoldi, O., *et al.* (2007). The young mouse heart is composed of myocytes heterogeneous in age and function. Circ Res *101*, 387-399.

Rubart, M., and Field, L.J. (2006). Cardiac regeneration: repopulating the heart. Annu Rev Physiol *68*, 29-49.

Rufer, N., Brummendorf, T.H., Kolvraa, S., Bischoff, C., Christensen, K., Wadsworth, L., Schulzer, M., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1999). Telomere fluorescence measurements in granulocytes and T lymphocyte subsets point to a high turnover of hematopoietic stem cells and memory T cells in early childhood. J Exp Med *190*, 157-167.

Sachsinger, J., Gonzalez-Suarez, E., Samper, E., Heicappell, R., Muller, M., and Blasco, M.A. (2001). Telomerase inhibition in RenCa, a murine tumor cell line with short telomeres, by overexpression of a dominant negative mTERT mutant, reveals fundamental differences in telomerase regulation between human and murine cells. Cancer Res *61*, 5580-5586.

Salpea, K.D., Talmud, P.J., Cooper, J.A., Maubaret, C.G., Stephens, J.W., Abelak, K., and Humphries, S.E. (2010). Association of telomere length with type 2 diabetes, oxidative stress and UCP2 gene variation. Atherosclerosis *209*, 42-50.

Sampson, M.J., Winterbone, M.S., Hughes, J.C., Dozio, N., and Hughes, D.A. (2006). Monocyte telomere shortening and oxidative DNA damage in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 29, 283-289.

Schwartz, S.M., and Benditt, E.P. (1972). Studies on aortic intima. I. Structure and permeability of rat thoracic aortic intima. Am J Pathol *66*, 241-264.

Schwartz, S.M., Majesky, M.W., and Murry, C.E. (1995). The intima: development and monoclonal responses to injury. Atherosclerosis *118 Suppl*, S125-140.

Sheng, X., Zhang, L., Luo, D., Tong, N., Wang, M., Fang, Y., Li, J., and Zhang, Z. (2012). A common variant near TERC and telomere length are associated with susceptibility to childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Chinese. Leuk Lymphoma.

Spalding, K.L., Bhardwaj, R.D., Buchholz, B.A., Druid, H., and Frisen, J. (2005). Retrospective birth dating of cells in humans. Cell *122*, 133-143.

Stenmark, K.R., Davie, N., Frid, M., Gerasimovskaya, E., and Das, M. (2006). Role of the adventitia in pulmonary vascular remodeling. Physiology (Bethesda) 21, 134-145.

Svenson, K.L., Gatti, D.M., Valdar, W., Welsh, C.E., Cheng, R., Chesler, E.J., Palmer, A.A., McMillan, L., and Churchill, G.A. (2012). High-resolution genetic mapping using the Mouse Diversity outbred population. Genetics *190*, 437-447.

Varadi, V., Brendle, A., Brandt, A., Johansson, R., Enquist, K., Henriksson, R., Svenson, U., Tavelin, B., Roos, G., Hemminki, K., *et al.* (2009). Polymorphisms in telomere-associated genes, breast cancer susceptibility and prognosis. Eur J Cancer *45*, 3008-3016.

Werner, C., Furster, T., Widmann, T., Poss, J., Roggia, C., Hanhoun, M., Scharhag, J., Buchner, N., Meyer, T., Kindermann, W., *et al.* (2009). Physical exercise prevents cellular senescence in circulating leukocytes and in the vessel wall. Circulation *120*, 2438-2447.

Willeit, P., Willeit, J., Mayr, A., Weger, S., Oberhollenzer, F., Brandstatter, A., Kronenberg, F., and Kiechl, S. (2010). Telomere length and risk of incident cancer and cancer mortality. JAMA *304*, 69-75.

Wilson, W.R., Herbert, K.E., Mistry, Y., Stevens, S.E., Patel, H.R., Hastings, R.A., Thompson, M.M., and Williams, B. (2008). Blood leucocyte telomere DNA content predicts vascular telomere DNA content in humans with and without vascular disease. Eur Heart J *29*, 2689-2694.

Zee, R.Y., Castonguay, A.J., Barton, N.S., Germer, S., and Martin, M. (2010). Mean leukocyte telomere length shortening and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a case-control study. Transl Res *155*, 166-169.

Zee, R.Y., Ridker, P.M., and Chasman, D.I. (2011). Genetic variants in eleven telomereassociated genes and the risk of incident cardio/cerebrovascular disease: The Women's Genome Health Study. Clin Chim Acta *412*, 199-202.

Zijlmans, J.M., Martens, U.M., Poon, S.S., Raap, A.K., Tanke, H.J., Ward, R.K., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1997). Telomeres in the mouse have large inter-chromosomal variations in the number of T2AG3 repeats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 7423-7428.

## Chapter 3 - General Discussion

The major findings of this thesis are:

- Mouse telomere lengths are strain-specific in both their set-point and rate of attrition
- Aortic media telomere length is stable in early life development and adult aging in C57BL/6 mice
- Telomere lengths are heterogeneous across the aortic wall in C57BL/6 mice (intima<adventitia<media)</li>
- 4) Genetic diversity translates to telomere length diversity in mice
- Aortic media can act as a surrogate for birth telomere length to uncover agerelated relationships by referencing to leukocyte-rich tissues in a genetically diverse mouse population
- 6) Impaired collagen turnover increases telomere length attrition in mice

## 3.1 Limitations and immediate next steps

First, an understanding of telomerase activity could inform findings of telomere length in mice. For example, telomerase could be a contributing factor to aortic media telomere lengths. Measuring telomerase activity in aortic media at different ages would determine if telomerase activity contributes to its stability of telomere length with age or if minimal cell turnover is the main cause. Furthermore, aortic media telomere lengths with age could also be measured in a telomerase knockout model. As well, telomerase activity could explain strain and tissue differences observed in my study.

Another key finding that merits further study was my observation that intima telomere lengths shorten faster than those of the adventitia and aortic media. It would be interesting to see if tissue-specific overexpression of telomerase could compensate for this telomeric loss in the intima. Furthermore, would this compensation decrease the atherosclerotic burden of ApoE knockout mice, seeing as endothelial dysfunction is a precursor to atherosclerosis? Moreover, it would also be interesting to see how the telomere length gradient across the aortic wall is affected in a stressed system, such as mice injected with angiotensin over time.

Moreover, the three layers of the aorta were isolated mechanically as best as possible, but there was likely some cross-over between layers. However, it's unlikely that the amount of cross-over was enough to skew the telomere length measurement in any way. However, Q-Fish could be performed on specific cells in the aorta to confirm that smooth muscle cells have longer telomeres than endothelial cells in aged mice.

Lastly, I determined that impaired turnover of collagen in tissue has a negative impact on telomere length with age. The composition of the extracellular matrix (ECM) plays an important role to the health and function of tissue at a cellular level (Jacob, 2003). In fact, the ECM contributes to the regulation of smooth muscle and endothelial cell function (Hultgardh-Nilsson and Durbeej, 2007; Sottile, 2004). Increased mechanical stress through an accumulation of collagen content may create an environment that induces high cellular turnover, resulting in increased telomere attrition. Further studies are necessary to assess the role of various ECM proteins on cell turnover and the rate of telomere attrition. Telomere length may be a valuable marker for vascular aging and pathogenesis. Notably, the aorta telomere lengths were unaffected by impaired collagen turnover. In this experiment, I used whole aorta, and the collagen content varies between layers, which may have skewed the results. Furthermore, a greater N number may be necessary to detect statistical differences between the mutant (col1a1r/r) and wild-type mice.

#### 3.2 Future implications

I discovered that aortic media is a stable indicator of birth telomere length. Birth telomere length has been shown to be a predictor of lifespan in birds (Heidinger et al., 2012). It may be possible to use aortic media telomere length at a given age to predict lifespan to some degree of accuracy. A large population study in humans would be necessary to correlate aortic media telomere length to lifespan of the aging population

using mortality as the endpoint. Such a study would validate the accuracy of using aortic media in humans as an indicator of birth telomere length, assuming like in birds, birth telomere length can predict lifespan in humans.

Human studies are necessary to validate use of aortic media as an internal reference for birth telomere length to track telomere length changes in leukocyte-rich adult tissues. In humans, access to aortic biopsies poses a potential problem, which may be limited to patients undergoing surgery. However possible alternatives to aortic media may be the umbilical cord or veins that are more accessible. Another possibility is use of a fragment of the internal thoracic artery of patients undergoing bypass surgery. Future studies will need to confirm the validity of such alternatives. Another issue in human studies is vascular health status. For individuals in a diseased state, their aortic SMC's may have undergone proliferation and been exposed to increased oxidative stress and inflammation, which would effectively shorten their telomere lengths (Cafueri et al., 2012; Okuda et al., 2000). Studies will need to be performed that establish parameters for the use of aortic media as an estimate of birth telomere length in humans.

Ultimately, if birth telomere length can be established in human adult tissue there are implications for tracking telomere loss, telomere rate of shortening, and potential for lifespan prediction. All of these readouts will allow investigators to further elucidate how telomeres are associated with age and age-related illnesses for an individual and the human population.

#### 3.2.1 Model for estimating birth telomere length

I determined telomere length dynamics with age in a variety of post-mitotic tissues (brain, skeletal muscle, heart, aortic media) and tissues with high cellular turnover (spleen, blood, bone marrow). Not only was aortic media telomere lengths the most stable with age, but it tended to maintain the longest telomeres of all tissues measured.

These results may in part be reflective of the cell composition of each tissue type. In fact, I noticed higher inter- and intra-mouse variability of telomere lengths in some tissues compared to others; heart and skeletal muscle was often high (data not shown). Telomere length variability between tissue types may be dependent on how homogeneous the cell population is in type, age and distribution in a given tissue sample. For instance, a study by Rota *et al.* showed that the mouse heart is composed of myocytes heterogeneous in age and function, such that telomere lengths varied from 14 to 58 kbp with the largest and oldest myocytes having the shortest telomeres (Rota et al., 2007). This heterogeneity of myocytes in age likely contributes to the relatively high variability seen in telomere lengths of heart samples in our study. Another study by González-Suárez *et al.* measured telomere lengths of metaphase spreads using qFISH and showed significant amount of variation within a given tissue (Gonzalez-Suarez et al., 2005), suggesting that tissues are composed of individual cells with varying telomere lengths. Moreover, telomere lengths in kidney sections (Gonzalez-Suarez et al., 2005), further supporting the notion that different tissue types have greater variation in telomere lengths than others.

Previous studies have shown that skeletal muscle may be a good choice as a surrogate marker for birth telomere length in adults (Benetos et al., 2011; Gardner et al., 2007). However, skeletal muscle is composed of a variety of different cell types, including a proliferating population of satellite stem cells (Biressi and Rando, 2010). Estimating birth telomere length requires that the tissue sampled be composed predominantly of post-mitotic cells as shown in figure 3.1. This would effectively reduce any noise or skewing effect caused by specific cell populations in tissues that have undergone extensive proliferation post-natally.

#### 3.2.2 Diversity Outbred mouse model to study genetic diversity and telomere length dynamics

The Diversity Outbred (DO) mice showed extensive variation in telomere lengths compared to inbred mice. Thus, DO mice may prove to be a valuable tool to study the effects of genetic heterogeneity on telomere length dynamics in genome wide association studies (GWAS) to identify critical modulators of telomere length. In fact, a recent study demonstrated that DO mice can be used for high resolution genetic mapping with minimal number of mice (Svenson et al., 2012).



Figure 3.1 - Estimating birth telomere length

Post-mitotic tissues are composed of both post-mitotic cells and mitotic cells in different proportions. Mitotic cells undergo proliferation and telomere shortening events, whereas post-mitotic cells do not divide and show no significant telomere shortening. A tissue predominantly composed of post-mitotic cells will have the most accurate representation of birth telomere length. However, the greater the proportion of mitotic cells in the tissue sample, the further away it will be from true birth telomere length.

Furthermore, these mice showed diverse physiologies from plasma lipid and glucose levels, hematological parameters, to body composition (Svenson et al., 2012), and as I have also shown in telomere lengths. It would be interesting to see if DO mice born with short telomeres have a predisposition to age-related illnesses compared to those born with long telomeres.

The implications of having a good estimate of birth telomere length, such as aortic media, may allow investigators to take a snap-shot of an individual's leukocyte telomere length at a given age relative to their starting point. Referencing in this way might enable investigators to determine telomere loss and rate of telomere shortening of an individual. Although actual telomere length is an important readout, both telomere loss and rate of shortening may also be important readouts to further establish an etiological role of telomeres with aging and disease. Those two readouts could also be applied to GWAS studies in large populations of individuals to determine genetic variants that contribute to telomere attrition with age. One study in particular looked at 743 SNPs in 43 telomere biology genes in 3646 participants of the prostate, lung, Colorectal, and ovarian screening trial and Nurse's health study and found no strong associations with telomere length (Mirabello et al., 2010). They propose it may have been due to a lack of diversity and/or evolutionary conservation. The DO mice may provide the allelic variation and statistical power necessary in order to detect SNP variants associated with telomere length. Therefore, DO mice have extensive genetic and telomere length heterogeneity with potential to further elucidate the complexity of aging and its association with telomere length.

#### 3.3 References

Benetos, A., Kimura, M., Labat, C., Buchoff, G.M., Huber, S., Labat, L., Lu, X., and Aviv, A. (2011). A model of canine leukocyte telomere dynamics. Aging Cell.

Biressi, S., and Rando, T.A. (2010). Heterogeneity in the muscle satellite cell population. Semin Cell Dev Biol 21, 845-854.

Cafueri, G., Parodi, F., Pistorio, A., Bertolotto, M., Ventura, F., Gambini, C., Bianco, P., Dallegri, F., Pistoia, V., Pezzolo, A., *et al.* (2012). Endothelial and smooth muscle cells from abdominal aortic aneurysm have increased oxidative stress and telomere attrition. PLoS One *7*, e35312.

Gardner, J.P., Kimura, M., Chai, W., Durrani, J.F., Tchakmakjian, L., Cao, X., Lu, X., Li, G., Peppas, A.P., Skurnick, J., *et al.* (2007). Telomere dynamics in macaques and humans. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci *62*, 367-374.

Gonzalez-Suarez, E., Geserick, C., Flores, J.M., and Blasco, M.A. (2005). Antagonistic effects of telomerase on cancer and aging in K5-mTert transgenic mice. Oncogene 24, 2256-2270.

Heidinger, B.J., Blount, J.D., Boner, W., Griffiths, K., Metcalfe, N.B., and Monaghan, P. (2012). Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *109*, 1743-1748.

Hultgardh-Nilsson, A., and Durbeej, M. (2007). Role of the extracellular matrix and its receptors in smooth muscle cell function: implications in vascular development and disease. Curr Opin Lipidol *18*, 540-545.

Jacob, M.P. (2003). Extracellular matrix remodeling and matrix metalloproteinases in the vascular wall during aging and in pathological conditions. Biomed Pharmacother *57*, 195-202.

Mirabello, L., Yu, K., Kraft, P., De Vivo, I., Hunter, D.J., Prescott, J., Wong, J.Y., Chatterjee, N., Hayes, R.B., and Savage, S.A. (2010). The association of telomere length and genetic variation in telomere biology genes. Hum Mutat *31*, 1050-1058.

Okuda, K., Khan, M.Y., Skurnick, J., Kimura, M., Aviv, H., and Aviv, A. (2000). Telomere attrition of the human abdominal aorta: relationships with age and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis *152*, 391-398.

Rota, M., Hosoda, T., De Angelis, A., Arcarese, M.L., Esposito, G., Rizzi, R., Tillmanns, J., Tugal, D., Musso, E., Rimoldi, O., *et al.* (2007). The young mouse heart is composed of myocytes heterogeneous in age and function. Circ Res *101*, 387-399.

Sottile, J. (2004). Regulation of angiogenesis by extracellular matrix. Biochim Biophys Acta *1654*, 13-22.

Svenson, K.L., Gatti, D.M., Valdar, W., Welsh, C.E., Cheng, R., Chesler, E.J., Palmer, A.A., McMillan, L., and Churchill, G.A. (2012). High-resolution genetic mapping using the Mouse Diversity outbred population. Genetics *190*, 437-447.

# Appendices

# Appendix A: Statement of permission for the use of animals for experimental research

All animal experimentation was conducted in compliance with the animal use protocol 2010-244 held by Dr. J. Geoffrey Pickering, principal investigator at the Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry and the Department of Biochemistry at the University of Western Ontario in London, Ontario, Canada.

Appendix B: Sample calculation of qPCR telomere length measurement (T/S ratio) Relative telomere length by quantitative PCR (qPCR) was determined by measuring the factor by which each experimental sample differed from a reference DNA sample in its ratio of telomere repeat copy number to single gene copy number (Cawthon, 2002). In theory, this ratio should be proportional to the average telomere length. The quantity of telomeric repeats and single copy gene is best described from the original paper by Cawthon. "The quantity of telomere repeats in each experimental sample was measured as the level of dilution of an arbitrarily chosen reference DNA sample that would make the experimental and reference samples equivalent with regard to the number of cycles of PCR needed to generate a given amount of telomere PCR product during the exponential phase of PCR amplification. Similarly, the relative quantity of the single copy gene in each experimental sample was expressed as the level of dilution of the reference DNA sample needed to match it to the experimental sample with regard to the number of cycles of PCR needed to generate a given amount of single copy gene PCR product during the exponential phase of the PCR. For each experimental sample the ratio of these dilution factors is the relative telomere to single copy gene (T/S) ratio (Cawthon, 2002)."

First, a standard curve for both telomeric repeats and single copy gene (36B4) was generated using an arbitrarily chosen reference DNA sample by serial dilution (Figure 4.1). The reference DNA sample can be from a single individual or pooled from many. In this thesis, I chose spleen DNA of an individual mouse as the reference DNA sample because spleen is concentrated in cells and therefore DNA is easily extracted in large amounts.

Second, a Ct value is determined for each well by quantitative PCR. Ct value is defined as the fractional cycle number at which accumulating fluorescence in a given well crosses a set threshold. This threshold can be manually adjusted or automatically set several standard deviations above baseline fluorescence. In this thesis, I manually adjusted the threshold to optimize the reaction efficiency and achieve a slope between -3.1 and -3.6 for both the telomere and 36B4 standard curve.



Figure 4.1 – Standard curve generated to determine a T/S ratio.

Serial dilution of an arbitrarily chosen reference DNA sample was used to generate a standard curve for both telomeric repeats and a single copy gene (36B4). Experimental samples (unknowns) are quantified based on matched Ct values relative to standard curve for telomeric repeats or 36B4.

Furthermore, baseline fluorescence is automatically set between cycle 3 and 15. However, amplification of telomeric repeats results in a fluorescent signal that passes the cycle threshold well before cycle 15. Therefore, I manually adjusted the baseline fluorescence for telomere qPCRs to be between cycle 2 and 6.

Third, a plot of Ct versus log (amount of input target DNA) is linear, which allows simple relative quantitation of unknowns by comparison to both the telomere and 36B4 standard curves. For this thesis, telomere (T) PCRs and single copy gene (S) PCRs were always performed in separate 384-well plates. A standard curve was included in each plate. Applied Biosystems SDS software v2.4 was used to generate the standard curve for each plate and to determine the dilution factors of reference DNA corresponding to the T and S amounts in each sample. A T/S ratio for each experimental sample was then determined. An example derivation of T/S ratios of three unknown samples (A, B, and C) from figure 4.1 can be seen in table 4.1.

Unknown sample	Log T quantity (ng)	T quantity (ng)	Log S quantity (ng)	S quantity (ng)	T/S ratio
Α	0.1	1.26	0.3	2.00	0.63
B	0.4	2.51	0.5	3.16	0.79
С	0.7	5.01	0.6	3.98	1.26

 Table 4.1 – Sample calculation of T/S ratio

If the T/S ratio is equal to 1, the experimental sample has an average telomere length equivalent to the reference DNA sample. If T/S ratio is above or below 1 then the experimental sample has an average telomere length respectively greater or less than the reference sample. T/S ratios of samples within a laboratory can be compared relative to each other, but comparisons of T/S ratios between laboratories cannot be made unless converted to kilobases using universal standards (currently do not exist). It is important to note that qPCR generated T/S ratios may not be directly linear with absolute telomere length as measured in kilobases by Southern blotting. One study impartially compared the qPCR and TRF analysis of the same leukocyte DNA samples between laboratories (Aviv et al., 2011). Results indicated that the two methods are correlated, but may deviate from linearity. Addition of a quadratic term improved the fit between both methods. This result suggests that when comparing T/S ratios, differences must be

interpreted with caution. Differences in T/S ratios may not be directly proportional to actual telomere length differences. However, differences in T/S ratios can still be statistically identified and interpreted as such.

Lastly, a standard curve slope between -3.1 and -3.6 represents reaction efficiency between 90-110%, which is deemed acceptable. Variations in reaction efficiencies between experiments can cause variations in T/S ratios. These variations were accounted for by using inter-experimental plate controls. These controls were seven arbitrary samples of DNA that were included in each plate. An average T/S ratio for each control was determined based on seven experiments. The average T/S ratio for each control was used as a baseline for individual runs to determine a factor by which T/S ratios deviated for a given run. The ratio between baseline and experimental T/S ratio of each control was determined and the average of these seven values was used as the factor to normalize T/S ratios of a given experiment.

#### References

Aviv, A., Hunt, S.C., Lin, J., Cao, X., Kimura, M., and Blackburn, E. (2011). Impartial comparative analysis of measurement of leukocyte telomere length/DNA content by Southern blots and qPCR. Nucleic Acids Res *39*, e134.

Cawthon, R.M. (2002). Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. Nucleic Acids Res *30*, e47.

#### **Curriculum Vitae**

Name:	Paul Comartin
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2003-2007 Honors specialization in biochemistry
	Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2009-2012 Master of Science
Honours and Awards:	CIHR strategic training research grant (\$12,000/year) 2009-2011
	Excellence in biochemistry 465a (proteomics) Western University, 2007
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant biochemistry 3382b Western University 2010-2011
	Work study organic chemistry (Dr. Hudson's lab) Western University 2004-2005

**Publications:**